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THE

1 R1 A L

OF

WILLIAM GRIMSHAW,

For a Burglary and Robbery in the Houfe of
Mr. Josepr ButcHER, ar Cambridge,
the Night of the 24tk of January, 1801.

et} $ 9 6 $0 D

L'be Indiétment was Stated by the Clerk of Arvaions : to
wiich the Prifsner pleaded, NoT GUILTY.

Mr. Wilfon. MAY it pleafe your Lordfhip—
Gentlemen of the Jury—It is
my duty to ftate to you, very fhortly, the circum-

ftances which attend the offence the prifoner ftands
charged with,

Gentlemen, The prifoner is by trade 2 Chimney
(&

cweep, and in that capacity he had feveral times,
and, 1 believe, about three weeks before, been em-

ployed to fweep the chimney of Mr. Butcher’s
houfe. Mr. Butcher isan Attorney, living in Cam-
bridge, who had a confiderable property in plate for
daily ufe. In the evening of Saturday, the 24th of
January laft, Mr. Butcher’s houfe was faftened in
the ufual way by the fervants, who will be called

A before
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before you, and who will tell you, in what way the
different faftenings were left, when they wentto bed,
about 12 o’clock at night. Early on the morning
of Sunday, when one of the fervant maids got up,
{he was furprifed to find that the kitchen window
and the kitchen door were open; this alarmed her ;
and in confequence of that a fearch was made, and
a great variety of plate was miffed. The articles
were in daily ufe; the fervants will {peak particu-
larly to what was loft, from their knowledge of the
marks, and it will appear clearly to be the plate of
Mr. Butcher,

Gentlemen, This happened on the night of the
2 4th of Fanuary, in the night between Saturday the
24th and Sunday the 25th of Fanuary : there were
various fearches made, which it is not necefiary for
me to {iate to you, but in confequence of thole in-
quiries a fufpicion fell on the prifoner, Grim{haw,
which induced Mr. Forlow, Mayor, and other
Gentlemen to fearch his houfe, and thofe Gentlemen
will give you an account of what they found there.—
The day, on which they made rhe fearch in Grim-
thaw’s houfe, was Tuefday the 3d of February, about
ten days from Satuvday the 24th of Fanwuary, when
the robbery was commitied—from OSaturday the
24th of Fanuary, to T'uefday. the 3d of February 1s
about tzn days. 1 believe it will appear, that at firft
Grimfhaw denied that any thing could be found in
his houfe of the kind ; but, however, they found con-
cealed under the {tairs (notin a way, which a man
would keep any property he came honeilly by), they
found all thofe articles, without any exception,
which had been taken on the Night of the 24th.

Gentlemen, The fhort cafe I fhall lay before you,
on the part of Mr. Burcher, is this—Thoie goods,

having been found fo concealed, it will be for the
prifoner,
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prifoner, Grimfhaw, to account, if he can, how
they came into his pofleffion—If he cannot fhew
that, it will be for you to draw the inference, whether
he is the perfon guilty of breaking into Mr, But-
cher’s houfe?—T his is all the cafe 1 have to lay before
you, and I will not take up your time any further.

Gentlemen, I have only one requeft to make of
you, which is this :—Y ou may have heard numerous
reports with regard to various robberies, chargedon
Grimfhaw, and other perfons.— W ith reflpect to all
thofe, if you have heard of them, you are to difmifs
them from your minds. Heis charged with the fingle
offence of breaking into Mr. Butcher’s houfe, and
ftealing the plate; with regard to every thing elle,
heftands at prelent an innocent man. 1 he whole you
have to do, is to difmifs any thing you may have
heard from your memory, and attend only to the
evidence you (hall hear on this charge.

Ann Pratt, Sworn.

Myr. Willn. Queftion. You are cook maid to
Mr. Jofeph Butcher, I believe ! — Aufwer. Y es.

. Was you cook maid to Mr., Butcher 1n
Fanuary lat i—A4. Yes.

9. Do you know Mr. Butcher’s Chriftian name?
—A. Jofeph. -

2. Do you know the name of the parith Mr,
Butcher lives inf—4. Yes.

Q. What is it ! —4. St. Andrew’s.

Q. Are there two parifhes of the name of St.
Andrew in Cambridge, do you know f—4., No, 1
don’t know.

Q. Is there any thing added to the name befide
St. Andrew !—/4. (reat St. Andrew.

Q. Do you know the prifoner, Grimfhaw ’—
A, Yes.

Q. What bufinefs is he 7— 4. A chimney f{weep.

2. Had he ever been employed in {weeping the
chimneys at Mr, Butcher's!—4, Yes.

A 2 2. How
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9, How Jong before this robbery ?=4. I think

about two months.

2. Do you remember on the 24th of Fanuary,
what time you went to bed!—4. About 12 o’clock.

2. That was on a Saturday, I believer—/4, Yes.

9. Before you went to bed, did you look to fee
whether the doors and windows were faftened f—
A, Y es,

2. Defcribe in what way they were faftened ?—
A. 1locked the outer gates, but 1 did not take the
key out of them.

9. You locked them?!—4. Yes.

©, It is the gate of the yard I— /4, Yes.

9, How were the houfe doors faftened !—4, 1
locked the pantry door, brought the key into the
kirchen, and put the key on the fhelf; 1 then barred
the kitchen door,

9. Does that open into the yard f—24. It opens
into the kitchen.

2. Do you go from the yard into the kitchen, or
not '—A4. Yes.

9. Thete is alittle pafiage, 1 believe, thatleads to
the pantry on one fide, and the Kitchen on the
other r—A4. Yes, there is.

9. You faftened the pantry door, and carried the

key into the kitchen f—/4. Yes,

2. Did you faften the kitchen door ?—4. Yes, I
barred 1t ; it has no Jock, it is faftened with an 1ron
bar.

2. Did you put up the iron bar of the Kitchen
door’—4, Yes.

Q. Is there any other door to the houlef—_4,
VYes; there is one next the ftreet, I looked artit, I
did not lock it, but it was quite faft, 1t was faitened
with a bar, the fame:as the kitchen door.

Q. Were the windows of the houle taftened ! —
A. All but the kitchen window, and, 1 believe, that

was ot ; it has a long bar, __
2. Was
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9. Was it a cafement, ora fath ? — 4. A cafement,

Q. Was the cafement down?—4, Yes.

9. Has it thutters F—4. Yes.

9. Were the fhutters thut?7— 4, Yes.

Q. Within the fhutters, I fuppofe, there was an
iron barr—A4. Yes.

9. Was that iron bar put up?!—/4. No, I don’t
think 1t was within fide.

2. Did I underftand you— was this iron bar
within fide, or outfide 7—/4. There is one bar on
the outfide, and another on the infide, that was not
put up.

Q. The one on the outfide was put up, you think ?
A. Ye*: | know 1t was.

Q. How was the bar on the outfide? Had that any
fnﬁenmn' that came through ?— 4. Yes.

W’as the bolt m?—j The bolt that came
t‘lrough from the outer bar was in, but not keyed.

. In this ftate it was when §0u went to bed at
T2 0 LlOC:{ r— 4. Yes,

. Was you the laft perfon up?— 4. Yes.

. Was you thc, hr(’t perfon that came down 1n
h*“ morning T-d. Yes.

9, \Jnat time md you come down '— 4. About
half | paft feven.

Q. Was it light or dark ?— 4. It was then light.

C) In what ftate did you find the doors and win-
dom, when you came down! — /4. 1 found the
kitchen window nearly open.

2. And the bar was down, [ fuppofe i — 4. Yes,
the bar was taken down, and the {hutters ncar]y
open.

Q. Was the kitchen door open or fhut!—/.
The kitchen door was thut, but the bar was down.

The door was fhut too, but the bar being
taken down, any body could open the doori— ./,
Yes.

2: Did you mifs any thing ?—4. I faw the key

A 3 cf
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of the pantry was taken from where I put it, and
thrown into the middle of the kitchen.

L. Did you mifs any thing !—4. 1 took the key,
and went to the pantry, and found the door locked.

.é-;?.* Did you mifs any thing out of the pantry }—
A. Yes,

L. Can you give an account of what you miffed?
A. I miffed flour, but I don’t know how much there
might be,

2. Did you mifs any plate!—A4. Yes.

L. Can you mention any thing you mifled }— 4.
Some tea fpoons—I don’t know how many, a foup
ladle and a cream por.

2: Any thing elfe }—24. 1 don’t know of any.
~ &, Nothing elfe in the pantry ! — 4. Nothing elfe
1n plate,

2. How do you know that they had been in the
pantry before—when did you fee them laft’'— 4, 1
taw them when I Jocked the door in the evening.

2. Were they things in daily ufe P—4. Yes.

L. Did you mifs any thing out of the kitchen ?—
4. Yes, I mified the plate out of the kitchen cup-
board.

. Can you tell us what was there 7— 4. There
was a f{trainer, a filver fkewer and half pint pot.

L. Are they all filver 7~ 4. Yes, and a pepper
box ; I don’t recolle¢t any thing more—there was
more, | dare fay, but I don’t recolle&.

Q. You think there was more, but thofe are all
you recolieCt 1— 4. Yes.

2. Had you feen thofe things in the kitchen the
eveniag before r— 4. Yes.

L. Did you look into the parlour ? — 4. Yes.

&, Was there any thing mifling out of the par-
lour '— 4. Yes, a filver waiter, fome {mall ladles—
1 con’t know exadlly how many, three or four.

9. Some fauce ladles, were they ?—4. Yes.

-

2. Any thing elfe’—4. Silver fnuffers and ftand,
and
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and {ugar tongs out of the fuzar bafon—1I don’t re-
collect any thing elfe,

Z. Did you mifs any thing elfe from any other
part of the houfe '—4. No, I did nor.

2. Had all this plate Mr. Butcher’s mark on j¢ ?
A. Part of i1 had.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Prifoner, Would you afk this
witnefs any queftions?

Prifoner. No, my Lord, I don’t wifh to afk her
any thing. |

I7tlltam Peace, Sworn.

Mr. Wifjon. Q. 1 believe you are a carpenter ! —
A Yes,

Q. Did you go with Mr, Forlow, the Mayor, and
other Gentlemen to Grimfhaw’s houfe at any time?

A. No.

Q. Were you at Grimfhaw’s houfe when they
were there ’'— 4, Yes,

L. Whatday was it ?—4. I believe it was about
the 3d of February.

Q. You, Mr. Forlow, and Dr. Manfel, were at
Grimfhaw’s houfe *—4. Yes ; the Mafter of Caius,

and f{everal other Gentlemen,

Q. Was Grimfhaw at home?—_/4. I believe not,
I did not fee him.

Q. Diz you fee him at any time on that day ! —
A, No, I did not.

2, Did you, by the direction of thofe Gentlemen,

make any fearch I—4, Yes, I was ordered to pull
the {tairs down.

Mr. Fujlice Grofe. You are not a conftable, are
your—4, No, my Lord.

Mr. WWilfon. You was ordered to pull the ftairs
of Grimthaw’s houfe down ’— 4, Yes.

Q. You did that by order of the magiftrates f—
A. No, [ did not, I afcertained where it was without
pulling the ftairs down,

Q. They
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. They were fearching the houfe?—4. Yes.

c,) They defired you to pull down the flaircafe,
but you found it without pulling it downi—A4. It
was not requifite to pull 1t down, it was found un-
derneath without pul ‘im It down.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. T"his was a common ftair-
cafe up to the firit ﬂur) t—A. To the firf {tory, the
firft ftep projected into the front rocom, the door
fhut upon the flair. Upon my fecarching within
fide in the coal holey I perceived a board nailed up:
with a new nail,

Mr. WWilfon. Q. The coal hole is underneath f—
A. Yes, feeing an old board nailed up with a new
nail, gave me reafon to thir k, that if there was any
thing under the {tairs, 1t was there; I imme ‘iately
wrenched the board offy and there 1 took out all the
plate that I coula ﬁnJ

Mr. Fufiice Grofe. Could you have fearched
that place without tul‘xl“” off the board i—A4, No, [
could not.

Mr. Wilfn. . What did you find there f-—
A 1 found fome plate, a tankard, bent very much,
and a waiter, different articles, ipoon 5 and othel
things.

9. After you found them there, you took them
21l e (ur | fuppofle i—A. Yes.

To whem did you deliver them?—4, One
'V\’:dw I believe, was the man.,.

9., Was Mr. Forlow, the Mayor, by i!—A4. ‘1
don’t recolleét Mr. Forlow was at that time, becaufe,
as | fleoped down, I could not fee any body at all,
as I held it up with one hand, I was forced to lie
cdown: I recollect Wicks t.;.king 1t of me.

9. All the articles that you difcovered, you deli-
vercd to Wicks i—4. Yes.

9. As 1 underftand you, from the ftaircafe you
are {peaking of, you come down into the parlour,
the inlide ftaircaie of the houlef—4, Yes.

And.
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9. And it came down into this room, and was
divided from the room by a door ?—A4. Yes; there
was one door to the coal hole, and one to go up
{tairs.

Q. It was not an outfide ftaircafe r—/4. No, it
led trom the lower room into the chamber.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. 9. The lower {tcp came into
the lower roomp-——xf Into the lower room, my
Lord,

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Prifoner, Have you any quel-
tions to alk of this witnels !—Prifoner. INo, my
Lord,

Mr. Forlow, Sworn.

Mr. Wilfan. Q. 1 believe you are the Mayor of
Cambridge, and a magiftrate}—4. 1 am, Sir.

s Did you go on the 3d of F:z’)mc:zr laft to
fearch Grimfhaw’s houfc ?—A4 Yes, I did ; I went
with the Vice-Chancellor and the Mafter of Tri-

nity.

9. Did you dire& the laft witnels, Peace, to
fearch the ftaircafe >—4. 1 do not recolle& d:,ﬁrmtr
him particularly, but fomebody was.

9. What did he do?—4. We were informed
that plate was concealed under the bottom ftair: to
get at that ftair, it was neceflary to get into a {fmall
clofet by the fide of the fire nlace, a coal hole, I be-
lieve itis. I ftaid at that door, while they fearched
this place. Peace was the perfon who wrenched off
the board ; and faid, he had found it.

Q. If I underftand you right, Peace went into the
coal hole, in order to open the {taircafe '—4. He did.

2. You ftood at the doori—4. Yes; there
might be another perfon with him, but he was
oblwed to lie down, or kneel down, in orderto doit.

. The place was not big enough to ftand up in!
A. No, I ftood at the door, and recened out what

he found there.
2. What
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9. What did he dcliver out to you f—4. Vari-
ous articles of plate<=~l have them here—a tankard,
and a very large waiter : they have been in my cui-
tody ever f{ince.

9. You received them all at the fame time f—
A. Yes, I did, three or four keys were found at the
fame time.

(The Plate and Keys produced. )

9. Thole are the keys, are they f— 4. They are,
and that is the plate.,

2. Had you feen Grim{haw that day I—4. No,
I hdd not.

. He was then committed to prifon, 1 believe ?
A. Yes, he was, previous to our going to fearch.

9. How long before {—/4. 1 think the day be-
fore, but 1 will not be pofitive.

9, To Peace. Do you remember finding thofe
keys !—A. 1 don’t know that they are the keys, I
remember taking fome keys out,

Q. The keys that you found there you handed
out i1n the fame way you did the plate »— A4, Yes;
there was a partition, the keys were on thc: left hand
fide, and the plate on the right,

Q. To My, Forlow. Be fo cood as to put
fome value upon this plate. Isit worth 1cf.i—4,
Yes

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Prifoner, Would you afk any
queftions of this witnels?

Prifoner. No, I only wilh to afk pardon, that is
all I wifh,

Mary Nicholls, Sworn.,
Mr, Wilfon. 2. You are fervant to Mr, Butcher,
"I believe 7—4, Yes,
(The Tankard fbewn to the Witnefs. )
9. Is that Mr. Butcher’s property f—4, Yes,
9. Are you fure of it ?—4. Yes. -
@ And that half pint mug !—4., Yes,
The
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(The Pepper Box and Waiter fhewn to the IFitnefs. )

2. Are thofe Mr. Butcher’s !—4. 1 know the
waiter by this particular bruife,

9. By what do you know the pepper box i—
A. Living 1n the family fo long, and having had the
care of them ; they arc all cyphered.

2 Do you know what the cypher I R B ftands
for— 4. Ido not exactly know, I know the foup
ipoon. (The Salts fhewn to the Witnefs.)

I am fure they are all Mr. Butcher’s.

9. How long had they been under your care?—
A. The laft nine years.

Q. Do you know the value of them?—/4, No, I
do not.

Q. Do you remember the time when the houfe
was robbed about ten days before thefe things were
found —4., Yes, on the 24th of Fanuary.

9. When you underitood the houfe had been
robbed, did you go and fearch and find that any plate
had been taken away !—4. 1 went with the other
fervants.

2. And you found that the things were miffing ?
A, Yes, I did. |

9. Were thofe things, that you have fpoken to,
the things you mifled after the houfe was robbed ! —
AL Yes ; they are the very fame,

Mr. Fujlice Grofe. 2. to Mr. Forlow. You have
no doubt about thefe things being worth more than
forty thillings f— 4. No doubt at all; my Lord.

(Some Sposns fhewn to Mary Nicholls.)
icbolls. 1 believe thole fpoons to be Mr. Butcher’s,
but they are not marked.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Can you tell me, whether thofe
have ever been marked, or have the marks been
taken out?— 4. They never have been marked ;
thole three falt {poons are not Mr. Butcher’s; I can-
not {wear to the fkewer ; but this fpoon belongs to
Mr. Butcher’s youngeft daughter.

Fobn
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Fohn Sayer, Sworn,

Mr. Wilfon. Q. Perhaps you can affilt us by
putting a value upon this plate.—(The Plate fhewn to
bim). A. 1 {uppofe this to be worth abour 3£, I do
not mean to fay, I can afcertain the value exadtly, it
is worth 3/ . and more.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Prifoner at the bar. You have
heard the cafe that has been proved againft you;
have you any thing to fay in your defence.

Prifoner. Ny dear Lord, I have nothing to fay ; I
have nothing to fay, my dear Lord ; I have only to
bco parcon, if you pleafe to thew it me: I leave all
the mercy at vour feet.

Mr. fuftice Grofe. Have you any witnefles ?

Prifoner. 1 have no onefoul in the world: moft of
the Gentlemen here I have worked for a good many

ears., .
} Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Have youany witnefles to your
charalter ?

Prifoner. Yes, plenty about here, I dare fay; there
is a gentleman there, Mr. Fifher, I {ee, that 1 worked
for.

Mr. Fifher. My Lord, I don’t know any thing
againft the man, but I can fay nothing for him.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. The queftion 1 (hould put to
you, Sir, would be what his general character has
been ; that is the only regular queftion I could put.

Mr. Fifper: 1 canonly fay, I never heard any
thing againft the man before this.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Y ou do not chufe to be{worn?

Mr. Fifher. My Lord, 1 really know nothing of
him, except being a chimney {weep at my houfe
for fome years.

William Peace. My Lord, I have known the pri-
foner many years.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. What has been his general
charater ' — 4. I never heard any thing againft him
in my life. 1 never heard any thing before this; I

could
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could always truft him in my houfe when he has
worked for me. 1 never heard any thing of him

before this.
Prifoner. There are many Gentlemen who know

me in the town; that Gentleman knows me very

well.
Mcr. Broadbelt, Sworn.

Mr, Wilfon. Q. Look at that, and fee whether it
is plate, and tell us the value of it; butunder value
it, rather than over.  What do you fay, the value
of that is ?—/4. It is worth more than ten pounds.

. Your are fure of that ?—4. Yes.
r. Juflice Grofe. 9. Prifoner, Have .you any
thing more to fay, or any witnefles to call ¢

Prifoner. No, without thefe Gentlemen chufe to
{peak for me.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Does any Gentleman chufe to
{peak.

Mr. Yames Farifh, Sworn,

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Q. How long have you known’
the prifoner '—/4. About twelve years.

9. What has been his general charalter?—4. 1
never heard any thing againft him till lately, he has
always done bufinefs for me for above twelve years.
I never fufpeéted him at all, nor do I recolledt, that
I ever employed any other perfon.

Summing up.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Gentlemen of the jury. The
charge againft the prifoner at the bar, 1s for having
committed a burglary, in the dwelling houle of Mr,
Jofeph Butcher, with an intent to fteal ; and that in
fact, he has ftolen a filver tankard, and a variety of
other things. 1T fhould tell you, that this indi¢tment
contains a capital charge againft the prifoner, in two
ways ; it charges him with breaking, and entering
the dwelling houfe of Mr. Butcher, in the night
time, for the purpofe of committing a felony; and

likewile for ftealing, to the value of 40s. in the
B_ dweﬁmg,
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dwelling houfe; either of which is a capital offence.
It i1s for you to judge, whether he has broke into the
houfe in the night time, for the purpofe of commit-
ing a felony, and whether he has actually ftolen in
the houfe to the value of 40s.

Gentlemen, The firft witnefsis Ann Pratt. She
fays fhe was cook to Mr, Joleph Butcher in Fanuary
laft; that the prifoner was a perfon fometimes em-
ployed by him as a chimney {weep, and that he was
employed about two months before. She fays, that
on the 24th of Fanuary, the day on which the rob-
bery was committed, the family went to bed about
12 o’clock—that the examined the faftenings of the
doors and windows—that they were all faft; that
ihe locked the pantry door, carried the key into the
kitchen, left it on the (helf, and barred the kitchen
door. Shefays, fhe believes the iron bar with infide
was not put up, there were two bars, one outfide,
and one in ; fhe fays, fhe was the laft perfon that
was up, and fhe was the firft down in the morning
about half paft feven. Gentlemen, before I go
further y it will be proper to {tate that burglary con-
fifts in breaking into a dwelling houfe in the night
time, and the lJaw deems that only to be night time
in which a perfon cannot fee the face of man, fo as
to diftinguifh it by the natural light of day ; fo that
with refpect to the burglary, it feems to be laid out
of the cafe, and I will tell you why—you find
the young woman fays, that when the came down
at half pait feven, it was light, fo it might be that it
was light at the time of the entry—you will lay out
of your confideration therefore the burglary, but
the other part you will attend to, for you find the
party itealing goods to the value of 40s. which is
a capital crime, whether it is done by night, or by
day, it is a capital felony, She fays, the bar was
taken down and the fhutters nearly open, fhe gave

you
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vou an account of the key being taken from the
place where fhe put it, and of its being thrown into
the middie of the room; fhe fays, fhe found the
door locked, and that fhe miffed a quantity of plate.
Then, Gentlemen, {he gave you an account of the
plate that the miffed, which azrees with the plate in
the indié&tment, and fo found in Grimfhaw’s houfe.

Gentlemen, Mr. Peace a carpenter ftates, that he
went about the 2d of February, with Mr. Forlow, the
Mayor, and fome other Gentlemen, to the houfe of
Grimfthaw ; he fays, he did not fee the prifoner there
on that day, that he was ordered to pull down the
the ftaircale, but that he difcovered tlie plate with-
out pulling it down; at the bottom of the ftairs of
the firft ftory, he fays, there was a ftep projected
into the front room, and on fearching the infide in
the coal hole he perceived a new nail to an old
board; he fays, I thought if any thing was under
the {tair, it probably was there; he tells you, he
wrenched the board off, and took out all the plate he
could find; he fays, he could net fearch without
wrenching the board off, and the reafon of afking
that queftion, was, that if it was fo, the property
was found in a fingular place, and the circumftances
under which it was found affords {trong prefumption
of guilt, for according to the fituation in which
goods are found, and the circumftances under which
they are found, 1t affords an inference of thefe articles
being in fuch a fituation, that you cannot get at
them without wrenching,is moft extraordinary, and
affords a confiderable degree of fufpicion. He fays,

he found a tankard bent very much, and that what
he found he delivered to Mr. Forlow.

Mr. Forlow was then called, and he tells you,
that he was prefent at the examination, and received
the plate from the other witnefs ; and that with
| B2 the
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the plate, he took feveral keys, and thofe keys are
certainly of a defcription, which’ may not be known
to thofe who are not fo much ufed to {ee them, as
other perfons who go ellewhere ; myfelf for one ; they
are now and then produced at the Old Baily, they
arec keys of a very fulpicious fort for the purpofe of
opening locks.

Gentlemen, Mary Nicholls fays, fhe is fervant to
the profecutor, the property is thewn to her, and fhe
thinks they are of much more value'than 405s.; fhe
fwears they are Mr. Butcher’s property, and that
many of the things are the things fhe mifled after
the houfe was broke open, Then Mr, Sayer is
called, who from living in Loondon, and being one of
the Bow-Street officers, I thought he might poflibly
fet 2 value upon the property ; he tells you it is worth
mere than 34, but to put it out of all doubt, Mr.
Broadbelt, a filverfmith, pofitively {wears they are
worth more than 10/.

Gentlemen, This is the evidence on the part of
the profecution—You have heard what the prifoner
had to fay. 1 afked bim whether he would call any
witnefiels, he turns round to the Gentlemen, all of
whom be fays are in the habit of knowing him, but
Mr. Peace fpeaks to his charaéter; he fays, lie has
known the prifoner many years, that he has worked
for him, that he never heard any thing againft him
tiil this time. Mr. Farith fays, he has known him
twelve years, that he never heard any thing againft
him, that he has done bufinels for him, and as far
as his experience goes, he is an heneft man.

entlemen, This is the evidence on the part of

the profecution, and of the prifoner. "I'he charge
that I would have you diret your attention to, is
whether or not, the prifoner is guity of {tealing ]in
the
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the dwelling houfe of Mr. Butcher goods to the
value of 405. (entlemen, I was much obliged to
the learned counfel who opened the cafe, and 1 am
‘much obliged to him for this, becaufe he warned
you not to attend to any thing, that you have heard
or read- concerning this robbery, or concerning this
bufinefs out of doors ; to forget every thing when
you went into that box, and form your judgement
by the evidence, not by any thing you have heard
beiore you came there, but by what you have
heard here. (entlemen, I warn you to do the
fame, 1 am very forry, it is a melancholy inftance of
the mifbehaviour of different people about that; they
will infert in News-papers, and in different ways,
circumftances which I have known repeatedly to
miilead, though otherwile meant well, and therefore
whenever there is a matter of this fort much talked
about; I feel it my duty to warn a jury againt
attending to any thing, but what they have heard
{worn. I remember once a very able man, an At~
torney General, put a ftop to that abominable prac-
tice, by giving the printers notice, that he would
fle an information againit any man, who fhould
think fit to pubhfh fuch misftatements; and if fuch
an mformation was filed, I thould not be forry for
them, then the public would know the confequence.

Gentlemen, I told you before, the only queftion
you have to confider, is whether the prifoner has
been guilty of ftealing to the value of 40s5.—1 think
this is clear, if you attend to the two young women,
that the houfe has been broke open, and that the
felony was committed by fomebody—then the only
queition is, whether it was committed by the prifoner
at the bar—You know that burglary, the breaking
open a houfe while the family are in bed and a fleep,
i_s feldom proved by perions who fee the thief ; and
if it cannot be proved by perfons who happened to

B 2 fce
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fee the faCt committed, what is the next thing—
if the goods ftolen are fuch as can be 1dentified, and
are found within a reafonable time in the poflcflion
of fome one, who cannot thew how he came by them,
and under circumftances that warrant a reafonable
prefumption that he ftole them, it will warrant a
jury to fay, they were flolen in the way {tated.—
In the cafe of the prifoner at the bar, thefe things
which amount to more than 40 5. are found—where?
not open, not in his cupboard in his parlour, but
they are found, where they could not be got at with-
out breaking the ftairs and without force —the pur-
pote for which they were put there is undoubted, it
wasto conceal them; if the prifoner had come honefily
by them, the firft queftion is, why he concealed
them? but it does not want that to form the grcund
of fufpicion—Lock at the plate, every man knows
plate that is ftolen is generally ftolen for the purpofe
of melting, and the firlt thing is either to blot out
the marks, or to deface it in the way this is, I mean
by making it crooked or bending it for the purpofe
of putting it into a crucible and difpoting of it—
The circumftance of thefe gocds being found fo con-
cealed under the ftairs, and he being a man who
does not appear to be in the hebit of having any
quantity of plate in his houfe, cz!ls upon him to
account how he came by it, Did any body elfe
put 1t there? That is not probable, and if any body
did get into his houfe to put it there, what is the
prefumption —that he knew they put it there—Did
he come by them honefily ? If fo, why did he con-

ceal them, and ufe ail thofe means which gullty men
generally make ufe of,

Gentlemen, There is the circumftance of the keys,
whether or not they were ufed upon this occafion
does not appear, it does not appear that they could
be of any ufe, but they are {trong guides to lead

vou
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you to believe what fort of trade this man has Leen

carrying on, and how it is that he might come by
fuch a commodity as that.

Gentlemen, Thefe are the ftrong and leading fea-
tures of the cafe. He has called witneffes to his cha-

racter, what I have to fay upon that is fo we]l Known,
that it is almoft unneceflary to repeat it; but now I
am on the fubject, I will juft mention that chara&er
in a doubtful cale ought to weigh, in a clear cafe it
ought to weigh nothing. The only queftion as to

character, is whether it is a doubtful cafe or a clear
cafe, then you will refort to the evidence, and con-

fider whether this can be a doubtful cafe, how he
came by the plate fo concealed, fo abufed and pulled
ta pieces, and by thefe keys. You will take thefe
circumitances in your mind, and confider whether
any realonable man can doubt an inftant from thefe
circumftances with refpect to the guili of 1he priloner.
T'he diftance of time is not very oreat between the
time of the robbery on the 24th of fanuary, and the
3d of February, when the things were found. Thefle
are the circumitances of the cafe, and I will iay no
more than this, if you have a doubt whether he is
guilty or not, yeu will fay heis not guilty ; but if the
cale is fo ftrong that you cannot doubt about it, it

will be your duty by faying he is guilty. —GUILTY..

THE
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T RI1I A L

OF

RICHARD KIDMAN,

For Burglaries and Robberies in the Colleces of
Caius and King’s, in the Nights of the 131k
of Oltober, and the 5th of May, 1799, -

"-ﬂmom—

HE clerk of arraigns ftated the indiltment,

charging the prifoner with a burglary and rob-
bery, 1n the College of Caius, after which the fol-
lowing proceedings were had.

Clerk of Arraigns. (To the prifoner). Richard
Kidman, Are you guilty of this burglary and felony,
or not guilty?

Prifoncr. Cuilty.

Mr. Juflice Grofe. Prifoner, it is my duty to
apprize you, that by the law of this land, every man
has a right to infift upon guilt being proved againft
him—Although you have pleaded guilty, you may
yet retract, and if you think proper, plead not guilty.
I inform you of it, and you are to ufe your difcretion.
The clerk thall call upon you again—I1 now apprize
you, it is the liberty of ¢very man in this country
charged with an oflence, to put his accufers upon

- proof
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the proof of the crime charged—your reafons for
pleading guilty are unknown to me; but if you
perfift in it, it will be recorded ; if you chufe to re-
tract it, you may.

Mr. Alley. My Lord, I will fubmit that, although
I am not of council for the prifener,

Mr. Serj. Sellon. 1 look upon it as my duty to
oppofe any obfervations Mr, Alley may be inclined
to make, as he is not concerned for the prifoner.

Mr. Alley. If I am wrong, I know I {ball be cor-
reCted, and properly fo, but what I have to{ay, 1s
this—] have the misfortune to be called upon to
defend a man, who is charged as acceflory to this
burglary and robbery; therefore, as his counfel, I
muft feel an intereft,

Mr. “%uftice Grofe. This is quite irregular, you
are neither counfel for the man, or called upon by

the court.
(To the clerk of arraigns). Call upon the prifoner

for his plea,

Clerk of Arraigns. Are you guilty of this felony,
or not guilty?

Prifoner. Guiltys

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. (To Mr. Alley.) If you are
counfel for the acceflory, you will have an opportu-
nity of controverting the guilt of the principal, juft
as much as if the principal was on his trial.

Mr, Alley, Certainly, my Lord.

The prifoner was again indicted for a burglary,
robbery and facrilege, in on the gth of AZay, 1799,—
T'o which he pleaded guilty.

Clerk of Arraigns. Do you defire that plea to be
recorded ?

‘The prifoner affented by a nod, and withdrew
from the bar,

& b
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OF

HENRY COHEN, &c.

March 14, 1801,

NSRS 04 G ArIvpT R

7he Prf/&mr being at the Bar.

Mr. Alley. Y Lord, I underfiand there are two

indiétments, one in each of thele
cafes.—1 conceive it my duty, on this occafion,
humbly to apply to your Lordfhip for an indulgence,
which I am fure, 1 have no difficulty in faying, I
expect 1 fhall receive; becaufe it is an indulgence
that borders much upon the right of the acculed.—
I conceive it is 2 matter of right, that no man fhall
be called upon to anfwer the offences imputed to
him in thofe indi@ments, at cne and the fame time,
The prifoner at the bar, has been committed as an
acceflory after the fa&t, under the ftatute for receiv-
ing flolen goods ; againft that charge, therefore, I
2 prepared to defend him, but the proflecutors have
thought fit, under the learned diretions they have
received, to bring forward another indi¢tment,
charging him as an acceflory before the fact, but
againit which he is not prepared to defcnd himfelf:
and
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and what, I truft, your Lordfhip will be difpofed to

grant is, that one or other of thefe indi¢tments may
be quafthed; and that the Gentlemen on the part of
the profecution, may not be at liberty to fay, we
will take that which we think is the {trongeft, and
fhall not proceed on the other, unlefs we fail on the
hrit.—My Lord, T am not applying as for a matter
of favour, but ftating that, which I am authorized
to do by a decifion on the fubject, namely on the
authority of the cale of Mary Doran, in Mr.
Leaches, Crown Law, 608.— In that cafe, this
objection was taken, though certainly not precilely
in fact the fame.—In that cafe, your Lordihip ob-
ferves, there were two indi&tments preferred, the
one charging her as a principal offender, and cer-
tainly the other charged her as an acceflory after
the fact, which made her amenable to punithment,
Upon their being returned to the court, a fimilar
application was made, and the court held they were
not to encourage proceedings of that fort againk
the defendant.—And, my Lord, there are reafons
why it thould not be fo. —1I cannot ftate particulatly
what thefacts of the cafe were, as 1 did notknow thar,
any objection of this fort could arife, ull the bills
were brought in,—T'here is alfo the cafe of the King
againflt Young, I believe, in 3d term reports, for
obtaining money under falfe pretences—that cate
was removed into the-court of King’s Bench.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Was it not the King and The-
rupean f

Mr, Alley. 1 believe it was—it was for obtaining
money under a falfe pretence.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. That cale is fo frefh in my
memory, that I can fay it was not like this at all—
not the leaft in the world.

Mr. Alley. It did not approximate in circumitances
to this certainly, but the do irine held cut on that
occafion is appofite to this cafe,—~One of the objec-

tions
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tions were, that the indi¢tment was bad, becaufc
there were feveral counts in it, which the defendant

was not prepared to defend; but your Lordthip
faid, that the application came too late, that if it
had been made at all, it {hould have been made at the
time of trial.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. We faid, that objection was
not well founded-—1 with that cafe fhould be per-
fetly underflosd, and alfo that 1 have condudted
myfelf accurately, according to the law of the fub-
je&t.—If there are different counts in one indiétment,
we will oblice the profecutor to put his hinger on
the count he means to proceed on, and will not
fuffer a piifoner to be perplexed with defending two
felonies in one and the fame record § but we never
{aid, there fhould not be two indi¢tments again{} one
perfon. There muft be a great deal of argument to
{atisfy me, that it is in my power to do what you
afk.—I don’t know that they are the fame offence—
It is not in my power to quafh it—Can you {hew
me any inftance, in which the court having before
them two indiéments, have determined on which
the profecutors fhall proceed.—I cannot conceive
they are the fame offence—I can conceive a cale,
where feeing an indictment bad, 1 might fay, that
the time of the public fhall not be thrown away,
becaufe it is bad.—As far as they appear to me, I
do not know, but that they are different offences.

Mr. Alley. 1 fubmit, with that refpect I certainly
owe to the court.—At this moment your Lord(hip
knows, that we are entitled to challenge the jury.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. 1 know you are.—l was pre-
pared to tell you it is your right—that 15, not an
induleence, itis vour right, and I fhall immediately
order that you fhall challenge as many as you think
fit, according to law, and then there will be other
Gentlemen called—1 have no doubt, but the fhenff

has done his duty in providing another pannel.
- Mr.
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Mr. Ailey. 1 did confider it my duty to challenge®
fome of them, knowing the operation reports have
on the minds of men, but now I fhall wave all
objedtions.

Mr. Fujlice Grofe. You may do as you think pro-
per; but withregard to qualhing the indi&tment, fuch
a thing never was heard of—1I fay the court could not
quafh It,

Mr, Aley. 1 certainly have no objetion to any
of the jury.

The Clerk of Arraigns then vead the Indiftments, to
which the Prifoner pleaded, Not Guilty.

Mr. Befi. May it pleafe your Lordfhip.—Gentle-
men of the jury. It is incumbent upon me, as one
of the counfel for the profecution, to open to you
the indiétment, but as you have this moment heard
it read to the prifoner, I may fave myfelf the trouble,
and the court their time.—T o this indi&tment, you
find he pleads, Not Guilty; and upon that he is to
be tried.

Mr. Serjeant Selion. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, —
(entlemen of the jury. That there have been for:
fome time paft various depredations of different
kinds upon the property of the inhabitants of this
place, is a2 matter of public notoriety ; and the evil
confequences that have refulted from them, have
been molt ferioufly felt.

Gentlemen, Within your own knowledge, two
perfons have already been convifted as offenders,
and I moft heartily hope, that the difcovery which
has been made, may prove the providential means
of removing all that dilquietude and apprehenfion,
all thofe fears and alarms, which have for fome
time prevailed, and reftore tranquility and focial
confidence to the Town and Univerfity. Gentle-
men, One other perfon is now broeught before you,
charged with being implicated in this offence; and
permit me “tor adopt that excellent and humane:

C advice,
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advice, which fell from his Lord(hip on a former
trial ; namely, moft {erioufly to admonifth you, not
to fuffer any extraneous circumitances, or any re-
ports that may have reached your ears, to make the
leaft impreflion on your minds to the difadvantage
of the prifoner.—Gentlemen, He i1s to be tried
upon the evidence that 1s to be brought before you,
and in order that that evidence may come beiore
you in the moit fair and impartial n.anner, 1 fhall
look upon it as my duty, on the part of the profccu-
tion, only to ftate to you the nature of the crime,
and the general tenor of the evidence, without
making any comments, any obfervations, or any
applications.

Gentlemen, The prifoner at the bar, is charged
as an acceflory before the fact of a burglary and
felony, committed by one Kidman, who has been
convilied of the offence. In crimes of this mature,
three diftin&t parties may be concerned ; there may
be perfons concerned in counfelling, in adviling, 1n
urging another, to commit an oftence, and fuch
perfon is called an acceflory before the fact.—1here
may alfo, and muft be the perfon who himfelf com-
mits the offence, and that perfon is termed, the
principal ;—and there is a third clafs of perfons,
who may be concerned in fome act of receiving part
of the property, or of concealing the felon minfelf,
after the fa& i1s committed ; and he is called an
acceflory after the fact. Gentlemen, This 1s an
indi¢tment, charging the prifoner at the bar, with
being anacceflory before the fact ; that he counfelled
and advifed, and by that counfel and advice, incited
Kidman, who has been convifted, to commit the
offence of which he {tands convicted: and there 1is
as great diftinction between accefiories before and
acceflories after the faét, as can prevgil between any
two offences.—"1hey are committed at different

times—they are different 1n nature; apd different
1
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in extent of criminality—they are different as to
their -punifhment by the law of this couutry, and
that law is founded, not only in this, but in all
other refpects, though particularly in this, on reafon,
common fenfe and juftice 5 that he who promotes
another to offend; he whofe evil heart firft fuggells
the offence, and was the caufe of plotting 1t, 1s 2
much greater offender, than the very hand who
does it ; and therefore it is, that an acceflory betore
the fact 1s guilty of felony.

Mr. Alley. 1 beg your pardon, Mr. Serjeant
Sellon; but pray let all the witnefles go out of
court.

(The witnefles ordered to withdraw.)

Mr. Serj. Sellon. Such then, Gentlemen, is the
general nature of the otfence, with which the pri-
{oner at the bar ftands charged. —1I fhall now briefly
ftate to you, the general tenor of the evidence, and
the manoer in which this profecution will be carried
on, by the witnefles being called to prove the re-
fpective points, merely that your attention may be
hereafter ‘drawn to the fafls, as they occur; but 1
{hall not anticipate what they will be called upon to
{av,

“You find, Gentlemen, that the principal, Kidman,
has been conviéted of this offence; he has been con-
victed of the burglary itfelf, upon which this fecond
charge is grounded, having acknowledged the crime.
It will not be necefiary for me to be fo minute, or
narticular 1n the proot of thete tadls, as otherwife it
might have been expelted, had this been the charge
of burglary itielf again{t Kidman, the principal. It
flands confefled, that the burglary was committed at
the dav, and time ftated ; the falt is upon the re-
cord ; however, thouch 1t 1s an admitted fact, I {till
think 1t neceflary, by way of removing every polhible
doubt, and by way of connecting properly the
nature of the charge againft the prifoner at the bar,

C 2 with
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with that oftence of burglary; to {hew by general
evidence, that the burcrlar) was committed in point
of fact, on the 13th of Oéteber at Caius college, that
plate was {tolen from thence, and that therefore
Kidman having been convidted in the manner he
has; namel},bvhls own plea of guilty, it will clearly
appear to you, that notwithftanding that has been
the nature of his conviction, ftill the charge itfelf
will be fatistactorily proved to your minds.
Gentlemen, The burglary itfelf was committed
in part of Caius College; namcly, in the buttery
and two witnefles will be calied to that fact.—"The--
next thing 1 (hall prove, 1s this; that fome of the
very articles, that were ftolen from Caius College,
on the 13th of Olfeber, were afterwards found in'the
pofleflion of Kidman. Gentlemen, T hat then would
have been, and is full evidence of the principal; and
original fact; but I fhall not take up your time by
being fo minute, with regard to the quantity of
plate, or the value of it, and other circumfitances, as
1 thould have been, if it had been againft Kidman;
but lay before you evidence to fatisfy your minds,
that it was a burglary, Having done that, as the
foundation of this charge againit the prelent pri-

foner, 1 will briefly {tate to you, in what way 1 {ball
adduce evidence to fupport the charge againift him;

and fut, I {hall {hew you by twe, or three mmcﬂes,
that there was an intimacy, and a connection fub-
fifting between Cohen, the prifoner, and Kidman,
the perfon who has been convidled of the burglary,
long previous and up to the time when this burglary
was committed. —1 again repear, that 1 hope you
will always bear in mmd that this isa charge againit
Cohen, as being an acceflory before the tacty and
here, Gentlemen, an important point will be dil-
covered ; you will hear what the witnelics fay, but
the pomt is this; that at the time when Kidman

was apprehended, in Yanuary lait, (,ohcn, the pri-
loner
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foner at the bar, in the prefence of feveral perfons,
not at one time, but at different times, and under
different circumftances, in the way they will relate,
affeCted a great furprize, put on a wonderful appear-
ance of aftonifhment, who this Kidinan could be, he
did not know the man; he pretended not to have
had the leaft acquaintance with him ; he in fact dif-
claimed all fort of knowledge of him, he did not
even know his perfon; but I fhall fhew you by
witnefles, who lived clofe to him, and who at times
worked 1n the very houle, when it was under repair;
and others, who from time to time, for three years
previous to this, faw Cohen himfelt with Kidman,
comingZ to his huufe, walking about, clofeted with
him, and in fa@, in habits of the crreate& Intimacy,
That will lav unqueltionably a “broad and folid
foundation, to fhew that {uch conne&ion fub-
fifted between him and Cohen j and likewife coupled
with other fufpictous circumitances, it will lay a
broad foundatien for the introducétion of a more
material fact; pamcly, being a counfellor, and
exciter of Kidinan to this identical burglary.—In
order to prove this, I fhall call the woman who has
juft been defired to go out of court, and I think, fo
far, very properly. I mean, Mrs. Kidman, who_
will prove to vou, that fuch counfel, and f{uch
advice, as is now the fubject matter of complaint,
and which unqueftionably muft from the nature of
it have been fecretly given ; for it is not likely, that
~any very particular evidence of the real cocnfel itfelf
{hould be attainable; and it 1s more wonderful, that
even fuch evidence as we fhall be able to produce
has been obtained.— 1 fov, T {hall call her, and the
will relate what pafled refpcéting this particular fact
of Cohen, being the perfon who countelled Kidman
to commit the robbery. (Gentlemen, I think proper
juft to anticipate this, that it proba blv will appear,
and I wifh nat at al] that it fhould not; 1n the
€2 courfe
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courfe of her examination, that the was the means
of leading to difcoveries, under certain circumftances

of perfuafion, by the Gentlemen who at that time
attended ; intimating, that it would be better for
her to maoke fuch difcoveries; and I mention it
becaufe I do not wifh you to have Mrs. Kidman
before you, without having her evidence under all
the circumftances, and that as far as vou think
there is any thing which may tend to impeach her
credit, you will give it weight. You will be to
confider how far there are other circumitances in
this cafe, which may be pofitively proved, and which
will be falls themfelves that cannot lie; and how
far they go in confirmation and corroboration of her
evidence—for no doubt, you may look upon her as
in a certain degree flanding upon the footing of an
accomplice, and although the evidence of an ac-
complice 1s admiffible 1n certain cafes, yet always
with the utmoft caution; but there can be no quei-
tion as to the admiffibility, when coupled with the
falls themlfelves; which faéts would have exifted, if
no fuch confeffien had been made; you will judge
therefore in the firlt place, as to the evidence before
the fact, how far what fhe {iys is probable, and you
will hear, which is the lait fort of evidence, I fhall
produce to you, cne or two circumftances after the
fally not meaning to impeach him at all on that
ground, but only one or two circumfiances to cor-
roborate the relation whatever it may be, that Mrs.
Kidman may give, and to convince you, that fhe

1a all human probability fpeaks the truth.
Gentlemen, With refpeé to any thing having
been faid to Mrs. Kidman herfelf at that time,
either as fhe, or any other perfon may relate it, it
was {aid certainly by Gentlemen, moft refpeétable in
character, and condition, Gentlemen of the Uni-
verfity.—1 only juft obferve, on their part, it was
not at all to be wondercd at under the firft furprize,
that
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that they fhould not be upon their guard, confider-
ing the great anxiety which prevailed in this place,
and their defire that an ample difcovery might be
made, :

Gentlemen, This is all T at prefent mean to
trouble you with.  Firft, I fhall prove the burglary
commiticd on the 13th of O&sber ; 1 (hall prove the
plate found in the pofieflion of Kidman; I fhall then
go on with the evidence to bring home the eharge
again{t Cohen, of being an acceffory before the fact
firft, by direction and counfel ; and laftly, by (hewing
one or two falts to confirm the evidence of the
perion who {peaks to the material part. And hav-
ing done that, you will then lay your heads together,
and I am fure you will do juftice by giving a verdict
according to your confciences.

Evidence for the Crown.
(The record of the conviétion of Richard Kidman read. )
Elizabeth Wilfon, Sworn.

Mr. I7ilfon. Q. In what fituation are you at
Caius College? — 4. My hufband is the butler.

2. Do you remember on the night of the 13th
of Uliober lalt, locking up the buttery i—4. My
hufband Jocked it up, but I was prefent.

‘9\. At what time in the evening r— 4. About 10
o'cleck, as near as I can guefs.

Q. Did he fecure it in the ufual way?— 4. Yes;
I am certain of it,

2. This buttery is in the college, is it ?—_A4. Yes.

&. Under the roof of the college’— 4. Yes.

2. Do you recollect, whether you left any candle
there I—A4. We lett a candle and candleftick on the
drefling board near the door, and we blew it out as
we went out,

Q. What fort of candleftick was it ?—4. A metal
candleftick, or fomething of that kind.

2. Was there any plate in the buttery>—4.
X s, |
9. Where
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9. Where was it ?—4, Locked up in the Buttery;
it 1s in a clofet through the buttery.
. Can you go to this clofet where the plate is,

Iﬂ\." »
without going through the buttery?— 4. No.

Q. Was that door locked P—4. Yes.

Q. At what time did you go into the buttery
the next morning P—4, Our fervant went the next
morning about 8 o'clock.

9. Who is your fervant?’—4. John Fabb.

Q. How foon after did you go yourfelf }— 4, Tt
might be about a quarter of an hour, they fent for
us immediately, they fent a perfon for us. i

2. When you went upon receiving notice, in
what ftate did you find the buttery 7—4. The but-
tery was as ufual; we went direflly into the plate:
clofet, the clofet door was not locked.

2. Did you find the plate clofet open, or fthut?-—
A, The doors were both open.

9. Was the plate gone?—4, A part of it was
gone, and part left behind.

Q. As to that part that was gone, are you fure
that was there the night before f—4, 1 am pofitive
of 1t.

9, Can you mention any particular things that
were mifling 7— /4. There were feveral candlefticks,
and other things ; falts and different things,

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. 2. 1s there any thing turns
upon the value, this i1s only in corroboration of the
record.

Mr. Alley. No, my Lord, nothing on the value.

Mr. Wilfon. Q. Among the things mifling, do.
you remember a pint mug '— /4. Yes, very well,

2. Where there any table fpoons !—4, A great
many. | '

Q. Were there any tea fpoons?—/4. Yes, there
were.

Q. Were they marked in any manner ?—/, Yes,.
they were; there were 16 fpoons that had a pelican

upoil
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upon them, and a dozen marked with the college
mark.

Q. What is the coliege mark ?—4. CG C.

Q Were the tea !paons matked in-any way ?—
A. Nothmﬂ' but the pelican.

2. Or the pint mug ?—/. There was Hubbard S
-namc on ‘it.

. Did you oblerve any thing particular about
the candle, that you left there i—4. There had
been a'candle burning in the place, put into a filver
candleftick.

2. . You left the candle in a common candleftick
in the buttery?—4. Yes.

2. Did you find any candle in it, when you went
in the mornmg.——ff No, it was taken out.

9. Where had it been put!—4. In the plate
clofet,

9. In whatf— /4, In a f{ilver candleftick.

:Q, Had you left any candle in a filver candleftick,
when you went away :—_A4. No, there never lmd
been a candle in it before; it was a candleftick we
ufed to put into a branch, there was not any candle,
it was burnt quite down ; it was about half a candle
that we left.

2. You found it in the plate clofet extinguifhed,
and burnt into the focket i—A4. Yes.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Alley. ©. What time in the morning was it,
that you returned to the plate clofet 1— 4. It mnght
be about half paft eight,

. Common fenfe tells us, it was day light at

that time ’—4. Certainly.
Q. You fay, it was about ten o’clock at night

when you left it f— 4, Yes.
9. Is vour hufband here ?—4. No, he is very ill.
9. You fuppofe the door was locked, becaufe
you 0 f2w your hufband turn the keyi—4. 1 am

certain it .\vas,
2. You
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You did not go to try it, or puth it I —4, I
recollec"t my hufband pufhing it with the Key, as he
always does.

2. Is the plate clofet you fpeak of, a clofet that
has hight externally ! —/, ‘None at all.

Q T'herefore, if a perfon went in, even in day

light, they muft take a candle there?—4. Yes, to
be fure they muit.

Fohn Fabb, Sworn.
Mr. Beff. @. What fituation did you hold i

Caius college, in O&ober laft ?— 4. Under butler.

QY The butler 1s Mr. Wilfon, 1 believe 2—
A. Yes.

2. Were you at the butterv of Ca:us, on the
night of the 13th of Ofober ?—A. Yes.
,Q. Was Mr. Wilfon there’'—4 Yes.

Was Mrs. Wilfon, the laft witnefs there ?—
4. qu

2. Did you obferve Mr. Wilfon faften the door

of the buttery, in the ufual manner on coming out ?
A. Yes.

Q. How did he faften it 7—_4. He double locLed
it, as ufual.

2, Before you came out of the buttery, did you
obferve any thing of a candle and candleftick in the

buttery r—4. Yes; we put it on the board againft
the bread binn, and blew it out,

Q. How much candle do you fuppofe there might
be i—A4. Abcut half a candle.

Q. In what fort of candleftick 7—/4. In a metal
one, e, | think.

9. 1 believe you went to the buttery the next
mommm-—-i Yes.

9, In what fituation did you find the door of the
buttery f—4. Ajar.

9. Had you the key with you, when you went in
the morning f— 4. Yes.

2: HE’W was 1t, that you perceived the door was
open !
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open ?—4. As [oon as I was off the fteps, I faw the
door ajar, and I thought fomcbody might have gone
1n.

L. Then you did not apply the key at all 7—
A, . No.,

2, Did you go into the buttery ?—4. Yes.

. What did you obferve on going into the
buttery f—4. I oot a candle, and went to the plate
clofet,

Q. In what ficuation did you find it ?'—4. Both

the doors werc open; there are two doors, one is
a wooden door, and the other an iron one.

2. Do.you mean wide opeaf— 4. Yes; wide
open,

2. Had you taken notice of the plate, in the
plate clofet the night preceding ?— 4. Yes, I locked
it up fafe the night preceding.

2. Had you taken notice of the plate itfelf, in
the plate clofet '— 4. Yes.

Q. What plate in particular had you obferved in
the plate clofet the preceding night 7—_4. I cannot

fay particularly, I counted over all the articles I
ufually had in ufe,

Q. Can you mention any particular things ?—
AN

here were cups, tankards, butter boats, Jadles,
and ftoops.

Q. Was there a pint mug ?—4. Yes, there was.

2. Had it any maik on it?—4. Yes.

2. How was 1t marked !—4 [ am not certain of
the mark, [ never had it in my ufe, though I locked
1t up.

Q. Were the fpoons marked ?— 4. Yes, fome
marked with a pelican, and fome with CG C.

,5% Did you upon coing 1nto the buttery in the
morning, find this plate there, or not *—_/4, There
was fome left.

2. Did you find this pint mug ?—4, No, it was
oone.
2. Were
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9. Were any of the tea fpoons marked as you
have defcribed them r—/4. Yes.

9. You fent for your mafter ?—4. Yes. _‘

9. Did you-take any notice of the candle and
candleftick, that had been left the night before/f~—-
4. Yes.

- 9. What notice did you take ?—4. It was laid
down: by the lid of the bread binn. '

9, Was there any candie in it 7—4. No.

9. Did you take notice of any candleftick left in
the plate clofet?—/4. There was a f{ilver one, a
candle had been burnt in,

9 Whereabouts was that f{ilver candleftick-f—
A, Upon the portmantua.

9. Do you recollect, whether in the morning,
you found it in the fituation in which it was the
preceding evening !—44, No, 1t was not, it was
moved.

9. Had there been any candle in it the night be-
fore '—A4. There had not.

9. Had it been ufed to your knowledge —4.
No, it had not at all.

Rev. Dr. Manfel, Sworn.

Mr. Serjeant Sellon. 2. 1 belicve you are Mafter
of Trinity College 7—4, Yes.

9. Did you go at any time, and when, to fearch
the houfe of Kidman?——4. The 2d of February
laft ; I went with the Mayor, and the Mafter of
Caius, to Kidman’s houfe; Kidman himielf was
in cuftody at the time with Grimfhaw; I went there,
hearing that a variety of articles had been concealed
there; we f{earched the houfe, and found a variety
of articles ; crucibles, tools of various kinds, and I
believe, keys ; a variety of articles of very fufpicious
appearance ; upon which, we queftioned the woman,
what could be the ufe of thofe things.

Q. Was her hufband prefent?— 4. He was

not.
2. Then
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2. Then don’t tell us any converfation you had
with the woman, only what you faw?—4. The
next dav, in confequence of information we had
received of there being plate fecreted in a particular
part of the houfe of Kidman, we went the next
day; I then direéted to have a particular board, of
a particular part of the room taken up; I had been
informed there was {ome particular part where it
was concealed, but I found the board nailed with
old nails fo ftrongly down, that I was almoft tempted
to give up the {earch ; but however, at laft we got
it up ; a man then put his arm to the full extent
under the board, and pulled out a quantity of plate;
I obferved, they belonged to Caius College, there is
a cup with the name of Hubbard, to Caius College,
the gift of Hubbard to Caius College in a Latin
infcription ; this mug, and fome fpoons, and fome
other articles, I don’t know whcther they were
marxed ; we found them up and delivered them up
to the Vice-Chancelior ; we went all over the houfe
and found a varicty of articles, drawers, and other
things.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Alley. 2. Did I underftand you to fay, that
this was in the month of February®— A, Yes.

2. We underftand, that the robbery was com-
mrtied in OfFober ¢ —'4. Yes.

2. Did you not find at the houfe of Kidman, a
great part of the plate, almoft all?’—/4, I do not
exallly know all that had been loit.

£, Nearly two, or three months had tranfpired
before the fearch was made {—4, Yes,

9. 'T'here was 2bundance of opportunity to have
difpoted of the plate, by the perfons who had the
previous knowledge of the tranfa&ion *—/4. Yes.

2. You are the magiltrate who took the exami-

D 9. When
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9. When you examined Cohen, and afked him
as to his knowledge of Kidman, did he admit that
he knew him?—24, He faid, he knew him a little.

Mr. Serj. Sellon. When was 1t that you took the
examination of Cohen?—/4. A day or two after, I
don’t exactly remember the day.

Q. After the 2d of February P— A4, Yes.

Rev. Dr. Gretton, Sworn.

Mr. Wilfon. Were you at Kidman's houfe, at
the time Dr. Manfel fearched it ¢—4. No.

2. Have you got the articles from there ?~— 4.
Yes, they were brought to the Lodge to me;
John Newby was the perfon who brought them
£o Inc.

Mr. Serj. Sellon. . (7o D Manfel.) Do you
know when Kidman was apprehended 7—4. No.

Mr. Alley. 1 will not give them the trouble to
particularize the plate.

Mr. “Fohn Newby, Sworn,
(P?S]HLM the Plate. )

Mcr. Wilfon. Q_ Do you produce the plate that

was delivered to you at Kidman’s!—4. Yes.
(The Mug fhewn to Mrs. Wiljon. )

2. Do you know that cu p?—A. Yes.

C) Did that belong to the college ?—4. It did.

Q_} Is that the pint mug that you miffed, on the
night of the robbery *—A. That'is the fame pot.

9. Do you know thefe table fpoons !—4. No.

% Do you know thefe tea {poons f—4. Yes.

2 V\fer{, they taken on the night of the robbery ?

b 4 hey were.

‘,2, (To AMr. Newby.) Were there any other
things found, befide the plate!—4. Yes, many
others, thefe were all taken out of the fame place;
this pint pot and the {poons were under the point
of the hearth at Kidman’s houfe.

Q. Was you prefent f—4. I took them out myﬁ:IlF
Mr
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Mr. Fuftice Grofe. ©. Are thole falfe keys /—

A X6, my Lord.
anf Examination.

Mr. Hart. 9. '1hefe things, if I underftand vou
right, were all found at I\ldman s houfe i— 4. Yes.

Do you know of your own know 1edﬂ'e,
whether the prifoner lived at the houfe—don’t you
know that Cohen did not live there!—/4. He did
not.

Q. Will you be kind enough to lock at that
hand bill?— /4. Yes.

Q. Was you the Gentleman, that was kind
enough to circulate an hundred of thefe 1n court
yelterday ?— 4. T did not circulate an hundred.

&, 1hd you circulate anyf—4, I gave {ome to
a (;rentleman In court,

Rev. Dr. Belward, Sworn.

Mr, Beff. 9. You are I\/laﬁer of Caius, I believe?
—A. Yes, I am.

Mr. fuflice Grofe. Will you be fo good, as to
give me the proper name of the college '—A. The
Mafter, or Keeper, and Fellows of the College of
Gomfil and Caius, founded in honor of the annun-
ciation of Blefled I\Tarv the Virgin, in the Univer-
fity of Cambridge.

Mr. Befi, 1 with to afk you, dSir, whether the
colleze has not loft much more plate, than that
which 1s now produced i— /4. A great deal more ;
to a very great amount,

2. To what amount in ounces i—/, I fuppofe
about 4 or 50zlb. weight.

L. You were, I believe, at Kidman’s houfe, at
the time 1t was fearched '—4. | was.

. Did you fee Mr. Newby fearching the place
dt{CIlbtd by the laft witnefs Ponod. . Y5,

Did youfee him produce the mug, and other
plate r—4. He did produce a mug, and | imme-
chately faid, This is Mir, Hubbard’s mug.

D 2 2, o
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Q. Do you find on looking at it, that itis .Ir.
Hubbard’s mugr—4. It is the fame; it bears a
mark, that 1tis Mr. Hubbard’s giit; it fays, Rev.
Henricus Hubbard, B. D.

Q. All the plate, I believe, that was found upon
the fearch at Kidman’s, was that mug, and fome
other articles produced '—/. That mug, and thele
fpoons ; 1 think there were fome large fpoons befides
thefe ; there were 28 fmall ones, I know.

Q. Was that all 7— 4. That was all.

Crofs Examination,

Mr. Bell. ., You refide in the lodge, I believe ¢

— A, Yes.

Q. In a {eparate dwelling houfe !—4, Itis my
dwelling houle.

Q. Is the buttery in which that plate is kept, a
part of your dwelling houle?—4, 1t is under the
fame roof. '

2. Has it any conneftion with the college, or is.
it a fpecific part of the lodge appropriated to your
private ufe 7— 4. T'his plate clofet is for the general
ufe of the college.

Q. I alk, whether it be a part of your dwelling
houte, or not; not whether it is under the fame
roof, but whether it be a part of your dwelling
houle 7—4. I do not perfectly underfiand the quef-
tion, any further than it is a part of the college; it
1s a clofet ufed by me occafionally, 1 can tell you
how far it 1s connefled with the dwelling houle.

Q. The lodge is confidered that part of the
college, which is appropriated to the private ufe of
the Mafter?—4, Yes.

2; Whether this is as much for the ufe of the
college as the library i—4. It is not approprated
to my ufe, fo much as the other part of the lodge,
the fociety at large have the ufe of it.

Q: Is there any commun:cation between your
houle, and this plate clofet? iy

IVir,
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&

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. The indictment takes it In
every poflible way.

Mr. Bell. 9. Pray Dr. Belward, have not the
Fellows, and the Students of the college, particular
rooms belonging to them perfonally r—4. There
are rooms generally ufed by the Fellows.

9. Which ha-e no communication whatever
with vour apartments f— 4. Certainly not.

. There are different rooms occupied by the
different Fellows,and Students, that are appropriated
exclufively to the ufe of each occupier.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. 1 know very well how this 1s,
there can be no doubt, but the buttery is part of the
Doma Manfionalis.

Dr. Bekvard. All thofe rooms are not at the dif-
poial of the Fellows—oue part of the college 1s
abfolutely at my dilpolal.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. 1 take it, the plate clofet be-
longs to the college.

Mr. Serj. Sellen. Q. Does your own private fer-
vant keep the key of the college plate t—4. No;
the college fervant,

Mr. Bell. Rent is paid by the ftudents i—4, It
i1s by fome,

9, It is laid in the indictment as the dwelling
houie of the Mafler, and Fellows; I wifh to afk,.
whether all the Fellows have lived, and refided in
the college, fince they have been Fellows; whether
they have {lept there 7—4. 1 lock upon it, we have
not a Feilow in the college, that has .ot {lept in the
college.

Mr. Fuflice Grefe. You are endeavouring to
prove, that it is impoflible to {ay, breaking and en-
1ering a college is a burglary.

Fames W hiley, Sworn..

Mr. Serj. Sellon, Q. Do you remember in Fa-
anuary laft, being at the Black Lion, Cambridge, in
company with the prifoner at the bar?—4, Yes.

D. 3 2. Do
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Q. Do you know what day in Fanuary®—A4.
The 27th.

Q. Had you any converfation with him, about a
perion of the name of Kidman ?—4, 1 think not;
fomebody was talking about it.

L. Did you hear the prifoner at the bar fay any
thing about it, at that time ?—/. They were talk-
ing about Mr. Buicher’s houfe being robbed.

2. Were they talking about Kidman ?—~4. They
were talking about Kidman being in jail,

2. Did you hear Cohen fay anv thing refpeing
Kidman ?— 4., Mr. Cohen faid, ke did not kuow
Kidman; I do not recolleét any thing elfe.

2: Did he make any enquiries, or put any quef-
tions about him !— /4. No, I don’t recolle&.

2. Did he atk who it was 7— 4. It was men-
tioned. that he lived in Bell Lane.

Q. What did he fay to that’—_4. 1 cannot fay,

he did not make any anfwer to that; there weie a
good many people in the room.

2. All that Cchen faid was, that he did not know
himr—4, Yes,

Crefs Examination,

Mr, Alley, © Was that converfation in Cam-
bricge '—4. Yes, at the Black Lion.
L. Was it at the time Kidman was in jail ?— 4.
Yes.

9. And there was 2 converfation about the rob-
bery?—4, There was a converfation about the
robbery.

.5’1 This man is a JEW, is he not ?-..-_/j_ I bglieve

a

fo A

2. Does he fpeak as diftinétly, and intelligibly
as a chriftian; could you underftand every thing as
diftinctly as if it was fpoken by a chriftian i—4.
"I'hey do fpeak different.

Mr. Juffice Grofe. Anfwer the queftion; do you
underftand him as well as you do any ather per-
* fon r—
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fon?-- 4. Not {fo well; but I underftood what he
faid. :

Mr. Ailey. Where was it, at the public houfe?—
A. Yes,

Q. Did you happen to be fober at the time i—
A, Yes, |

. Do vou mean to fay, you was quite fober
when you fay he made ufe of that expreflion; were
you not at that uime a little in liquor i—4. No.

L. Had you not been drinking before ?— 4.
Some little.

2. Have you never faid to any body, that you
was a little merry, and did not know the expreffion
he made ufe of *— 4. No.

9. You never have faid fuch a thing as that ? —

A. No.

Q. Do you mean to fwear that ?—4. What I
have faid, I {wear to.

Q. What time of the day was it, that this took
place —4. In the evening.

L. Of courfe you had been drinking after dinner,
and went to the alehoufe for the purpofe of drink-
ing '—A, Without doubt.

9. 1 afk you; have you not faid, that at the time
when the expreflion was made ufe of, you was in
liquor, and could not perfectly underftand what he
faid 7— 4, No.

9. Do you know of your own knowledge, how
Jong this man has lived in the town f—4. Six, or
feven years.

9. Do you know whether he went out of town
for fome days afterwards ?—4. For thiee, or four
days. .

2. Although the robbery had been talked of, he
remained in town for fome days afterwards P—4.
Yes.

2. He is an itinerant pedler — he goes about
with boxes, you know he was under the neceflity
occafionally of going out of town?— 4. Yes.

9. But
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9. But he remained in the town for {ome days
afterwards '—4. Yes.

Charles Thorpe, Sworn,

Mr. Wilfon. @, 1 belicve, you keep the Black
Lion, public houte f—4. Yes

2. Do you remember Cohen being there, at the
end of 7anuary, afier Kidman was taken up f—
A YEs,

9. Do you remember “the day ?—4. 1 believe,
the 27th. |

). Was there any converfztion in Cohen’s pre-
fence,.about the taking up ot Kicman?—A4. It was
the night, I believe, that Cohen came from town,
by the couch.

9. What was faidi—4., Some perfon in the
room faid, there was a nian taken up on fufpicion
of ftealing plate; and Cehen laid, yes, he knew it,
the coachman had told him fo, hc: afked what hls
name was, 1 made anfwer myfelf, his name was
Kidman, that he lived in Bell Lane; he f(aid, he did

wot know him ; he afked me what fort of a man he
was ; 1 told him he wasa kind of a rough locking
man, and wore a light coloured coat, a fly Iookmu‘
man, I made that anfwer; Cohen faid 2gain, he did
not know him, or where he lived ; thofe were the

words, and that was all that paﬂed in my houfe.
Crofs Examination.

Mr. Hart. Q. You are the landlord ?—/4. Yes.
9. How long has the prifoner lived in Cam-
bridge 7—4. 1 fuppofe he has been in the town
eight years, he lived in my houfe the firft four

years
. Where did he live at the time he was taken ?
A. 1 (uppofe in London; he came from London to.
my houfe that evening.
9. Do you know whether, or not, there are
other perfons of the name of Kidman, befides the
prifoner, Kidman {—/4. Yes, there is another; a

farmer.
2. How
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9. How long did he ftay at yourhoufe before he
went away f—.. He went out that evening.

9. Did he quit your houfe immeaiately, or did
he not remain for three or four days afteri—4, Yes,
from the Tuefday, to the Friday.

9. When he went away, did he not leave word
with you where he was going f—4. Yes.

Q. Did he not leave his boxes with you, to for-
ward them to him f—_/4. Yes.

9. And did you not fend thofe boxes i—/4. Mr.
Mafon brought a note from Mr. Cohen, defcribing
what they were, and I fent them accordingly. _

9. Don’t you know in faét, that he gets his bread
by carrying about boxes?!—.4, Yes; I know he
does.

Mr. Zilfon. You mention another man of the
name of Kidmani—4. Yes.

2. Does he live in Bell Lane!—4. No; it may
be in-the fame parifh.

2. You fay, Cohen lived in your houfe {ome
time '— 4. Between three and four years,

9. How long ago is that?—4. Four years ago,

9. After leaving your houfe, did he livein Cam-
bridge !—4. Yes; at the houfe of Mr. Greef, a
plumber and glazier.

9. Had -he ever a houfe of his own?i—4. Yes,
he lodged along with Greef a year and a half, and
then he moved into a houfe of his own; one that
he hired, in St. Botoiph Lane.

2. How long did he live there i—4. Poflibly, a
year and a half,

2. Did he live there laft Ofcher ?—4. Yes; he
was not gone {fo long ago as that,

9. When did he quit this houfe, and leave Cam-
bridge P —A4. In Ngvember, or December, 1 really
cannot fay,

John
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Fobn Dogzett, Sworn,
Mr. Beff. Q. Youa ea publican, in Cambridge?
A Yes.

ﬂ,"-?__. What houfe do you keep?—4. The Com-
pafies.

2. Have you kept the Compafles any length of
time ?— 4. Since laft Aay, I think.

2. Pray, do you recolle& feeing Cohen at your
houfe, fometime about the latter end of Fanuary laft ?
A. Yes, I think he was.

9. Do rou know what day it was >—4. I cannot
exactly tell the day of the month.

Q. What time of the day was it?—4. In the
middle of the day.

Q. Was itin the tap?—4. In the tap room.

L. Were there any other perfons befides your-
felf and-Cohen?!—4. Yes, there was; I owed him
a little fum of money for fome pots, he came, and
my wite paid the bill; and I could have brought the
bill and receipt, to fhew the day. h

Q. Was there any converfation about the rob-:
beries, and about Kidman being in cuftody ! — 4.
Not at my houfe,

Q. Did you fee Cohen at any other houfe upon
that day, or any other day ?— /4. On Monday, the
2d of February.—The Mayor fent to me,as a con-

{table, to go and meat him at Kidman’s houfe, on
the Monday.

Q. Had you feen Cohen at the Ship public
houfe 7—4, T'hat was on the Thurfday evening.

2. Do you know the day of the month?—4.
The sth, 1 believe; on the 2d 1 was in pofleflion
at Kidman’s, and on the Thurfday following, I faw
Cohen at the Ship, at what we call, a neighbously
club.

Q. Did any converfation take place refpecting
Kidmani— 4. Yes, it was rumoured about the
club, of Kidman being taken,

9. Did
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B. Did Cohen take any part in the converfation?
A. Cohen fat {moking his pipe within the diftance
of a man, or two from me, I had very little open-
ing to talk about it, being a conftable ; but Cohen
came to me, and {aid, s Kidman taken? Yes, fays
I, he is taken—Well, fays he, I don’t know him,
nor I can’t know him.—I have very little to fay
more upon the bufine(s ; I turned the bufinels over,
becaule i1t was not my duty to talk about it,

Q. Does the prifoner fpeak as plain as you do—

Does he fpeak plain enough to be underftood 1 —
A, He {poke fo that I underftood him.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Ailey. ©. This was in a four-penny club !{—
A. Yes.

9. He was a member, was not he?—4. No, he
was not a member ; he came from London.

2. He had been a member !—4. Yes.

2. And you would not admit a man among you,
that you had a bad opinion of, 1 fuppofe—I1 take it
for granted you would noti!—4, To be fure, I
would not.

Thomas Wigginsy Sworn.

Mr, Sery. Sellon. Q. Had you at any time, about
Fanuary laft, any converfation with Cohen, the pri-
foner, refpecting Kidman ?-— 4. No; I had not.

Q. Did you hear any thing pafs from him about
it —A4. Yes. '

Q. When was it —_4. On the 27th of Fannary,
at the Black Lion.

9. Kidman was in cuftody ?—4. Yes.

9. What did he fay F—4. He faid, he did not
know him, and he could not know him ; the com-
pany could not pacify him to know him.

9. How did the converfation arife 7—/4. T don’t
know how it arofe; I heard him fay, he did not
know him, two or three times.

9. Did
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5. Did you {fend for a barber '— /4. Yes.

©.-When was that ?—4, The next morning,

9. Where was it?—4. At the black Lion.

9. Did he fay any thing about him then ! —4.
Yes : . he faid he did not know him then ; s I cleaned
his boots in the morning, and he faid, he did not
know him.

9. In thofe very words a]ways r—A4. Yes,

William Lardner, Sworn.

Mr. Wilfon. Q, Were you in company with

Cohen in Fanuary laft ! —A4. Yes, about the 29th.

\’Vhere was that ?—/4. At the Ship, in the
parc\ﬂl of St. Mary the Lefs, there was fome more
company.

9. Was any thing faid about Kidman? — 4.
Yes; I was enquiring of John Doggett refpeting
the news of the day—1I had been in the country,

What was faid?—/4. 1 do not remember
precifely all the particulars ; he told me, that Grim-
fhaw had been in cuftody, and that he had been in
pofleffion at Kidman’s houfe.

9. Did Cohen fay any thing ?—4. He enquired
what kind of perfon he was, and he feemed to be very
iznorant, and not to know any thing at all of him;

he faid he knew nothing at all of the perfon of
Kidman, he knew nothing of him,

9. Did he fay any thing elfe ?*—~4. No, Doggett
was giving me a defeription of fome crucibles, I
think they call them.

Feremiab Payne, Sworn.

Mr. Byt Q. You live at Cambridge, I believe ?
A Yes.

9. In what parti—4. In Bell Lane, in St,
Giles’s parith.

9. Is that the Bell Lane in which Kidman lived?
A Tes,

L. What bufinefs are you !—4. Al‘dwyer 9. D

0

-



( 49 )

2, Do you work at your own houfe /—4. No;
at different yards in the town.

Q. Have you any (aw-yard belonging to your
houte?—A. It does not belong to me, it is nght
oppofite to the yard belonging to Kidman.

9. Asyou worked at different yards, you are not
always at work in the fame yard’—/4. No,

Q. Did you frequently work in that yard{— 4.
Sometimes one day in a week, fometimes two; juft
as a man wants his work to be done,

Q. Do you know ‘the prifoner at the bar?—/4,
Yes; very well,

Q Have you ever feen him at Kidman's houfe ’—
A. brﬁquemh I have feen him go in fometimes
once a day, fomctimes twice, and fometimes three
times a day, when [ have been at work.

Q. Did you oblerve any thing when he ufed to
go 10 Kidman’s houfe ? — 7. He had a flat box.

. In what manner did he approach the houfe of
KIJman f— 4. He ufed to take a complete furvey of
the Lane before he went 1n.

Q. Can you defcribe a little, the manner in
which he did it!—4. If he faw any body about the
Lane, or at the end of the Lane, he would nor o0
iny he would go up the Lane, pafling Kidman’s
houfe, then he would return, finding the coaft to be
clear, and open the door and go in, and thut it after
him.

2. Did he not knock at the door?—4. No, he
openedlt.

L., What fort of vifits were they as to time ?—

A. 1n general 1n the day time, fometimes in the
morning.

Q. Were they fhort, or long ’—/4. Sometimes a
quarter of an hour, fometimes half an hour, and
{fometimes three quarters of an hour.

2. Had you an opportunity of feeing him, while
you was at work in the yard {—4, Yes,.

E 2. How
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9. How long ago do you think is the laft time
you faw Cohen go into Kidman’s houfe ? — 4. About
feven months, up to this time, as near as I can
guefs,

2. You have told us it was feven months; for
how leng a time before the laft time you faw him,
in the way you defcribe, going into Kidman’s houfe ;
have you feen him paying thofe vilits.—4. 1 have
feen him going in for thefe three, or four years

ait.

. Crofs Examination.

Mr. Alley. . You are a fawyer ?—4. Yes.

9. You fay, this intercourfe which took place,
is about feven months fince the laft time you faw
him!—/4. Yes.

. 9. Thefe vifits were paid in the day time !—4.
es.
&, And this box you f{peak of, he carried pub-

lickly i— 4. Yes. |

9. Don’t you know it is his bufinefs, and trade ?
— 4. It may be.

9. You know he is a pediar, do you not I—4,
He is a Jew, I fuppofe.

9. Do you know that he is a pedlar {—4. Yes;
I faw him with his box, but I cannot fay what was
1n it

9. Did you ever fee Kidman’s wife there? —4, I
faw Kidman’s wife in her own houlfe.

9. You fay, be frequently furveyed the coaft
before he went into the houfe ?—4. Yes.

9. Did you ever communicate that to any body,
befcre you was afked to be a witnefs !—4, No, I
did not; I don’t remember it.

9. Do you now confider it as a {ufpicious cir-
cumitance f—4. 1 don’t confider it at all.

9. Do you, or not now confider it as a fulpicious
circumftance *~—4. 1 do not confider it at all. -

9. Have you no impreflion upon your mind,
whether
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whether it was apparently honeft, or dithoneft. —
Did you think it a fufpicious thing !—4. I {hould
think an honeft man would not do any thing like it.

9. You gave information, I fuppofe, directly f—
No, I did not.

9. You fay, he frequently pafled by Kidman’s
houle, and did not go in!—4. Yes.

. He might have been going ellewhere, you
knowr— 4, Yes.

9. Did you ever fee any body elfe go paft Kid-
man’s houfe, and not go inf— 4. Certainly.

9. When was you firft applied to, to be a witnefs
upon this occafion ?—Who firft applied to you f—
A. Dr. Manfel (ent for me.

9. Was not Mafter Newby the perfon that firft
afked you?—4. No.

9. Have you never had any converfation with
him /—4., Never to my knowledge.

9. You don’t converfe with people, and not
know it ?—4, I never converfed with him upon this
{ubject.

9. Then you have a knowledge, that you did
not do fo’—Have you ever heard of any thing like a
reward '—4, I have feen it in the public Newf-
paper.

9. And you expe&t a good fhare of it, don’t
you ’—4. INo, I don’t expedt any thing of it.

9. Upon your cath, don’t vou expect part of it ?
— 7. 1 don’t know.

9. And that is as true as all you have faid ' — 4.

1 es,
Mary Payne, Sworn.

Mr. Wilfon. 2. 1 believe you are the wife of the
laft witne(s 7 — 4. Yes.

9. You livein Bell Lane 7—4. Yes.

Q. How far is your houfe from Kidmans ?—
A. A very little way, only a gateway parts the two
houfes.

E 2 9. Have
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Have you ever feen the prifoner, Cchen, co
1nto h!dman s houfer—4. Yes.

2. How long is it fince you firft faw him come
to Kidman’s houfe *—4. About three, or four years
ago,

.Sz Do you remember whereabouts was the laft
time you faw him there /—A4. I cannot exaclly fay
what time it was; fome time in the fummer, between
Stourbridge fair, and Wifbeach fair.

Q Did he go often?—4. Yes; I have feen him
go twice, and three times a day, '

Q. Did he do that oftenf—4, Yes; two, or
three times in a week.

9. Did you cbferve any thing particular in his
gouw into the houfe’—/4. 1 have been up at the
windew, and feen him go by Kidman’s door, and if
there had been people in the Lane, he would not
go in; he always caft his eye round to look if any
body (avr him, and if any body did not fee him, he
went in; if any body did {ee him, he ufed to go a
little way up the Lane, and then returned and went
in,

9. Did you fee him turn when he has gone a
little way up the Lane 10 come back {—4. Yes.

9. Has he gone into any other houfe, before he
came back '— /4. No.

. When he went into the houfe, did he ufe to
knock at the door {—4. No, he lifted up the latch
and went in.

. Did he ufe to ftay any confiderable time 1—
A. Sometimes 1 have not {een him come out, and
{fometimes I have,

9. Did he ufe to call for a few minutes, or {tay
a good bit!—4., He ufed to {iop a good bit, when
he was in fometimes three quarters of an hour,

Crojs Examination.
Mr, Alley. @. Was you in court when your

hufband was examined .-—-——-zﬁ’ No. _
.5.2_. Have
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9, Have you got any family at home —4, 1
have got two children.

9. Do you keep a fervant, or mind the houfe
yourlelf ’—4. 1 manage it myfelf.

9. I fhould think with managing your houfe, and
the care of your children, you would not have much
time to mind your neighbours affairs !—4, I hap-
pened to be looking out at the window.

9. Then it was mere matter of accident, or did
vou look out at the window to feek for it?—4.
When 1 have feen him ftop, I ufed to make it my

bufinefs to look after him.
9. Then it was in confequence of fome fufpicion

you entertained, I fuppole, that you made 1t a pount
to watch for him r—/4. Yes.

9. Your hufband knew that you had a fufpicion?
—A. Yes, of his 2oing in, in fuch a manner.

9, Then your hufband had a fufpicion, that all
was not right f—4. Yes. .

9. Do I underftand you correctly, to fay, that
you and your hufband having fome {ufpicion, looked
for the prifoner coming to Kidman’s houle (—/4.
X8,

9, That is fo !—A4. Yes.

9. Did you and your huiband, ever converfe
about it ?— 4. He ufed to fay fometimes, he won-
dered what Cohen could go into Kidman’s heule
{o often for; that he fhould think Cohen ufed to
carry fome {tuff to make Bell Lane fixpences.

9. If your hufband has faid, he had no {ufpicion,
that could not be true r—/4. No.

N 9. Do you know any thing of the reward {—4.

0. _

9. Your hufband is a journeyman, 15 not he r—
4. He is nothing but a labouring man.

9. Has he, or not, the politenefs to read the
Newfpaper to you !—4. No,

B. Can he read }—4. Yes, a little,
E 3 R Not
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9. Not enough to read the Newfpaper ?— 4, No.

Q. You fay, you know nothing about the re-
ward.—1I afk you, has your hufband never told you
about fuch a thing, as a reward f—4. No; I never
heard him fay any thing about it.

9. Upon your oath, has he never told you of it,
before you came to give evidence to day f—_4, He
never tola i1t me.

2. This was a [ecret then, and he does not tell
vou lecrets,—Have you never heard of it about the
town !—/4. I have heard fomething about it, but I
never gave an ear to it.

‘['hen you know there was a reward, for you
have heard of it f—4. 1 heard {omething about it,
but I never took anv notice of it.

2. Did you never hear how much it was?— /4. I
never did.

2. Your hufband is a journeyman?—/4. Yes.

William Vaugham, Sworn.

Mr. Beff. 2. How long have you been acquainted
with Kidman rf—4. About fix years.

9. Did you ever work for him, at a houfe in
Bell Lane?—4. Yes.

Q. What bufinefs are you 7—4, A bricklayer.

o& How long ago 1s it, that you worked for him ?
— 4. About three years ago.

9. Were you doing “infide work, or outfide
work r—A. Infide, outfide and all.

% Do you remember Cohen coming to Kid-
man ’s ?—A. Yes.

. In what way did he come up to the houfe;
how did he enquire after himf—/4. He ufed to
hollow, Dick, if he was near the building.

9. Have you ever obferved any thing of the
manner, in which Cohen ufed to come up to the
houfe !—A. Yes; if there was any body in the
Lane, he would walk by; if he faw the coaft clear,
he would go into the houfe

2. Did
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9. Did he come frequently to Kidman’s, while
vou was at work there ?'—/4, Yes.

9. How many times in a day }—4. I have feen
him twice, at diffecrent times, fometimes three times
a day.

2. Upon his coming and finding Kidman at
home, what did they do’—.4. They ufed to go into
the houfe together.

2. Did you remain prefent with them!— 4. No.

2. What did they do ?—4. They ufed to go into
another room.

2. Did they remain together any length of time ?
—A. Yes, twenty minutes, or a quarter of an hour.

9. Did they fhut the door ?—_/4. Yes.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Alley. 2. You fay, he ufed to call him Dick
fometimes '—Yes.

L. You don’t know perhaps, whether it is the
cuftom of the Jews, not to call people Mr. {o and
{o, but by their chriftian name f{—/4. He ufed to
call him Dick, that is all I know about it.

- (Sarab Kidman called.)

Mr. Alley, My Lord, 1 feel it my duty at this
flage of the trial, ‘to fubmit to your Lordthip, an
objeftion, going not merely to the credit, but to
the competency of this witnels. — It is admitted
fhe is the wife of Kidman, the principal, or fuppofed
principal felon, to whom the prifoner, Cohen, is
charged to have been an acceffory.—That a wife
cannot, generally fpeaking, be a witnefs for, or
againft her hufband, is a propofition not to be dif-
puted ; 1t is therefore unneceflary to ftate the prin-
ciples of domeftic policy, on which this rule has
been eftablithed ; but I will take leave to read an
obfervation of a very learned, and eminent judge. I
mean, my Lord Chief Juftice Hale, who fpeaking
on this fubjedt, fays, * A woman s not bound to
be fworn, or give evidence againft her hufband, in

cale
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cafe of theft, &c. if her hufband be concerned, though
it be material againft another, and not diretly
againit her hufband.”” This is the obfervation of
that great man, as I find it in my note book ; for
from that I am forced to read it, not having the
original in court, as I did not expect a queftion of
this {ort could arife; if however, I flate it.inaccu-
rately, I will thank the learned Gentlemen on the
other fide, to fet me right. As I find no interrup-
tion, 1 muft prefume the fentence is corre¢t 3 and if
this 1s the expreflion of that learped judge, it ap-

pears to me, with humble deference, the woman now
cftered cannot be admitted as a witnefs.—Had the

hufband been tried along with the prifoner, the
queftion would not admit even of an argument : for
in that cafe, though it was in her power to prove
every thing neceffary, towards eftablifhing the guilt
of the acceflory; and though fhe could not fay any
thing tending to criminate her hufband, yet un-
queftionably fthe could not be heard, fuch is the
policy of the law. ‘I'herefore, to enable her to
become a witnels upon the prefent occafion, fome
firong diftinction muft te fhewn, perhaps it may be
faid, as her hufband is already attaint, what {hie
fwears to day, cannot even collaterally affeét him,;
this, if deemed an anfwer, might be given to the
cafe I have juft put; but certainly, even in that
cafe, it would not be {ufficient, However, to argue
thus, can only be begging the queftion, for I con-
tend with humility, her hufband will be interefted
in any thing fhe may fwear to day; to affert the
contrary, would be to belie the impreflion upon my
heart with refpect to the benevolence of the court;
for I cannot but fuppofe, if this unfortunate woman
fhould prove to the fatisfattion.of your Lordfhip,
that her hufband was only a tool, in the hands of
the prifoner at the bar, that in fuch cafe,. thofe feel-
ings which ever appear confpicuous on the bench,

and
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and that philanthrophy which always emanates with
the adjudications of your Lord(hip, would interpofe
between her hufband, and the hand of the execu-
tioner ; that on the contrary, fhould the prove deep
criminality in him (and {he will be bound at the
peril of perjury to fpeak the truth) that in fuch calfe,
all hope of mercy would be loft ; and your Lordfhip
in your juftice would fay, the law muft take its
courfe, Hence, therefore in my opinion, fhe is
deeply interefted, and fo not a competent witnels,
But it may be faid, the record of the prifoner’s con-
viction cannot be given in evidence againft her
hufband, and that therefore the event of this trial
legally, and ftrictly {peaking, cannot injure him.
‘I hat the record cannot in any legal proceeding, be
ufed againft him, I admit; but notwithftanding, it
may operate in the way I have ftated, and therefore
to guard againft fuch difficulty, 1t is, as 1t appears to
me,that my Lord Hale has ufed the term ““concerned,”
on which 1 beg leave to pin my faith; an exprefiion,
if taken in its full extent, decifive in favor of my
objection, and which I humbly contend, is not to
be underftood in a2 limited 2nd confined fenfe; that
1s, when he fays, ¢ the wife thall not be a witnefs in
cafe of theft, &c. if her hufband is concerned.”
He intimates, that on no occafion fhall the be czalled
upen to difclofe his guilt, no matter whether at the
moment of his trial, or that of any other perion;
and therefore 1 infer, fhe is equally incompetent on
the trial of a man, charged as acceflorv to fuch
hufband, though not tried along with him, as {he
would be on the feparate trial of her hufband, who
was charged as principal.

I am aware there is a cafe, at which I obferve the
learned Gentlemen on the other fide are looking,
which may at firil view be confidered as militating
againft me; but on examination, it will be found

rather to operate in my favor. The cafe 1 alludeto
15
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s that of Mrs. Rudd, reported by Leach ; in which
an objection was taken to the competency of a wit-
neis, named P’erreau ; on the ground, that the came
to {peak, impreffed with a hope of faving her huf-
band’s life, who had been conviéted of the crime of
forgery, but that cafe will not apply, being by no
means appofite ; on the contrary, your Lordfhip
will find, that the cafe in which the witnef; was called,
and that on which her hufhand was tried, were totally
different and diffin?, and it was on that ground the
court received the witnefs; for in giving its opinion,
1t {tated, that the bond for which Perreau, the then
witnefs’s hufband was conviéted ; and that for for-
gery, which Mrs., Rudd was tried were different,
and not the fame; but in the prefent cale, the crime
charged upon the prifoner, Coben, participates of
the offence of Kidman, grows from it as it were,
and cannot exift without. So widely, and fo effen-
tially do thofe cafes differ.—My Lord, I thought it
my duty at this time to fubmit the objection, and
beg with humility to repeat, that I confider this
woman as Incompetent, being interefted, and deeply
interefted in the event of the prefent trial ; but let
me {uppofe for a moment, what I hope for the fake
of juftice, could never have taken place; that Kid-
man, the principal, was feduced into a plea of guilty,
under the promife of a pardon, for the purpofe of
giving plaefibility to the prefent attempt. What
would ycur Lordthip fay, it that thould turn out to
be the fact? Would your Lordfhip confider the
conviction againft him, 2s a legal or an honeft con-
vittion, fo far as it leads to the acceflory. 1 hold
in too much refpe&t your Lordfhip’s juftice, to
think that you would confider it {o ; it may be con-
clufive againft himfelf, though obtained under fuch
promife ; but as againit the acceffory it muft, I con-
tend, be legally and {triély proved : for the confel-
fion of the principal cannot operate as againft the

acceflory,
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acceflory, 1t being a pofitive rule, that what one
prifoner fays cannot affeét another, Then, to pur-
fue the queftion, let me atk; fhall this woman be
deemed competent to make out her hutband’s guilt
to day, when fhe would have been deemed inadmif-
fible and incompetent yefterday? My Lord, I have
no more to add, but fubmit my objection with
humble confidence to the determination of the
court,

Mr. Hart. I alfo am of counfel for the prifoner,
and fhall add but few words to what my learned
friend has faid on this (ubjedt.—It appears to me,
that in order to prove this indi@ment, not only the
guilt of the prifoner muft be proved as an acceffory,
but fhe muft prove the crime to have been com-
mitted, and then fhe undcubtedly gives teftimony
againit her hufband; the queftion is, whether the
difability of the wife to criminate her huf{band, arifes
upon the narrow viewof it, that is,intheevent whether
it can hurt him, whether or not, it is in law to be
permitted between perfons ftanding in the relation of
hufband and wife. —I apprehend, there is that union
between them, that the law will ot fuffer to be
interrupted ; if that be fo, it is immaterial whether
the hufband is proved guilty by her, either before
the trial, at the trial, or after the trial ; becaufe in
all thofe cafes the relation fubfifts, which incapaci-
tates her; and as long as that relation fubfifts, that
incapacity {ubfits; I apprehend that rule is not
overturned bw the cafe of Mrs. Rudd, becaufe there
the bonds were different; there was no apparent
rea'on to conclude, that Mrs. Perreau in giving
teftimony againft Mrs. Rudd, would affe& her
hufband ; the offences were wholly different, the
bond upon which Robert Perreau was convicted,
was different from that for which Mrs. Rudd was
going to be tried, and the only queftion that could
arilfe was, whether the remote expe®ation cig thei

oya
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Royal clemency was fufficient to go to her compe-
tency; it was decided, that it could go only to her
credit, it not being neceflary to fubftantiate or to
prove any fact of a criminal nature, either for which
he was to be tried, or for which he had already
been tried.—Upon thele grounds, 1 contend there
is nothing proved by that decifion; and therefore,
that, that cafe will not at all be an authority in the
prefent, becaule the calling Mrs. Perreau did
not affect the relation fubfifting between her and her
hufband ; but the hufband of this woman 1s mate-
rially affeted in the prefent cafe, and as I contend
muft operate to the exclufion of the teltimony of
the witnefs.

Mr. Bevil. My Lord, I alfo as counfel for the
prifoner, have to fubmit one or two obfervations on
the prefent fubject.—I take it, that in all objections
which arife as to matters of law, where different
lines of arcument may be taken, it there are any of
them, that are of lefs effe&t than others, your Lord-
(hip will rather refort to thofe which are the material
points, than thofe which are to be confidered as lefs
applicable to the fubje¢t.—My Lord, the broad rule
by which all queftions of this fort are to be deter-
mined is, that a wife cannot be a witnefs either for,
or againft her hufband ; and if it can be thewn, that
fhe is either for, or againft her hufband, that under
that rule, fhe is not admiflible.—The view then,
that I have the fubjeé, in order to fubftantiate the
point for which r‘contend, is this.—Her hufband
{ftands upon his own confe{lion, convited of a par-
ticular offence; if we are at liberty in an{wering
the charge made againft the acceflory, to fhew no
fuch offence has been committed; and if the event
is fuch, that the crime was not committed, I hum-
bly contend, that would go beyond any thing which
has been ftated, and that fo far from going merely
in mitigation, merely to mercy and compaflion, it

would
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would neceflarily in law, be confidered as a reverfal,
but the verdict might be pleaded in error.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Where is your authority for
that—Is that any thing like law? I fhould like to
know- whether that man, upon his confeflion, is not
a felon conviét,

Mr. Sery. Sellon, T fhall trouble your Lordfhip
with very few words.—I look upon it the whole
diftinction in all thefe cafes, (and this is a diftinction
that ought to be attended to) is whether the objec-
tion that is made, goes to the credit or competency
of the witnefs; that perhaps it may have fome
weight with regard to the credit of the witnefs, I do
not deny, but with regard to the competency, I
look upon it a clear point, that there can be no
queftion, and for this reafon ; thatalthough it may be
unqueftionably-true in part, that they may have a
right to impeach the crime itfelf, fo as to fhew the
impropriety of the former record in this trial: yet 1
contend, that record and conviction will always be
conclufive as between thefe parties; and if that is
conclufive as between thefe parties, it would not be
by any impeachment of that, that the learned Gen-
tlemen could affe&® Kidman, but it would go the
length of affecting the acceflory.—That being the
cale, there cannot be any kind of objection which
can prevail on the ground they have put it, for if
the wife is neither to be brought for, or againit her
hufband, it cannot operate in either way—he ftands
convicted, and fentence is paffed upon him, the
utmolt length they can go, is to merely the prefump-
tion, that the learned Gentlemen think fit to draw ;
namely, that fome bias might be in her mind, that
in cafe of her evidence being given, fome hope
might be extended to Kidman her hufband, that
brings it precifely within the cafe of Mrs. Perresy.
The cafe of Mrs. Perreau is decifive of this.— Mys.
Perrcau’s hufband had been tried and conv;¢ted far

F thie
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the oftence of forgery; and Mrs. Rudd, although
fhe had been an accomplice, and althouuh as fuch
ihe had all the hope of favor, that accompllces have ;
fhe was afterwards put upon her own trial, beca,ulfz
it was argued and determined, that although accom-
plices thould upon certain condltrons have their
pardon, yet if they were not fully complied with,
they were done away, and they themfelves would
be liable to be tried and convicted'—Mrs. Rudd.
under thele circumitances was put upon her trial,
and the very firft queftion put to Mrs. Perreau by
the counfel on the part of the prifoner was, ¢ Is it
not your opinion, that the fate of your hufband will
depend on the conviction of Mrs. Rudd.—Nothing
could be ftronger than fuch a queltion to a witnefs,
provided it was in the affirmative; but fhe fays,
“ 1 am not clear of that,” ¢ Do you not hope, or
expect, that the convition of Mrs. Rudd will be a
means of obtaining your hufband’s pardon?{’” to.
which fhe faid, ¢¢1 have nothing but the truth tofay.”
On being preﬂ'ed to. anfwer the queftion diredtly,
(he faid, ** T don’t hope for the conviction of Mis.
Rudd; T hope Mr. Perreau’s innocence will clearly
appear.” Shc was thea aiked, ¢ Whether fhe did
not apprehend that Mrs, Rudd s conviction would
contribute to procure her hufband’s pardon:” to
which fhe anfwered, ¢ If Mrs. Rudd is found
guilty, 1 fuppofe it "will.—I hope it may be the
means of procuring Mr. Perreau’s pardop.”—If
then, my Lords, fhe did not come to, give evidence
in favor of her hufband, according to the argument
of the learned Gemlemen, I don’t know what it is
to be called—notwithfianding the objection fo taken,
it was argued and determined after confideration,
that (he was a competent witnels, but that it did go.
to her credit.—Upon thefe grounds I Bumbly fub-
mit, that the fate of Kidman is dctermined I
humbly {fubmit, that the reafon of his being namgd
In
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m the rccord at all, and the only principle uporn
which it is neceflary to mention he was found
guilty, 1s for the fake of the acceflory before the
fact, that he fhall be at liberty {till by way of vin-
dicating his own innocence, to (hew no fuch crime
was committed, and therefore he i1s at liberty to
impeach the record—and let me {ee how the judges,
moft properly, certainly have gone the length, with
regard to fuffering the party accufed to impeach the
fact itlelf ; but that is not to be taken on too broad
a ground—Y our Iordfthip will find what is faid on
the fubjedt; asto the record being concluiive in the
cafe of the King and Smith, 1ft Leach 323—there
the general principle is, that ¢“an acceflfory may
controvert the guilt of the principal, notwith{tanding
the record of his conviction,”—*¢ And it was ad-
mitted by Mr. Juftice Gould, upon the authority of
Fofter, that the record of the conviéion of the
principal was not conclufive evidence of the felony
againft the acceflory, and that he has a right to
controvert the propriety of fuch conviétion; for a
record is only conclufive evidence againit thofe who
are parties to it.”’—My Lord, that being the cafe,
the acceflory is left to impeach the record, and it is
{ettled there can be no intercft in a witnefs fo cir-
cumfitanced, except fome little hope that may prevail
in the mind.

Mr. Wilfon. My Lord, I will fubmita few words,
as I.cannot add much to the argument of Mr. Ser-
jeant Sellon.—The authority Mr. Alley has cited,
is from Lord Hale—I need not obferve to your
Lordfhip, that Lord Hale is the moft accurate of all
writers:;; and if there had been any thing more in
his 'meaning, ‘he '‘would not have failed to infert it ;
he lays it down, that where a hufband is tried along
with anether man, the wife fhall not be at liberty
to give evidence againft another.—That is ftrong to
fhew:what my Lord Hale’s opinion was, it is that

¥ if
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1f he was not tried with:another man, that the wife
in that cafe might be a witnefs; there is no reafon
why he fhould have confined it to the fingle cafe of
the bufband being put upon his trial with another
perfon ;3 he would have gone on and faid, if the huf-
baad 1s tried firft and conviéted, and the acceflorv
tried afterwards, the wife may be a witnefs—he
dees not fay fo, and from the multitude of cafes he
nad in his mind, and the care he took to rexprefs
hunfelf, it follows clearly he made that diftinétion.
I underftand he does afterwards fay, ¢ A -woman is
not bound to give evidence againft:another, if her
hufband be concerned” —that may be when -the
hufband is tried with another perfon. Is the hul-
band in this cafe concerned? No; e ;has been
already convicled, -and received judgement:; -and «if
Cohendhould be acquitted on the ground, that.there
was no burglary committed, the record is flill-con-
clufive -againft Kidman ; he is, and ‘he remains.an
attainted perfon, and no.legal confequences rwith
regard to him can.foliow. - 2 PR se Ty
My Lord, if that be fo, all that .can remain;is-an
expectation from-the hope of mercy, and that I-{fub-
mit, brings 1t direCtly to the cafle of Mrs, Perreau,
Kidman 1s an atrainted perfon; and it might be
argued, that in that fituation he can-have no:rela-
tions whatever; for the declaration of the law 1s,
thata felen conviét 1s dead ‘inlaw ;3 and if he is
dead in law, 1 fubmit he cannot:{tand in:relation of
Lhufband ‘to any perfon. 1o legal language, he can-
not be faid to be the huiband, becaufe hehas no
exifience whatever. — If that be f{o, whether :the
hufband is:convitted upon the {fame evidence ‘the
other is:charged ‘on, -or upon difterent ; which was
the cale of Mrs. Rudd, it is -not material, ‘The
queftion 1s, Is the wife under the 1nfluence rof
any hope that may be of confequence to ‘her

hufband. If ‘fhe believes:that her evadence, ;as on
| the
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the trial of Mrs. Rudd, would entitle him to mercy;
‘that is an expectation which would, no doubt, weigh
with the jury in the credit they will give to her
teftimony.—If fhe believes that this will have any
effeét in favor of her hufband, that will be confidered
by the jury; but it is only an expectation, and that
has been determined in the cafe’ of Mrs. Perreau;
therefore, under thefe circumitances, I fubmit an
expectation of mercy is not fuch an objetion as
will prevent her evidence from being received.

Mr. Beff. My Lord, I am on the fame fide, and
am to fubmit upon two grounds, that Mrs, Kidman
1s an admiflible evidence, whatever degree of credit
the court may {uppofe fhe is-entitled to; and 1l can
only put the fame point you have already heard for
your confideration ; namely, that between perfons
{fo circumftanced, no relationthip fubfifts between
hufband and wife. I contend in the eye of the law,
he having been conviéted of an offence, all focial
relations which he bore are put an end to, and de-
termined, and therefore the wife is no longer
excluded from giving her evidence; becaule fhe
owes no allegtance to him, all fort ot connection is
determined between them ; and it 1s fuppofea 1n the
eye of the law, that no fuch perfon exifis as the
hufband ; therefore, the rule which ‘has excluded
the wife from being evidence againit her hufband,
which proceeded from the mutual relation they bore
to each other, for{ocial comfort, is now at anend;
the principle does not apply, there are no premiles
upon which it can operate.

- My Lord, the next ground upon which I {fubmit,
fhe is a competent witnefs, is this y that the evidence
fhe is to give can In no manner affet the record
which now exifts againft Kidman, which is conclu-
five as againft him; 1t is impoflible by any evidence
whatever, that the record againft Kidman can be
difturbed, fhe has not that intercft, fhe can have

F 3 nothing
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nothing more -than expectation, that in cafe fhe
{hould difclofe the whole truth, Royal clemency.and
-mercy may be -extended.—That being the cafe, it
-cannot be contended, that it goes to the competency
of this woman ;.at the fame time it is.admitted on
-all hands, that it may affe&t the credit, that is to be
given to her. Thefe are the two points upon which
I conceive fhe is -competent, and I.thall not trouble
;your Lord(hip with faying any more,

Mr. 7ilfon. I jult with to ftate to your Lordfhip,
‘that {he is not.called to contradi@®, but to confirm
her hufband; ‘he has faid, be is guilty, and fhe is
-¢called upon to fay, what he has faid before.

Mr. Alley (in reply.) My Lord, 1 will not apo-
-logize for offering a few words, in anfwer to what
‘has fallen from the learned Gentlemen on the other
fide ; for confcious I am, it is your Lordfhip’s
-anxious defire to hear every thing, that can be
urged on the difcuflion of a queftion which fo deeply
interelts the prifoner at the bar; and before I pra-
ceed to reply to the arguments of the learned fer-
jeant, I fhall take leave to notice the obfervatian
with which the Gentleman who had juft fat down
AMr. #ilfon), concluded. He faid, if I underftood
-him corredily, ¢¢that this woman was to.be called
not to contradict, but to confirm her hufband, for
he has pleaded guilty, and fhe is called to fay what
he has faid before,” 'T'his is the language of the
learned Gentleman, and it contains in my mind, as
full and decifive an anfwer. to all his other arguments
45 by poffibility can be given; for it implies, that
withowt her evidence, there is not proof fufficient
wiereon to-found a conviflion, if her hufband’s
confeflion is abitralled, What then dces this
amount to? It amounts to neither more nor lefs
than this; that by fome inducement or other, he
has pleaded guilty, and kindly fupplied the defect
of the prolecutor’s procf, and. epabled him to make

L
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up a record of conviction-againt him, the principal,
fo that the acceflory may be called to anfwer; but
let ‘me afk, Is that altogether fair, thall one man
confefs himfelf guilty ‘of a crime, though there is
not evidence {ufficient to convict him, without {uch
confeflion ; and f(hall a record, built on fuch a
confeflion, be taken as the ground work of an
accufation-againft another as acceflory ? I truft your
Lordthip will fay, no; for in fuch proceedings,
there appears to me a violation of the general rule,
which fays, ‘¢ the declarations of one prifoner, thall
not operate fo as to affet another.” What 1 mean
by faying it would violate fuch rule, is this; as the
acceflory is permitted to controvert the guilt of his
fuppoled principal, he is entitled to infift, that the
principal fhould not be convited (as againft him)
on his own confeflion ; and to fay, though he, the
principal, may chule to confefs guilt again(t himfelf,
fo'as to authorize his convittion, yet he has no
right thereby to prejudice, or injure me. But fur-
ther, let me afk, fhall the counfe] for the profecutian
be at liberty to call this woman to fupport what her
hufband has faid, when we, who are of counfel for
the defendant, could not call her to contradi&t him;
and to prove her hufband’s innocence, which on

this charge would be a deference for the prifoner,
.Cohen. |

Mr. Sery. Sellon. There is no doubt you might.

Mr. dlley. 'Then 1 take leave to fay, the Gentle-
-men are blowing hot and cold, and I wil! be bold to
contend, we could not call her whilft her hufband
lives ; but fay the Gentlemen, ¢ her hufband is
dead in law, for he is attaint.”  ‘That he is attaint,
I admit, and that he is dead in law.10 certain pur-
poles, 1 allow ; his child could not inherit through
him, and he 1s dead to many other purpofes ; but I
fubmit he is not dead as a hufband, and that the
marriage union continues undiffolved. Let us ob-
ferve

-
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ferve how the learned Gentlemen argue ; they fay,
that the attaint, that 1s, in other words, ¢ that the
diftrefs and misfortunes of the hufband exonerates
‘the ‘wife from her duty.”” What, my Lord, fhall it
be faid, fhall it go abroad under the facred fan&ion
of 'your [L.ordfhip’s authority, that in the hour of
calamity the wife may defert her duty, may violate
her marriage vow, and annul the folemn engagement
centered into at the altar? Or fhall it not rather be
faid, that the is bound to attend on her hufband in
all poflible circumitances, in every viciflitude of life,
m profperity, and in adverfity; nay, does not the
voice of nature command her attentions more im-
peratively in the latter, than in theformer fituation?
No man can negative the queftion; therefore, I will
not repeat 1it,—DBut it has been faid, further, ¢ that
this woman is at liberty to marry again, even before
the natural death of her hufband.” This is fo
monftrous a propofition, that I can fcarcely think
the Gentlemen were ferious when they made.the
obfervation,—So differently do 1 think upon that
fubjelt, that I contend a fecond marriage, under
fuch circumftances, would be felony, and the woman
might be indicted for bigamy, under the ftatute of
James ; for, as I contend, there are but two ways by
which.a marriage can be diffolved ; the one by pro-
cefs through the ecclefiaftical courts, fanctioned by
parliament, or perhaps by parliament alone; the
other by the hand of death, which ultimately dif-
folves all the deareft connections of human life,—
‘When I am {peaking thus, I am not arguing hypo-
thetically, for my-memory ferves me with a cafe in
which a point pretty fimilar was determined.—It
was a queftion, that arofe upon a parith fettlement,
the circumf{tances of which were as well as I recolleét,
as follows; A man had been conviéted of a highway
robbery, and fentenced to die, but pardoned on con-
dition of fervinginthe army; he enlifted, went abroad,,
- and
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and after he was abfent five years, his wife marnied,
and bad a child by the fecond hufband ; and after
fometime the firft hufband returned; the queflion
was, whether the child gained 1ts father’s [ettlement,
or f{hould be confidered a baftardy and fettled
where born ; and the court of King’s Bench held,
that the fecond marriage was clearly void, and of
confequence, that the firft continued in force.” Let
me then afk, 1s not that cale decifive of the prefent
queftion ! Daoes it not prove, that this woman ftill
continues -the wife of her attainted huiband, and
that in cafe he is pardoned he may compel her, if
{he fhall be unwilling, to return under his proteétion ¢
I humbly contend it does, -and that on this ground
the objection’ ftands unimpeached, for it has been
admitted, that if fhe continues the wife, fhe cannot

be fworn. '

Mr, Serj. Sellsn, 1 never.smentioned the fecond.

Mr. Alley. I have not attributed the expreflion
particularly to the learned Serjeant, but it was made
ufe of, and indeed the whole {cope of the argument
for the profecution intimates nothing elle. How-
ever, to recur to the argument fir{t adopted by the
learned Serjeant, he has contended, that becaufe the
record of‘the prifoner, Colhien’s conviétion cannot
be .ufed againft this woman’s hufband ; fhe is a
competent witnels perhaps, generally {peaking, fuch
an argument might be adopted ; but to all general
rules there are -exceptions, and the prefent cafe in
my mind furnifhes a {trong one to fuch rule; and
for this reafon,-that if this woman is fworn to day,
{he becomes a witnefs 1a 2 caufe, in which fthe could
not-have been offered as a witnefs yefierday, nor
at any other time, had this profecution been con-
duéted as is ufual, and the prifoner, Cohen, charged
as aceeflory, wried with her hufband who was accufed
as prineipal. -And 1n truth, it appears-to me In
every inflance, ‘that the learned counfel for the pro-
fecution,
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fecution, have built their argumeénts ‘on erroneous
aflumption; they have taken that for granted, which
they were not authorized to'affume, and ftated, and
broadly too, a fact which has led them aftray s
namely, that onithe trial of the acceflory, they need
not prove all the facts neceffary to fhew the guilt
of the principal, which [ contend, muft be fully
afcertained ; firft, a burglary muft be proved; next,
that fuch burglary was committed by Kidman the
fuppofed principal; and laftly, that the prifoner,
Cohen, did in the language of the indiétment, felo-
nioufly incite, move, procure, aid, and abet Kidman
to comimit the faid burglary, and all this by a witnefs
competent to be {worn on Kidman’s trial, ‘which it
1s not pretended this ‘woman could have been,—
Under -this impreflion, I have fubmitted the ob-
jection to your Lordfhip, and fit down, humbly ex-
pedting your Lordthip’s determination in my favor.
Mr. Fuftice Grefe. 1 thall thortly give my opinion ;
with regard to this objeétion, madeas to the com-
petency of ‘the witnefs § which is, that the wife of
the hufband cannot ‘be a witnefs in‘any thing that
fhall affeét the bufband, who fiands convi®ed on
this record ; it is faid likewife, that fhe has an in-
tereft. Now with regard to the irtereft, fhe has
undoubtedly, the cafe of Mrs. Perreau comes com-
pleatly up to this; for if there is-any intereft, the
jury will confider how far it affe@s her credit, but
it certainly does not affect her competency. Then
1t comes to the firft queftion, whether or not the
witnefs can give evidenice in a cafe where, upon the
record her hufband is mentioned, for itis no more
than that her hufband is mentioned as a-perfon con-
victed, and as a perfon dead in law ; for I take it,
that a capital conviét is dead in law. Let us for a
moment {uppofe he is-not dead in law, and that firft
of all the prifoner at the bar was not attaint ; what
would be the effe¢t of this record upon the former?
none,
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none, for it only fays, it appears on the record, that
the principal offender is convidted ; and fuppofe
him convicted, what does it prove, that it corref-
ponds with the former record ; for upon the former
record he appears to be convicted, and it confirms
it; it don’t feem, by any poflibility to affect the huf-
band ; then if it does not, I cannot conceive, why
this woman is not competent ; I certainly, as at pre-
fent advifed, fhall hear her evidence, and if any
thing fhould ftrike me refpe&ing the bias on her
mind, I {hal] ftate it to the jury,and leave them to judge
of the credit due to her; but as, at prefent advifed,
I cannot find out how fhe is fwearing any thing that
will affect the guilt, or innocence of her hufband,
becaufe at prefent that puilt, or innocence cannot
be altered by any verdict in this cafe ; no judgment
1n this cafe can ever avail to fet afide the ‘judgm_em;
in the former, by which he is faid to be a felon con-
vict.—If a cafe is decided in which it is faid, that a
witnefs in fuch a fituation as this cannot be. heard,
I can only fay, 1 am not aware of it, it IS new, to
me. If I bad reafon to doubt vpan it, of courfe I
fhould give him the benefit of that doubt ; at pre-

fent I am clearly of opinion fhe is a competent
witnefs.

Sarah Kidman, Swarn,

Mr, Serj. Sellon. 2. You are the wife of Richard
Kidman '—4. Yes.

2. Where do you live’—4, In Bell Lane.

2. How long have you lived there !—4. Between
eight and nine years.

2. Do you know the prifoner at the bar, Cohen?
— 4. Yes, I do. *

2. How long may you have known him?—4,
Better than four years.

2. Has he been in the habit of vifiting your
hufband ?=—=4. Yes, a great many times.,
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9. How often?—4. Generally, upon the average,
once, or twice a week. ,

9. Atany times oftener than once in a day ?—
A. Sometimes twice in a day. '
- 9. Are you f{ure from what you have feen, that
they were inthe habits of intimacy with each other?
A. Yes, they were.

2. Do you remember at any time, and when,
hearing Cohen fay any thing to your hufband re-
fpe&ting Caius college ?'— 4, Yes, Ido,

2. When might it be—about what time }—/4.
It was a great while before the robbery.

Q. What robbery f—4, The robbery at Cajus.

<. What was it you heard him fay?—/4, He
wifhed him to go to rob Caius college.

Q. Does your recolleftion ferve, whether he
mentioned the name of the college ?—4. Yes, he
did.

Q. Did you ever hear him more than once talk
about it f — 4. I have,

Q. Did your hufband in your prefence make any
objection to it, or fay any thing about it *—/4, He
has.

2. Can you mention any day, or times, at all?—
A. 1t was fometime before the robbery.

.92; You fay your hufband has made objellions,
and faid fomething on the fubjeét?—4. He has

faid, he did not like to go, he was afraid.

2. Did you hear Cohen tell him how he might
g0, in what way, and with whom he might go I—
A. He firft perfuaded him to go with Grimfhaw.

2. What I am now afking you is all relating to
Caius college ? — 4, Yes.

2. Do you mean to fay, it was about Caius col-
lege!—4. Yes.

Q. What did he fay to that?—4. After Grimfhaw
and he had gone feveral times together, he perfuaded
my hufband to go by himfelf,

and
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2. Who perfuaded him to go by himfelf?—4.
CD_}]EH. "

Q. Did you ever-hear your hufband te]l Cohen
any thing as to-the fuccefs of their having been to-
gether’—/4. Yes, he told him, that they had been
together, and Cohen did not think Grimthaw a pro-
per perfon to be trufted.

2. Did you ever hear your hufband tell Cohen
of any difficulty in the bufinels?—4., Yes, they had
a great deal of difficulty.

2. What did you hear him fay?—4. That-they
had a difficulty to get into Caius college.

Q. Did he fay in what way?—4, In the way of
making the keys and fitting them.

Q. Was it at that time, that he perfuaded him to
co by himfelf, and faid that Grimfhaw was not a

proper perfon?—4, After they had partly gone
through the bufinefs, he did.

X, He did what?—4. He perfuaded him to go
by himfelf.

2. Did he give a reafon to Kidman, why he
withed him to go by himfelf?— 4. Becaufe he
thought Grimfhaw would flaunt about with the
money, and it would be difcovered; that he would
{pend 1t too faft.

Q. Did your hufband give any realon, why he
could not go without Grimfthaw !—4. He gave a
reafon, that he was afraid Grimfhaw would difcover
1t,

9. Who faid fo ?—4. My hufband faid fo.

2. Did your hufband give any reafon, why he

could not go by himfelf /—4. He was afraid Grim-
fhaw would diicover it. "

Q. Why !—4. Becaufe they had been fo many
times together, that Grimthaw would fufpe& him—
Grimfhaw would fufpe& my hufband committing
the robbery, if he went alone.

G 9. Did
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9. Dia Cohen then fay any thing ?—4. Cohen
faid, if my hufband had any plate in the place he
would buy it of him, and Cohen faid, he would take
care that Grimfhaw fhould not {ufpe&t him.

9. Did he mention in what manner he would
take care Grimfhaw fhould not fufpe&t him?— 4.
Grimfhaw exprefled a defire to go and fee his fon,
in the Cambridgethire militia.

Q. Did he fay where?—4. At Ipfwich.

9. You are telling us, that he faid, Grim(haw
would fufpe& him; and added, that Cohen faid, he
would take care he fhould not, becaufe he had ex-
prefled a defire of going to fee his fon at Ipfwich,

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. How was that to prevent his
dilcovering it !

Mr. Serj. Sellon. 1 want to know how that was
to prevent Grimfhaw fufpecting your hufband ; did
Cohen fay any thing more about it {—(No anfwer. )

9. Did he fay any thing more than merely exprefs
a defire to fee his fon?—4. He did not fay that be-
fore the robbery was committed.

9. Do you know whether he went to Ipfwich,

or not’=—A4. Yes, he did.
9, By what means!—/4, Cohen gave him a
guinea,

9. When was it =4, A little while after Caius
robbery.

9. Was he gone at that time?— 4. He was not
gone at the time the robbery was committed, he
went a few days alter.

9. Do you know when Cohen gave him the
ouinea f—4. I cannot fay the day.

9. Did you fee him give him the guinea at all ?
A. 1 heard him fay fo.

Mr. Alley. Was it Grimfhaw that faid fo, or
Cohen?’—4. Cohen faid fo.

Mr, Serj, Sellon. Can you tell me, whether he

gave
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gave him a guinea in point of fact, or not!—4. He
faid a few aays after the robbery, that he had given
Grimfhaw a guinea to go to Ipfwich.

Q. Was Grimthaw then at Ipfwichi—4, No,
he was not. |

2. Did you fee Grimthawi—4. I did not fee
him myfelf,

9. How do you know he was at Ipfwich ?—(No
anfwer. )

9. Did Cohen fay at what time he had given him
the guinea ! — 4, Not particularly ; he faid he had
given it. -

Q. Can you tell; whether any thing more pafled
between Cohen and your hufband before the rob-
bery, as to any agreement to commit the robbery ;
was any thing more faid ?==/4. Nothing more before
the robbery, any further than he came a great many
times, and perfuaded him to go and do it.

Q. The firft time was fometime before the rob=
bery?—A4. Yes.

2. How near was the laft time to the robbery ?—
A. But a very little while ; not more than a day or
two.

Q. Did Cohen at any of thofe times fay any thing
to him as to the plate, or any thing of that kind /—
A. He f{aid, if 1t was got he would take 1t away and
pay him for it.

Q. In point of fa&, do you know of your huf-
band coming home any day, and when, with a
- quantity of plate’—4, I cannot fay the date in
particular,

Q. Was it a day or two after Cohen tried to
perfuade him to rob Caius college!—4. Yes, it
was.

Q. What time did be come?—/4. He came
home about three in the morning.

Q. What quantity was it ?— 4, A great deal,
G 2 . W hat
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What was done with it ?—.4, It was put
under the cellar ftairs.

Q. Was the whole of it put there !~—4, The
whole of it was put there.

2. How long might it continue there !—/4. Tt
continued there but a very few days, I cannot pofi-
tively fay when it was taken out; it was melted all
but a few articles.

Q. Was it melted in your houfe!—A4, Yes.

2. At that time did you fee any thing of Grim-
fhaw !—4. No; Grimfthaw was at Ipfwich at the
time 1t was melted. -

Q. At the time the plate was melted, Grimfhaw
was at Ipfwich f—/4. Yes, he was.

Q. Did your hulband come home alone }—/4, He
did, fo far as I know ; 1 was in bed.

. You fay it was melted 7—4. It was melted.

% Some few articles were not?—4, A few
articles were not, -

Q. Tell me any one, or two that were not !—
A. There was a dozen tea {poons of one fort, and
there was a pint pot. ;

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Should you know the pint pot
again, if you was to fee it !—4. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Sellon. Look at that?—4, This is the
fame pot, and thefe are the fame {poons.

9. Are this pot, and thefe fpoons, part of the
quantity of plate, that your hufband brought home
at three o’clock in the morning f—4. They are.

Q. Do you remember where this pint pot and
thefe articles were, at the time they were found by
Dr, Manfel 7—4. 1 do; they were found under
the garret floor.

9. Was that the place they were firft put into?
A. That 1s the firft place they were put into, after
being taken from under the ftairs.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. 'They were put firft under the
ftairs, and then taken up to the garret floor. .

Lo,
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Mr. Serj. Sellon. At this time, was Cohen- at
your houfe frequently, I don’t mean the day you
had the converfation, but juft before the robbery ?—
A. Yes, he was.

9. Did he bring any thing to your hufband, for
the purpofe of this bufinefs 7—/4. Nothing particu-
lar ; he did not bring any thing particular to him.

- 9. Do you remember a day or two after, Cohen
bringing any thing particular ?—4, No, I do not.

2. What were they melted in?— 4. They were
melted 1n a crucible, they call it.

Was it vour hufband’s own?—4. Cohen
bought it for him before that time.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. When did he bring the cruci-
blef — 4. I cannot fay particularly; he brought
two. |

Mr. Serj. Sellon. Did Cohen afterwards come as
he faid he would, to do any thing with this plate !—

4. He came to buy it of him.
£. How long after it had been melted r—d. 1

cannot pofitively fay the day he had the firft away ;

I can fay when he paid the firft money for it.

9. When was that ?—4. The gth of November.
9. Do you mean to fay the money he paid, was

for fome of the plate, that your hufband brought

home that night?—/4. It was.
9. How much did he pay him?—4. A hundred

pounds ; in ten pound bank notes.

Mr. Alley. 'This is certainly evidence of a fubftan-
tive, and 2 diftinct offence.

Mr. Serj. Sellon. 1 mean to couple the faéls.

Mr. Fuftice Grefe. 1t goes to fhew that he is the
perfon ftated in the inditment; it is evidence of his
receiving the plate, the paying 100/. is evidence,

Mr. Hart. 'The only queftion is, whether you
can prove one felony by another. '

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. No, no; the truth is, 1t is
only part of a number of tranfa&ions, conftituting
one tranfaction as you may call it,

G 3 Mr-



( 78 )

Mr. Sery. Sellon. You fay, they were 10/. notes?
A. Yes, ten 10/, bank notes; I took them into my

hand, and they were never out of my pofleffion till
1 delivered them to Mr. Newby,

l}

Q. Was that the time they came to fearch the
houfe f — 4, It was afterwasds.

Q. What time was it 7—4. I cannot pofitively
fay what time it was, it was a day or two after the
plate was found.

Q. How many of the notes did you give up to
him:—4. I gavehim fix ten pound notes; I did not

give the whole ten, but only fix, four were changed.
| Crofs Examination.

Mr. dlley. Q. You fiand quite at your eafe I fee,
Do you know that your hufband is at this moment
under fentence of death ?—( No anfwer. )

Q. You don’t underftand my queftion quite fo
well as you did the other Gentleman's; do you

know that your hufband is under fentence to be
hanged r— 4. 1 do not know it,

2. Do you mean to fwear thai?

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. 1 underftand what fhe means
to {wear, 1 cannot but feel for her; fhe does not
know exaltly what the word fentence is.

Mr. Alley. Do you, or not know, that your huf-
band was found guilty yefterday, of an offence for

which he is to be hanged P—_4. 1 don’t underftand
the queftion,

- &, You know what it is to be hanged, don’t
you f—( No anfwer.)

Q. Do you, or not know the fat?—4. I come
here to aniwer to the truth.

Q. Who was it applied to you, to come to give
evidence here to day ? —(No anfwer. )

. Youdon’t underftand that, do you f—4. No.
r. fuftice Grofe. Who applied to you to come
here to day P—(No anfwer.)

.% Who defired you to come here to day e
4. A Gentleman, M

(]
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~ Mr, Alley. Who is he, do you know t—(Np an-
fwer. ) |

2. Do you remember his name, or not ; if vou
recollect it, fay foi—( No anfwer. ) ‘

Mr. Fufiice Grofe. Is the Gentleman in court, do

vou {ee him.

Mr. Sharpe. It was me, my Lord; I am clerk to
the Attorney

Mr. Alley, 9. Ty Mys. Kidman. Atthe time that

he applied to you, had you any converfation with
him, more than defiring you to come here to day f—
4. No more than he gave me a paper, |

Q. Had you any converfation with him ?— 4. He
merely gave me a bit of paper.

2. He did not tell you what you was to come
here to day for ?— 4. He never fpoke a fingle word.

2. Can you read !—4. I can read a little.

L. Could you read what was written in that
paper f—4. I can read the moft part of it.

Q. Did you apply toany body to read it for you?
A. No, I.did not.

2. Do you mean to fay, that without any infor-
mation and without its being read to you, you knew
what you was to do; and that you was to come
here to be a witnefs.— 4. 1 came upon the paper.

Q. Do you mean to fay, you had no converfa-
tion '— 4. I had none.

L. You never got the fubpcena read by any body
elfe ’—4. 1 did not.

Q. That you mean to fwear '{—/4. I do.

2. You have never had any converfation with
that Gentleman at any other time?—/4, 1 do not
know him.

Q. When was it he gave you that paper—Have
you got the paper with you f—_4, 1 have not,

2. Did any body tell you any thing about what
might be the confequence of giving evidence to day,

whether
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whether it would be good or bad for your hufband?
— 4. Nobody.

9. T afk you, whether any body faid, it would be
good or bad for your hufband, for you to come for-
ward to be a witnefs againft Cohen ?—4, I had
nobody faid any thing to me.

(M. Alley defired Mr. Newby to flep out of court. )

. How long have you been acquainted with
Mr, Newby ?—/4. I have not had any acquaintance
with Mr. Newby to fignify.

Q. How long have you been acquainted with
Mr. Newby?r—A4. No further than {peaking.

2. Have you had no converfation with Mr,
Newby upon the fubject of this trial *—4. No.

2. 1 afk you, upon your oath, do you mean to
fwear you never had any converfation with Mr,
Newby upon the fubje& of this trial 7— 4. No.

Q. Did he never tell you, that it would be well,
or il for your hufband, if you gave evidence to day ?
A. Noj; how thould he know.

9. That will not do—Do you mean to fay, that
Mr. Newby never faid any thing to you with refpect
to the confequence of your evidence to day, as it
might affe¢t your hufband. —4. No, nothing at all;
he told me nothing about it.

9. Did he not tell you, that you might procure
your hufband’s pardon?—_4. No, he did not.

Q. Did any body elle ever tell you fo?!—4, No;
nor any body elfe,

Q. I afk you, did any body elfe fay any thing to
you, from which you might conclude, that your
hufband’s life might be fpared by your coming for-
ward to day!— 4. No, nobody faid any thing
about it.

Q. Was Mr. Newby with the Attorney’s clerk,
when he came to you with the paper !—4, No, he

was not,
9. When
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9. When did you laft fee Mr. Newby —4, I

faw him walking about as other people did.

9. 1afk you, when was the laft time you faw
Mr. Newby, before you faw him in the court i—.4. 1
cannot {ay particularly the minute.

9. Did you fee him this morning {—4. I faw
him walking about like other people ; I don’t know
nothing no more about it,

9. 1 afk you again, do you mean to {wear you
don’t know when you faw him ?—(No anfwer. )
Y.Q. Did you fee him this morning, or not?—A4.

£l

9. I afk you, do vou mean to {wear you have
only feen him walking up and down, as other people
do?—4. I know I am on my oath to fpeak the
truth, :

9. Do you mean to {wear, you had not feen
Mr. Newby, excepting when he was walking as
other people do?—/. I have not feen him to have
no converfation with him.

Mr. Fuftice Grafe. Have you had any converfation
with him ?¥—4. 1 have not.

Mr. Ailey. Did you fee him any where but in the
ftreet -~ (No anfwer.)

" 9. Was you at the prifon this morning !—A4.

Q.

9. Did you ever {ee him at the prifon, in com-
pany with your huiband i—4. No.

. Have you never gone with Mr. Newby to
the prifon to your hufband f—(No anfwer. )

9. Do you mean to {wear you have never gone
with Mr. Newby to the prifon to your hufband f—
A. (After confiderable befitation) 1 have gone with
him once.

2. Have you gone with him more than oncer —
(Vo anfwer. ) '

2. I afk you, have you gone mere than on'cg

wit



( 82 )

with Mr, Newby to the prifon to your hufband ? =
(No anfower. ) |

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. Anfwer the queftion; have
you been with Mr. Newby more than once to the
prifon to fee your hufband F—-4, Yes, I have.

Mr. Alley. Have you not been frequently ?—4, I
have been twice.

2. More than twice P—4. 1 don’t know that I

have,

Q. Will you (wear, you have not been more than
twice >—. I cannot fwear any thing about it.

2. You can remember what happened fix or
feven months ago, but cannot recolle how often
you have been with Mr. Newby to your hufband in
the prifon, fince he has been confined ? —( N an-
Sfwer. )

2, Well, T will not prefs you—Do you mean to
tell me, that you have not had repeated converfations
upon the fubje@ of your hufband pleading guilty,
and your being a witnels here?—4. No, I have not
about that. B e B

2. For what purpofe did you go with Mr. Newby
to the prifon '—4, I went with him as a neighbour,

&, You went with the witnefs againft your huf-
band as a neighbour.—Do you mean to {wear, that
that 1s the truth ? —( No anfwer, )

2. Do you venture to fwear that?—( No anfwer. )

9. Did you not tell me this moment, that you
was only flightly acquainted with him; and now
you tell me, that you went with him to the prifon
to your hufband as a neighbour; did you not fay
for—4. 1 had leave to go with him.

9. Leave from one of the magiftrates, was it
not f—/4. 1 had an order.

2. Had you not an order to go for the exprefs
purpole of perfuading your hufband to plead guilty,
and for you to be a witnefs !—4, No, I did not.

Q. When
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2. When was it that you received an order ?—
A. Sometime ago.

Q. I afk you, for what purpofe did vou go to the
prifon ?—4. On purpofe to fee my hulband.

2. Upon your cath, did you go for no other pur-
pofe with Mr. Newby, who accompanied you ; for
there was no occafion for him to accompany you to
{ee your hufband ?—/. I did not like to go by my-
{elf.

2. You did not like to go by yourfelf, and there-
fore he accompanied you to the prifon ?—/4. I never
had no occafion to go to a prifon before.

2. I alk you again upon the oath you have taken,
did you not go to the prifon with the intention of
perfuading your hufband to plead guilty, expeing
his life might be faved in confequence?—/4. No, I
did not; 1 have not taken any oath about that, I
come to {wear to the truth of the robberies.

2. Do you mean to fwear you did not go to the
prifon, for the very purpofe of endeavouring to per-
fuade your hufband to plead guilty ?¥— 4. No, Idid
not go to perfuade him.

2. Did you defire him to do it?—4. No; why
fhould I defire him to do it.

Q. Did you ever hear fuch a thing from Mr,
Newby !—4, No, I did not.

L. Did you not hear him fay it would be better
for him to fafe his life ?—_4, No, I did not.

2. Did you never yourfelf fay fo ?—4, No, I
did not take any oath about that, | |

2. I warn you, if you fwear what is not true,
that you will be indicted for perjury.—Upon your
oath, did you not endeavour to perfuade your huf-
band to plead guilty to the indi¢tment againft him-
felt 2—( Mg anfwer. ) -

2. Did you, aye, or no, perfuade your hufband
to plead guilty to the indi&tment?— ( No anfwer.)

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. You muft fpeak ; did you or
not perfuade your hufband to plead guilty-—Anfw}er

the
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the queftion truly and honeftly 7—4. 1 did perfuade

him.

Mr. Alley. Then how dare you jult now f{wear,
that you never faid any thing about it; I will not
make you perjure yourfelf any more, 1 will leave
ou.

. Mr. Serj. Sellon. Q. To Dr. Manfel. This wo-
man had an order to go to the prifon ? —4. Yes.

9. Did you defire Mr. Newby to attend her ! —
A. 1 believe Mr. Newby fuggefted it himfelf, it was
a general order ; I had given diretions that nobody
fhould have accefs to the prifoner.

Q. Who is Mr. Newby?—4, He is the chapel

clerk of Trinity college.

9. Have you got in your polleffion the bank
notes f— /4, No, | never had them.

Mr. Wilfon. 2. To Mr. Newby. Have you got
in your poflefiion any bank notes '—4. Yes, ] have.

9. How did you come by them?—4. I took
them by the defire of the magiftrate from Mrs,
Kidman.

9. Was that at the time the houfe was fearched?
—A. It was two or three days after.

9. Did you receive them from Mrs. Kidman in
- the prefence of the magiftrates ?—4. No, in the
_prefence of two witneffes.

9. Was Dr. Mantfel prefent then !—4. No.

9. Or any of the magiftrates ?—4, No.

2. When you received the notes, who did you
deliver them to?—4. I received the notes of Mrs,

Kidman before Charles Claydon and John Taylor.
I put them up in a letter, fealed them up, and deli-

vered them before the fame witnefles to the Vice-
Chancellor.

Q. To Dr. Gretton. Did Mr, Newby deliver any
bank notes to you?—_4. He delivered me a parcel,
which I wrote upon myfelf; thefe are the individual

notes, which Mr. Newby gave into my pofleffion.
| ?' 1
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9, 1 believe that is your hand writing ? =4, Yes,
I fwear to it.

. How long did they remain in your cuftody ?
- . A confiderable time ; I thould think near three-
weeks. | |

Q. To whom did you deliver them ?—4. I de-
livered them back to Mr. Newby unopened.

9, To Mr. Newby. When you received them
back again, how long did they remain in your cuf-
tody ?—4. They have remained in my cuftody ever
fince they were opened at Guildhall, in London,
before the {itting magiftrate.

Mr. Alley. 1 will admit they are the notes found
in Mrs. Kidman’s poffeflion.

Crofs Examination.

Mr. Alley. Q. We have already heard, that you
are the perfon, who has been o active in diftributing
thefe bills, as well as on other occafionsi—4, 1
have circulated fome of thefe hand bills.

Q. Do you know what reward there is in this
cale ’—4. Not any reward at all.

2. You live in the college ?—A4. Yes.

2. Do you mean to {wear, there is no reward f —

A. T'here have been offered at different times many
rewards.

9. Youdon’t know that there is a large reward ?
A, 1 know the reward is duc to no one.

2. You know it is not due until it is earned,—
Do you not expedt to earn a part of the reward by
giving evidence to day?!—/4. I do not. |

£, That you mean upon your oath to fwear ? —
Ao 1 8o,

L, Have you and Cohen been upon good terms?
—4. We were never upon bad terms, we have
always been upon good terms, as far as 1 know.

2. Have you never quarrelled, and has he not
threatened to complain to the Univerfity of your
conduct towards him {—A4. Never in his life.

H 2. tas
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2. Has it ever happened, that you made any ap-
plication to him to borrow 3, 4, or 5c0/. for a
certain young gentleman, and did you not {end him
to London, in confequence of that application, to
negociate a certain fum for a particular perfon; for
whofe name 1 have too much refpe& to mention it?
—A4. No.

9. You are fure of that ?—4, Yes.

9. Did you not promife to give Cohen two gui-
peas '—4. No.

Q. Did he never go to London for your?—/4.
No; I applied to Mr. Lyon.

9. Then it was not to him, but to a friend of
his ?—4. 1 cannot fay; I applied to him mylelf, 1
accompanied the perfon who made the application.

9. Did not the prifoner go to London by the
direétion of Mr. Lyon at your inftance; was you not
to pay him for the journey?—4, I don’t know that
the prifoner went to London ; he faid he did. |

9. And upon that a quarrel arofe?—4. No; no
quarrel. _

9. Did he not apply to you to pay the two gui-
neas’—4. No.

9. Did you pay him !— A4, No.

2. Did he ever apply to you!=4, He applied
to me, to apply to be paid.

9. Now, my good Mr. Newby, in confequence
of his application which you refufed, did he not
threaten to complain to the college !—4. No, not
to my knowledge.

9. Did he noti—4. Never.

9. Have you ever been in prifon with Cohen ? —
- A. Once I have.

9. How often did you go to fee Kidman !—4, I
do not know how many times; 1 don’t know at all
how many times; I might go many times to afk
him how he did, and [o forth, |

9 Let us know what that fo forth is—What do

you
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you mean by fo forth?—4, If T had any queftion
to afk Mr. Kidman, I went to afk him.

%i( Did you go for no other purpofe than merely
to afk him a queftion’—4. No.

NQ; Was he an old acquaintance of yours?—4.

0.

9. Pray how came you to go to afk him quefl-
tions ' — 4. To afk him queftions upon this buli-
nefs, which was the plate bufinefs.

Q. The wife of the prifoner accompanied you
two or three times.,—How ofien did you go toge-
ther !—/A4. Once or twice fhe applied to the magif-
trates to fee her hufband, and (he begged of me by
a note to go with her.,

L. Did you not yourfelf go, for the purpofle of
perfuading bim to plead guilty, and confeis the fact?
—A4. Never.

Q. Did you ever go into the prifon to enquire
after the health of any other prifoner !—4. I have
afked him after the health of Cohen, and after the
healths of fome debtors. -

Q. Have you ever been philanthropic enough to
alk after the healths of any other felons till this
time P—/4. I went to fee Mr. Cohen feveral times.

£. Did you not go for the very purpofe of induc-
ing one, or the other, to confefs their guilt?—4. I
never made ufe of any fuch words.

9. Do you mean to {wear, that you did not go
with an]g {fuch defign !—4., As what defign.

2. Do you mean to fay, that you went to the
prifon, not with an intention to obtain fomething
that might be evidence againft him, or to induce him
to confefs’—4, I went two or three times in order
that I might be able to make fomething out refpect-
ing the bufinefs of the plate, which it was my duty
to do.

Q. Youwent, you fay, for the purpofe of extract-
ing evidence from him i—4. Yes,

3 2 Mr-
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 Mr., Allep. Then I will not afk you more quef-
110NS.
Sarah Grimfhaw, Sworn.

Mr. Beff. Q. 1 believe- you are the daughter in
law of Grim(haw, the chimney {weeper }—4. I am.

9. Do you remember your father in law leaving
Cambridge, for the purpofe of going to Ipfwich ?—
A. At that time I lived at Ipfwich.

Q. Tell me, whether he came there in Qc&ober
laft r— 4. He did.

2. About what time !'—4. About the middle of
Obieber. '

Q. How long did he ftay 7¥—/4., He came on the
Monday night, and went away on the Wednefday
morning.

2. Yourhufband, his fon, was in the Cambridge-
fhire militia '— 4. Yes, he was.

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Prifoner at the bar, you have
heard the evidence againft you; what have you to
fay in your defence?

Prifoner. My Lord, I am not guilty of the- of-
fence; when I came on Tuefday, the 27th of Fa-
nuary, as foon as 1 came to the club, they mentioned
a man was taken up; 1 faid, I do know him ; but
they might underftand me, I don’t know him, as I
{peak different from other peopie.—1 went to ano-
ther: place, and there I beard again, Grimfhaw was
taken up —that was T hur{day morning.—Mr. Smith
told me, fays he, ¢ I have juft been up to the ex-
amination of Kidman;”’ I told him, I know him very
well, for he mended fomething for me.—On Thur{-
day a man fays to me, ¢ Let us take a walk down
to the Ship,”” and there was a girl in the boufe, and
there 1 heard of it again ; more than that, 1 went to
the ith market, where a perfon came to me, and
faid, ¢“ I heard you was taken up ;* fays I, ¢ What did
you think I was taken up for ?”” fays he, ¢¢ 1 did hear
fo;” fays I, I would thank vou to tell me who told

b
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you fo;” fays he, ¢ Cohen, it is not worth while, I
would not fay a word about it, if I was in your
place.”—I did not fay, I did not know him, I can-
not fay no fuch thing, for I acknowledged 1t before-
the juftice, and never denied it. It was Thur{day
when [ came into the town, and I told them how
long I fthould ftop in Cambridge.—I was going on
a journey with a man, and that man I afked; for
they faid he went away this morning ; when 1 went
away to Godmanchefter, near Huntingdon. 1 left
my boxes here, and meant to come back with this
man on Sunday; and he was to take a journey with
me to the place where I was going ; when I thought
it was no ufe going back again, I fent for my goods.
It I had been guilty, or done any thing of the kind ;.
or if I had any fuch conne&ion with this man, I had
a days march before them, and could have got away
without fending to tell where I was.—I was not
taken up till the Wednefday week following.

Mr. Alley. 1 have witnefles to prove the fact of
his leaving his box, and fending for it; but as that
is admitted, I will only call witnefles to character.

William Evans, Sworn.

Mr. Hart. ©. Where do you live ?—4. At the
Greyhound, in St. Andrew’s parifh in this town.

9. How long have you known the priloner ?—
A. Five or {ix years.

9. During this time, what has been his gegeral
chara&er for honefty; did you confider him as an
boneft man !'—A4. Perfedtly fo.

Charles Thorpe, Sworn.

Mr. Hart. @. How long have you known Cohen?
— 4. Eight years; the hrft four years he lived along
with me, [ never knew any thing againft him.

Charles Conftable, Sworn.

Mr. Har¢, Q. Where do you live?—4..In Cam-

bridgea
H 3 2. How
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9. How long have you known the prifoner,
Cohen — 4. Five or fix years.
2. What s his character as to honefty }—_4, He

has always dealt with me, and I confider him as an
honeft man.

. Charles Yorke, Sworn.
Mr. Hart. Do you liye at Cambridge ' —/.
Yes. -

Q. How long have you known the prifoner f—
A. Five or {ix years.

L. During that time, what have you to fay about
his honefty ?!—/4 1 don’t know what to {ay about
ity he always paid me for what he bought of me.

2: Did you confider him an honeft man?—/4
Yes.

Thomas Markham, Sworn.

Mr., Hart, Q. Do you live in Cambridge?;—
A Yes, I do.

L. How long have you known Cohen — 4. Five

or fix years ; 1 always confidered him to be 2 very
honeft man,

| George Freeman, Sworn.
Mr. Hart. 9. Do you live in Cambridge ?— 4,

Yes; I have known the prifoner in Cambridge for
foihe years.

£. What is his chara@er for honefly f— 4. 1
never heard a bad chara&ter of him; I went to fetch
him from March, to 2pprehend Mr. Cohen.

Q. What was his conduct '—4. He behaved

himielf as well as a2 man could do.

2. Did he difcover where his boxes where }— 4
Certainly; he difcovered every thing —they were all
fealed up and brought to Cambridge.

Swinton Steddart, Sworn,

Mr. Hart. @, Where do you live }—/, 1 live in
Cambridge, and have known the priloner about two
years ; the laft two years, I always Jooked upon him
to be an honeft man,

George
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Gesrge Chapman, Sworn.
Mr. Hart. ©, Where do you live '—/4. 1 live
at the Unicorn, and have known the prifoner about

{ix years; I have had fome dealings with him, and
always confidered him as an honeft man.

Fohn Wettenball, Sworn.

Mr. Hart. Do you live in Cambridge, and de
you know the prifoner !—4. I live in Bridge Street,
I have known the prifoner about five years ; I never
heard any thing but an honeft chara&er of him.

Mr. Alley. My Lord, we have a number more
witnefies to character, but I do.not think it neceflary
to trouble the court with any more,

Summing u?,

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Gentlemen of the jury. —This

ind:¢tment charges Henry Cohen, as an acceffory
before the fa&t, in felonioufly, and malicioufly
counfelling, commanding, ard procuring Richard
Kidman, who has been convi&ted of felony and bura
glary, in ftealing plate out of Caius college {o to do.
Now, Gentlemen, it was truly flated to you, that in
offences of this fort, there may be three degrees ;
there may be tlie man who is the principal, who
{teals or commits the a&t; the man who perfuades

him to commit it, but who is not prefent, and who
1s called the acceffory before the fat; there may be

another perfon who receives the prifoner, knowing
he committed the felony; and there is likewife
another, which is, if 2 man receives goods, knowing

them to be ftolen, he is made acceflory after the
fact,

Gentlemen, You obferve on the face of this in-
diflment, that the prifoner is neither accufed of
having committed the robbery, or of receiving the
felon ; but he is accufed of counfelling, advifing, and
procuring Kidman to do that; for which Kidman is
convicted and condemned.—Therefore, the charge
you have to tryis this; —Kidman has received

judgment
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judgment of law to die, having committed the bur-
clary ftated in this indi¢tment; and the prefent
prifoner is charged with procuring him (Kidman),
to commit it; whether he did procure Kidman to
commit the burglary, i1s the queftion you have to
try. I will read the evidence to you ; but the moit -
material witnefs is the wife of Kidman, and I fhall
only beg of you, as I proceed, to attend to every
thing, that you conceite tends to corroborate her
evidence.—Under the examination you have heard
from her, the muft {tand in a light, refpedling which
it is for you tojudge. _ If fhe is fo deferving of credit,
as to make it no difficult matter for you to fay, that
the prifoner is guity of the felony of which he
fiands indicted, you will pronounce him fo, by your
verdict; but I have no difficulty in faying, that if
you are of opinion fhe does not deferve credit, then
the prifoner ought to be acquitted.—You will at-
tend to the evidence of all thofe perfons, who in
your opinion have faid any thing that corroborates.
her evidence.

Gentlemen, They firft give evidence to prove
the felony committed, which is proved by the re-
ward ; but at the fame time, they thought it proper,
and it was proper, notwithftanding Kidman con-
feffed he was guilty of the felony, to fhew that he
was guilty of it by evidence, as well as by the record
you have heard read.

Gentlemen, Elizabeth Wilfon ftates herfelf to be
the wife of the butler of Caius college, that on the
night of the 13th of Ofsber, the buttery was {ecured:
in the ufual way—the buttery is in the college,—they
left a candle and candleftick juft by the board, infide
of the buttery, which they blew out.—She fays, the
next morning the fervant went to the buttery, who
foon after fent for her; that the went and found the
buttery as ufual; but tells you, that both doors of
the plate clofet were open; fhe fays, part of the

plate
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plate was gone, and part left ; that what was gone
the is {fure was there the night before ; then fhe fays,
there were feveral candlefticks and other articles
mifling; particularly a pint mug, which by her
defcription, is the pint mug defcribed in the indi&t-
.ment,—She fays, there had been the candle burning
in the clofet, in a_filver candleftick, which fhe left
in a metal candleftick the night before in the but-
tery ; that it was half a candle which fhe left, but
that it was quite burnt into the focket in the morn-
ing,—On her crofs examination, fhe {ays, 1t was
about half paft 8 o’clock when fhe went 1n the
morning to the plate clofet, it was then day light;
and, Gentlemen, to be fure it might happen that the
buttery was broke open after day light, but I think
you can have no doubt of the burglary, for this plain
reafon, if it had been day light, they need not have
had a candle.

Mr. Alley. 1 beg your Lordfhip’s pardon, the wit-
nefs faid, that even in day time they muft have a
candle in the clofet. '

Mr. Fuflice Grofe. Gentlemen, It was fo {aid ; but
when I find that 2 man, for that muift have been the
cafe, carries with him probably a tinder box for the
purpofe of lighting a candle, it is for you to judge.

John Fabb fays, he is under butler; that he was
at the buttery on the night of the 13th of Uffsber ;
Mr. and Mrs. Wilfon were there, he obferved Mr.
Wilfon faften the door of the buttery in the ufual
manner before he came out; he obferved half a
candle in a metal candleftick—the next morning, he
went to the buttery, and found the door ajar; that
he then went to the plate clofet, and found both the
doors open; that he mified a number of articles,
and among the reft, a mug; that he took notice of
a candle and candleftick, left the night before ; that

the candleftick was left, but there was no candle;
. that,
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that he found a filver candleftick in the clofet, which
had had a candle burnt into the focket,

Doc&or Manfel is then called ; who fays, that he
went to fearch the houfe of Kidmanj where they
found crucibles, tools of various kinds, and a num-
ber of keys; that the next day, in confequence of
information they had received, that plate was con-
cealed, a particular board was taken up, and a
quantity of plate difcovered ; amongit the reft, he
obferved 2 mug, which belonged to Caius college.—
On his crofs examination, he fays, there was time
enough between the robbery, and the fearch, to have
difpofed of the plate; and he fays, the prifoner
admitted he knew Kidman; this was a day or two
after the fearch, Gentlemen, You will obferve
there was a queftion put, whether there was not
time enough to difpofe of the plate before the fearch ;
that queftion was certainly material, when you are
called upon to prefume the offence was committed
from the circumftance of the place where the articles
were found ; but, Gentlemen, though there was time
enough to difpofe of the plate, you will recolle&
this circumftance, that the man who had fo fecreted
1t up ftairs, where it required great force to get at
1t, would have no reafon to think it would be dif-
covered ; and therefore it might be an eafier thing
for the man who had ftclen it, to conceal it in his
houfe, than to difpofe of it—that feems to anfwer
what was faid on the crofs examination.

Then the Vice-chancellor is called ; he fays, he
has got the articles which were found at Kidman’s;
that they were brought to him at the lodge by John
Newby.—Then John Newby teils you, he fearched
Kidman’s houfe, and found the plate concealed
under the hearth, and alfo a number of keys.—
Gentlemen, Thofe are remarkable, for they are the
fort of things you heard of yefterday ; they are falfe

keys,



( 95 )

keys, nobody can fee them without obferving that
it 1s probable the plate was ftolen by the affiltance

of thofe falfe keys, and by the perfon who could
make thofe keys.

Gentlemen, The next witnefs is the Rev. Dr.
Belward, and I afked him particularly the name of
the college, to fee whether it was properly named
in the indictment; it is enough for me- to tell you
it 1s.—He fays, he is the malter of Caius college,
which has been robbed of plate to the amount of 4
or 500lb. weight.

- Dr. Belward. My Lord, I beg leave to correét
myfelf, 1 fhould have {aid about 140lb. weight.

Mr. Fuftice Grofe. 1 don’t think it fignifies much,
whether a man is guilty of ftealing s5olb. weight,
s5oolb. weight, or 140lb. weight.—Dr. Belward then
fays, he was at Kidman’s houfe-when it was fearched,
that there was a quantity of plate found; amongit
which was a pint mug, upon which there is en-
graved the Rev. Henricus Hubbard, to denote that
it was the gift of Mr. Hubbard.—On his crofs ex-
amination, he fays, the buttery is part of the dwell-
ing houle, and that examination was meant to fee
whether the houle named in the indiétment, was not
improperly called the dwelling houfe.—All I can
{ay is, that you will have no doubt about it being
properly laid —it is properly laid as the houfe
of the college; it i1s laid as the dwelling of the
mafter and fellows; and if it is not the dwelling
houfe of one or other, then there can be no in-
di¢tment for burglary in any of the colleges.

Gentlemen, Before I go any further, I will ftate
that the evidence thus far, has been given for the
purpofe of corroborating the record, that a burglary
was committed in the dwelling houfe of the college
of Caius, and I think this evidence corroborates the
{tatement in the indi&tment,—T he record which you
have heard read, would be conclufive evidence, 1f

you



( 96 )

you did not hear any other to confirm it j thercfore,
affifted by this evidence, there is no doubt the col-
lege of Caius was broke open, and a burglary com-
mitted in it.— T hey then go on with other evidence
to affect the prifoner, who has not hitherto been
affeCted. They call firft of all James Whiley, who
fays, he was at the Black Lion in Cambridge ; that
in fanuary laft, he was in company with the pri-
foner, Cohen, when a converfation took place about
the robbery at Mr. Butcher’s, and about Kidman
being in gaol.—Gentlemen, All this is material,
when you come to confider whether the prifoner
was totally innocent of the offence—it is very mate-
rial, becaufe he fays, the prifoner was there; who
{aid, * he did not know Kidman.”—If that was
true, to be fure it was totally immaterial to him,
whether Kidman had committed the robbery, or
not ; but if he really had known him, and he afferted
a falfity, by faying, that he did not know him, you
are to judge whether it might not be for the purpofe
of preventing any fufpicion falling on him; and if
it was, you will judge whether he did not feel him-
felf confcious a little, that from the conne&ion
between them, there might be grounds of {ufpicion.
He fays, fomebody faid, Kidmanlived in Bell Lane;
to which the prifoner made no anfwer.—On his
crofs examination, he fays, that the converfation
took place at the public houfe; that he was quite
{fober at the time, and that he never told any body
He was not.—I prefume, that fomebody would have
been called to contradiét him in that fact, but nobody
1s called.

Charles Thorpe is the next witnefs; who fays,
he keeps the Black Lion public houfe ; that he re-
members Cohen being there on the 27th of Fanuary,
after Kidman was taken up; that fome perfon faid
there was 2 man taken up for ftealing plate; that

Cohen faid yes; he knew it, for that the coachman
had
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bad told him fo; he alked what his name was, to
which the witnefs faid, his name was Kidman, and
that he lived in Bell Lane; the prifoner faid, he did
not know him, and afked the witnefs what fort of 3
man he was, who told him he was a rough fly
looking man; to which the prifoner replied, he did
not know him, or where he lived. You are to fay,
whether that was true; and if it was not true, for
what purpofe he faid it.  On his crofs examination,
he fays, the prifonerlived in Cambridge eight years ;
that he lived in his houfe four years, that he came-
from L.ondon that evening ; that he knows another
perfon of the name of Kidman, who is a farmer; and
that the prifoner remained at his houfe three or four
days after this. Gentlemen, This is certainly a
material falt in favor of the prifoner, for if a man is
confcious of having committed an offence, it is not
likely he would ftay in the place where the offence
was committed, and where in all probability an
enquiry would be made; and his ftaying there,
(hews that he feels unconfcious of any offence, and
therefore is not likely to have done the thing that
is charged. It 1s allo material, that when he went
away, he left his boxes and a dire@ion where thev
were to be fent. Now, Gentlemen, The purport of
this crofs examination feems to be like his defence,
and you will give him all the benefit of that faét.
you will confider his ftaying there, his leaving his
boxes, and a direction where they might be fent:
and by which it might be known where he was to
be apprehended; if he was guilty, it does not appear

to be the conduct of a guilty man certainly.
Gentlemen, John Doggett is then called ; he fays,
he is a publican in Cambridge; that on Monday
the 2d of February, he was fent for as conftable to
Kidman’s houfe; that on the Thurfday following
he faw the prifoner, Cohen, at the Ship public
houfe, at a club; that a converfation took place re-
1 fpecting
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fpeCting Kidman being taken up, that Cohen fat
fmoking his pipe within the diftance of one or two
from him, and that he afked him, whether Kidman
was taken, to which the witnefs faid, yes.—Well
fays Cohen, £ don’t know him, nor I cannot know him ;
upon which the witnefs fays, he declined any further
converfation on the {ubject on account of his being
a conftable,

Thomas Wiggins fays, he was at the Black
Lyon, on the 27th of Fanuary, that he heard Cohen,
{ay, he did not know Kidman,

William Lander fays, he was at the Ship public
houfe in Fanuary laft, when Cohen was there ; that
he was enquiring of John Doggett about the news
of the day, who told him, that Grim(haw was in
cuftody, and that he had been in pofleflion at Kid-
man’s houfe; upon which Cohenn enquired what
kind of perfon he was, and appeared not to know
any thing of him.

Gentlemen, They then examined a number of
witnefles to fhew you, that although Cohen f{aid he
did not know Kidman, yet that aflertion 1s not true,
for that he knew him very well.

Jeremiah Payne fays, he lives in Bell Lane, and
1s a {fawyer; that he knows the prifoner at the bar,
having feen him at Kidman’s houfe, one, two, or
three times a day. Gentlemen, This is the man
who when he is afked after Kidman, appears to be
a perfect ftranger; and who fays, he does not know
him, he cannot know him. 'T'he witnefs fays, if
the prifoner faw any body in the Lane, he would
not go into Kidman’s houfe, but pafs by it, then he
would return, open the door and go inj; he fays,
that he fometimes ftaid a quarter of an hour, or
three quarters of an hour, and that the Jaft time he
faw Cohen go into Kidman’s houfe, was about feven
months {ince. " On his crofs examination he fays,
thofe vifits were paid in the day time, that he never

gave
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gave information of it to any one, for that he did
not confider it as {ufpicious at that time.

Muary Payne was the next witnefs; the fays, fhe
is the wife of the laft witnefs, and that Kidman’s
houfe and her’s nearly adjoin ; fthe fays, {he has feen
the prifoner often go into Kidman’s houfe, that the
firlt time the faw him do fo, was three or four years
ago ; that the has feen him go in two or three times
a day, but that if any perfons were 1n the Lane he
would not go in; that he always caft his eye about,
and if any body faw him he went up the Lane, and
then returned ; {he fays, fhe has {een him go paft,
and return, and then go in, without going any
where elfe. On her crofs examination, the fays, (he
has two children; that fhe and her huiband did fuf-
pect, when they faw this man proceeding in this
way, that all was not right, and that her hufband
ufed to fay to her, he wondered what Cohen could
oo into Kidman’s houfe {o often for; fhe fays, fhe
has no knowledge of a reward.

Then, Gentlemen, William Vaughan is called ;
he fays, he knows Kidman; that about three years
ago he was at work at his houfe, as a bricklayer,
and remembers Cohen frequently coming there and
calling Dick, which was Kidman’s name.—This is
evidence to induce you to doubt very much, whether
what Cohen faid concerning his knowledge of Kid-
man can be true or not, for he went to his houfe
frequently, under very f{ufpicious circumitances
indeed, if you believe thofe witneles.

Gentlemen, Next comes a witnefs the moft ma-
terial of all ; for hitherto nothing bas been brought
home to the prifoner at the bar, to fhew that he was
an acceflory before the fact.—By an acceflory before
the fa¢ty, I have told you is meant the perfon who
advifes, or procures the felony to be committed.—
You find the prifoner under very fufpicious circums=
ftances, walking up and down near Kidman’s houle,

I 2 yet
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vet there is no evidence of his having perfuaded
Kidman to commit the burglary and robbery.—You
heard a great deal of difcuffion, whether the was a
competent witnefs; 1 thought the was, but I (hall
leave the credibility of her to your good judgment,
for certainly fhe does not come before you without
fufpicion—ihe comes before you as a witnefs, who
probably by her evidence mav affift to fave her hul-
band’s life; confidering her as the wife of a man
who is under the fentence of the law, and confider-
ing her as having that bias, which an unfortunate
woman may be fuppofed to have, under fuch cir-
cumitances; you are to look at her evidence and
jay, whether you will give credit to her. 1 will
read to you her evidence, and you will ufe your
zood fenfe and fay, whether you are perfedlly fatif-
hed, that you believe what fhe fays.

Gentlemen, She fays, fhe is the wife of the unfor-
tunate Kidman; that fhe has known Cohen about
four years, who has been in the habit of vifiting her
hufband very often.—That he withed Kidman to
go and rob Caius; college ; the fays, fhe does not
remember the exact day and time when it happened,
but it was fometime before the robbery, that her
hufband made an objeélion, and faid he did not like
to go, as he was afraid ; thatafter he had gone feveral
times with Grimfthaw, Cohen perfuaded Kidman to
go by himfelfy as he did not think Grim{haw a pro-
per perfon to be trufted ; for this reafon, becaule he
thought he would frend the money too fait; that
Kidman faid, he could not go without him, for that
he would difcover him, as they had been (o often
together, and he would {ufpet him; upon which
the prifoner faid, he would take care he fhould not
difcover him, for that he had a defire to go to fee
his fon, who was in the Cambridgefhire militia, at
Ipfwich, and he would fend him there; for which

purpofe, he gave him a guinea.=~5he is corroborated
11
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in that circumftance by another witnefs.—She fays,
nothing more pailed before the robbery, except that
the prifoner agreed to buy the plate.— She fays, the
recolleéts her hufband went out and returned about
three o’clock in the morning, with a great deal of
plate ; the whole of which was put under the cellar
itairs, and afterwards part of it was melted at their
houle, all but a few articles.— As to melting it, you
will recollect there was evidence of a crucible being
found ; which circumf{tance in fome degree, corro-
borates her in her ftory.—She fays, Grimfhaw was
at Ipfwich when it was melted.—The pint mug and
{fpoons are then fhewn her, which fhe fays, are the
things that were found at her houfe, and part of the
plate her hufband brought home.—She fays, that
Cohen came afterwards and bought the plate; that
the firft money he paid, was on the gth of November,
when he paid 100{. in 10/. bank notes, fix of

which 1¢/ . notes have been produced to you.
Gentlemen, It is very material for you to attend
to this evidence.—If you find her prevaricating 1n
her evidence ; if fhe gives evidence. in which fhe 1s
not corroborated fairly and clearly, to be fure it is.
not fit you fhould fay, the prifoner at the bar fhould
die for this offence; for to be fure, the perfon who
comes with fuch 2 bias as fhe does, ought to tell a
ftory which you feel yourfelves warranted in believ-
ing throughout, On her crofs examination, fhe
fays, that nobody told her it would be good for her
hufband, if the was examined.—Now, Gentlemen, 1
begin to doubt by what I fee afterwards, whether
that is true.—She fays, there was no converfation
upon the fubjelt of the trial between her and the
perfon who fubpcened her; that he never told her
it would be good for her hufband if {he was examined
to day, nor did any body elfe tell her fo.—Gentle-
men, | very much doubt that, becaufe 1 think it 1s
hardly poflible, but what the muft have underitood,.
i3 and
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and did underftand, that the probable effe& would
be of her doing juflice, that her hufband’s life would
be faved, that feems to be the true reafon why fhe
does it,—She is afked if the had feen M. Newby ;
fhe fays, fhe had feen him in the fireet walking
along ; fhe then afked, if the never faw him in the
prifon with her hufband ; to which fhe {ays, I never
faw him in the prifon; the is prefled very much
upon that, and at laft fhe fays, I went with him
once.—Then, Gentlemen, what the faid before is
not quite true;—and fhe afterwards fays, I have
been there more than once, but I don’t know that
I have been there more than twice; I have not been
to talk about my hufband pleading guilty, I only
went with Mr, Newby as a neighbour.—Gentle-
men, He did net feem to me, to be that {ort of
neighbour, who was likely 1o go with her without
it was for fome purpofe; and Newby himfelf fays,

it was for the purpofe of finding out fomething.—
She 1s then afked about zn order fhe had from the

magiftrates when fhe went to fee her hufband, and
whether fhe did not go to perfuade him to plead
guilty—fhe fays thus, I did not go to perfuade my
hufband to plead guilty, I never defired him fo to
do, or did Mr. Newby in my hearing, — After that,
there is a paufe, and a great deal of very proper ex-
amination to get at the whole truth; queftions were
put which fhe did not anfwer readily ; to anfwer
which fhe was prefled again and again by the coun-
fel, and prefled again and again by me, at laft this
queftion was put.—Did you perfuade your hufband
to plead guilty 7—her anfwer at laft was after all that
hefitation, “1 did perfuade Lim.” Gentlemen,
Undoubtedly you fhould confider that, and weigh
well with yourfelves, what credit you will give to
fuch a witnefs as this, when you recollect that the
Iife of the prifener refls in your hands on her tefii-
mony.—1I need not repeat to yeu, that upon her

evidence
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evidence principally, you are to fay, whether he is
guilty, or not.—Dr. Manfel tells you very fairly
and honorably, that he gave her an order, and it is

very proper he f(hould give her an order to fee her
hufband.

John Newby fays, he is chapel cleik to Trinity

o

college; he produces the bank notes given to him
by Mrs. Kidman, and I underfiand it to be admitted
by the counfel for the prifoner, that thofe bank notes
were the notes given him by the woman.—Newby
on his crofs examination tells you, he has heard
lomething about a reward, which has been very

properly offered ; indeed it is fo confiderable, that
he mult have heard of it, but you are to confider

whether thefe witnefles are biafied by that, or not.
I cannot fay, that it occurs to me to be {o with re-
gard to any of the witnefles, except as to the woman,
who has admitted her motive.—He tells you, he
never has quarrelled with Cohen, nor did Cohen
ever threaten to complain to the Univerfity of his
concuct ;—after a good deal of examination he tells
you this, that though there was no quarrel between
bim and Cohen, there was fome difpute about two
guineas between him and one Lyon. He gives you
the account which you have heard, and it appeared

to me, that he might as well have told the whole
of the ftory at firft, I think he might.—Whether

from the manner in which he gave his evidence you
think you can give credit to him, it is for you to
judge.

Gentlemen, One more witnefs is called for the
purpofe of corroborating the teflimony of Mrs.
Kidman, which is Sarah Grimfhaw.—She fays, fhe
is the daughter in law of William Grimfhaw ; and
that fhe remembers her father in law being at Ipf=
wich in Odober laft.—This evidence is to {hew,
that that part of the ftory of Mrs. Kidman is true,

relpecting
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refpecting Grimfhaw being perfuaded to go to
Ipfwich, while the plate was melted.

This 1s the evidence on the part of the profecu-
tion, and I muit repeat to you, that what I call the
fringes of this profecution are proved.—The great
queftion is, whether the prifoner at the bar is guilty
of procuring Kidman to ecommit the robbery; and
if you lay out of the cafe the evidence of the woman,
to be {ure the prifoner muft be acquitted; for the
moft material circumftances are told you by that
woman ;—then recollet, you are to determine upon
the credit of her evidence, whether you will conviét
the prifoner.—I muft beg you to take into confidera-
tion the manner in which fhe fometimes anfwered,
fometimes not at all, at other times fhe anfwered
evafively, at cther times the paufed, and at other
times fhe gave an anfwer which afterwards the con-
tradiCted.—1I would have you colleét all thefe cir-
cumftances, and weigh them together—1 fay this
to you, becaufe as I have faid to you on another
occafion, if you are irmly perfuaded, that the prifoner
did commit this offence; it is due to the country to
fay, he fhall fufferforit; but refting as the matter does,
on the evidence of Mrs. Kidman, if you make a paufe
and confider it a doubtful matter, whether he is
guilty, or not ; then you {hould refer to the evidence
the prifoner has called to his charalter ; namely,
nine witnefles, who all fay they think him an honeft
man.~— After having given fo much evidence to
character, the counfel for the prifoner very wifely
faid, that calling twenty more witnefles juft to prove
the fame thing 1n the fame words, does not tend
to {tirengthen the cafe of the prifoner.—If you fhould.
be of opinion, he has a good charaéter from the
teftimony of thofe nine witnefles, whether they are
corroborated by ninety more, does not fignify one-
farthing.~—1 always thought if I could get one or

tWOo.
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two credible witnelles to prove the charalter of 2
man, that evidence is juft as good as the evidence
of a hundred.

Gentlemen, I have told you before, this cafe
feems to reft more particularly on the evidence of
Mirs. Kidman; I have commented upon her beha-
viour; all I fhall fay further, is this, if from the
evidence and from the behaviour of that woman,
vou think fhe tells a true honeft ftory, and that {he
is corroborated as far as it is reafonable to expect
fhe fhould be corroborated; in that cafe you ought
to find the prifoner guilty; but if you paule, or
doubt about it, God forbid that a man’s life thould
be taken away upon doubtful evidence ; that 1s, on
the evidence of a witnefs, whofe credit is doubtful ;
it would be your duty, not only to the prifoner, but
to the public to acquit him.—Lay your heads to-
gether, and ufe that wife difcretion which 1 have
obferved you to ufe on former occafions.

The jury having retired for about half an hour,

returned a verdiét of—=NOT GUILTY,

The prifoner was detained on another indi¢iment,

DG § S

The fentence paffed on William Claydeny and William
Grimfbaw by Mr. Fuftice Grofe, was as _follows.

Prifoners. You, and each of you, have been con-
vited of feveral offences, for which by the law of
the land you are dcomed to die ;—whoever has
heard the evidence brought to prove your guilt, can
make no doubt of the propriety of the decifion of the
jury.—It is melancholy to obferve, that men like

yourfelves, who could live by honeft labor, {hould
refort
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refort to rapine and plunder, living upon that which
is the produce of the induftry of honeft men.—Your
cafe, William Clayden, is not of that aggravated
nature, that induces me to fay, certain mercy, upon
certain terms, may not be extended to you; but
when I fay that, I mean that mercy will be extended
in cafe it fo pleafes him in whofe breaft alone that
prerogative lays.—As to you, William Grimfhaw,
your’s is a very different cafe ; thofe who have heard
of your extreme guilt in rapine, plunder, and every
thing that is bad ; muft perceive that it is abfolutely
neceffary for the good of fociety, that example fhould
be made to prevent fuch evils in future.—It is not
for me to hold out to you, even a glimmering of
pardon, in order that other men may not commit
like offences; the law upon you muft be executed ;
you have now lefs to do, you know what your fate
1S to be, and recolleét that in the courfe of a few
days you muft neceffarily appear at another tribunal,
before that tribunal where the hearts of all men are
laid open, where nothing will be concealed, and
where the fum and fubftance of all your merits will
be more minutely confidered. — Prepare then for
that moment, Repent, and be faved ; for know, that
by proper contrition and repentance, you may expect
hercafter that mercy from the Father of all, which
we dare not extend to you.—I muft now pronounce
upon you the dreadful {fentence of the law; which is,
that you William Clayden, and you William Grim-
fhaw, be taken from hence to the place from whence
you came, and from thence that you be taken to the
place of execution; and that you be each of you
hanged by the neck, until you are dead.—Prifoners,
may the ﬂord have mercy on your fouls.

J HE



THE KING

AGAINST

HENEKY COHE N,

July 22, 1801.

Mr. IVilfon. AY it pleafe your Lordfhip.—~
Gentlemen of the jury.—This
is an indiGment againft the prifoner, Henry Cohen,
for an offence of a very high defcription, and pro-
bably I need not ftate to any of you, that for a
number of years paft, robberies to a great amount
have been committed in the town of Cambridge;
and that vaft quantities of plate have been taken
from different co]leges in confequence of which,
diligent enquiries were made, and a long time
clapfed before any intelligence could be gained ; a
length, however, the profecutors were more fuccefl-
ful, and the two perfons principally concerned in
thofe robberies, were convited at the laft aflizes ;

one of the name of Richard Kidman, who is now
under f{entence of death; and the other named
William Grimfhaw, who has fince been executed.
Gentlemen, We all know very well, that thieves
and robbers could hardly be able to carry on their
bufinefs (and particularly in offences of this fort,
where plate to a large amount is the fubject of the
robbery ), unlefs thc} were aflifted in it by a fet of

people
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people more dangerous than any other; namely,
thofe who receive from them the produce of thole
robberies.—In the prelent inftance we propole to
fhew you, that the two perfons 1 have mentioned,
were affifted in this way, by a man of the name of
Cohen, a2 Jew, who now ftands before you ; we fhall
fhew you, that in the night of the 13th of Oétaober,
or early in the morning of the 14th, the buttery of
Caius coilege was broke open, 1t having been pro-
perly fecured ; and that plate to the amount of many
hundred ounces was taken away by Kidman alone,
and for that offence Kidman was at the laft aflizes
convicted ; which plate, when it was fo taken by
Kidman from Caius college, was fold to Cohen.—
I thould inform you, that Kidman lived in a place
in this town, called Bell Lane; and when he got
the plate home, after melting it (as 1t will appear by

the evidence) in crucibles, furnifhed by Cohen, the
prifoner, it was carried by Kidman to Cohen’s

houfe, who at that time lived here;—the price
agreed upon between Kidman and Cohen I do not
know ; but it will appear, that he paid him 50/. in
oold, and 5o/. in bank notes at one time ; and that
at another time he paid him 100/. in 10/ . bank of
England notes,—four of them I believe had been
changed for his own purpofes; but fx of thele in-
dividual notes which Cohen gave to Kidman were
found in his houfe, and will be proved to you to be
the identical notes given to him with this intimation §
that they had a day or two before that, iflued from

the bank to Cohen’s correfpondent.
Gentlemen, The charge againft Cohen is, that

he was an acceflory after the fact, by receiving thefe
goods knowing them to have been ftolen.—] {ftated,
that Kidman had melted the greateft part of the
plate, and carried it to Cohen’s houfe ; but there was
a part not melted, which was found under the floor

of Kidman’s houfe; — a part of that plate will be
produced
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produced before you, and it will be diftin&tly proved

to have been plate belonging to Caius college;
therefore, with regard to that, there will be no
doubt but the principal part of this cale will be to
fix upon Cohen, that he was concerned in this rob-
bery, by receiving the plate and payinz for it, know-
Iing it to have been {tolen; and for that purpofe, we
fhall call to you the wife of Kidman, as a witnefs;
fhe has been examined on this bufinels before, and
will be called again;—we propofe to eftablith by
her evidence the falts I have ftated; the will tell
you, that Cohen was in habits of intimacy with her
hufband, and that he ufed to come frequently to
her houfe where he faw him.—To her telliminy
we fhall add other, to thew the way in which he
ufed to come; not open, unguarded, and undifzuifed
as a man goes when he has no bad purpoie in view
but that he went therein fecret; in the day time, it
is true; yet always when he went, which was fome-
times twice or three times a day, he looked round
to fee whether any perfon obferved him, and if any
body was in the ftreet he paflfed by the houfe, went
on till the coalt was clear, then turned back, and
went into Kidman’s houfe.—Mrs. Kidman’s evi-
dence will go to prove the faét of a long conne&ion
between Cohen and her hufband, and converfations
between them refpelting the actual receipt of the
plate, and the payment for it, as I before mentioned.
Gentlemen, It may be {aid, that the comes under
fufpicious circumitances, for the muift admit, that
fhe knew of this robbery as it was going on, and it
will be faid, that fhe being a perfon under thofe
{ufpicious circumftances, amounts to thewing that
fhe was privy to a great crime.~]I think it is not
quite correct to fay, that the was exaltly an accom-
plice; 1 conceive fhe does not ftand in that light ;
for whatever {he did, or knew refpecting it, was
done under the influence of her hufband, and if
K. Mrs,
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Mrs. Kidmanhad been indited for being concerned
in it, fhe muft have been acquitted, as having aéted

under the authority of her hufband, fo that fhe does
not ftand in the circumitances of an accomplice ;
but at the fame time, | admit, that as fhe comes
here to {tate her knowledge of thefe tranfaétions, and
her privity to them ; although fhe js not an accom-
plice, yet it is very proper her evidence fhould be
fully and deliberately weighed by you, and corrobo-
rated as far as poffibly by other evidence.—If it
ftood upon her evidence alone, it will be for you to
confider the manner in which fhe gives her tefti-
mony, and whether, without any other evidence, you
can beliieve her; but I fubmit, in point of law, if
you thought (he fpoke the truth, it would be fuffi-
cient, and you would be juftified in finding upon
her evidence alone, that Cohen is guilty ; but I thall
add to that evidence, of the conduct of Cohen him-
felf.—I fhall prove a very long intercourle carried
on between him and Kidman, and that at the time
Kidman was apprehended, Cohen was not in Cam-
bridge, but returned in a day or two after; when it
was the univerfal fubjedt of converfation, Cohen
arrived at Cambridge, and of courfe was prefent at
various converfations refpedting Kidman’s trani-
actions, where he thought it neceffary to diiclaim
all knowledge of him ; we fhall prove, that upon a
variety of occafions he faid, he never had feen Kid-
man in his life; begged the people would defcribe
his perfon and drefs, and tell him where he lived,
that he might judge whether it was poflible he could
have feen his perfon; and after all he could not re-
colle& him.—Now, Gentlemen, Why did he do
that, if he had no concern with Kidmanj; if be
knew no more about the matter than you, or 1did;
what reafon was there Cohen fhould be fo anxious
todeny all knowledge of his perfon 7—None, except

he knew he was a party concerned ; and that its
being
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being known he was acquainted with Kidman might
create {ufpicions, and therefore he was anxious to
deny that he had any acquaintence with him ;—that,
I think, if any confirmation is neceflary to fupport
Mrs. Kidman’s evidence, will be fufficient.

(GGentl lemen, 1 will not detain you by going more
at large into the circumitances of the cafe ; 3 will
be neae"iar) {hortly to prove the robbery in Caius col-
lege ; andthat thefe articles were ftolen, and received
by Cohen, he knowing them to have been ftolen.
I (hall call evidence to fhew the intimacy between
him and Kidman; and then you will hear Mrs.
Kidman, who will give you an account of the facts
as I have ftated; and it will be for you, upon the
whole to fay, conﬁdermtr the manner in which fhe
gives her evidence, toﬂether with the confirmations
the will receive, wh ether Cohen is guilty, or not.

Gentlemen, There is one circumitance which
probably will be infifted upon ; namely, that Cchen
had an opportunity of running away, becaufe he was
for fome time at large, after Kidman was taken.—
It is true, he did not; he went about the country as
ufual, and I am not inftrudted to fay, that he cona
cealed himlclf.—It is true alfo {and much ftrefls was
Jaid on it, upon the former trial), that when he was
taken up in the Ifle of Ely, he permitted his box to
be fearched without hcﬁtatwn,—ltw true, he did
fo, which may be taken as evidence of conicious
4nnocence ; but you will recollect, that at the time
he was taken, his box contained nothing of this
plate, which the prifoner was aware cf; fo that it
was no great mark of innocence in giving up a box,
which he knew contained no evidence againft him.
You will hear all the circumftances, and I have no
doubt, give fuch a verdiét as will do juftice to the
prifoner, and at the fame time juftice to the publick,

——

K 2 (T he
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( The conviciion of Richard Kidman read, )
Mrs. Elizabeth Wiljon, Sworn.,

Mr. Wilfon. @, I believe you live at Caius col-
lege r—4. 1 do.

2. And had the charge of the plate there i —4.
My hufband has,

9. Is he butler ?—4. Yes. |
Q. Was it you that locked up the plate on the

evening of the 13th of Oétober laft '—4. No, it was
our fervant.

9. Is he here?—4. Yes.
L. Did you fee the plate before it was locked up?
A. 1 {faw part of it,

Yf& In the clofet where it is ufually kept!—/4.
es.

2. Can you mention any part of it }=—4. There
were cups, tankards, waiters, pint mugs, filyet
fpoons, and a great many other things.,

Q. Did you fee the things that were afterwards
found at Kidman’s houfe {— /4. Yes.

Q. Were any of thofe things there? —4. Yes.

9. Mention them particularly ?—4. There was
two dozen and four tea {poons, and a pint mug,

Q. Had you feen them in the evening }—4. Yes.

Q. What is the name of your fervant?—/4, John

Fabb.
Jobhn Fabb, Sworn,

Mr. Wilfon. ©. Was you at the locking up of
the buttery at Caius college, the night of the 13th
of Oftober?— 4. Yes. |

9O, What time !— 4. About 10 o’clock.

9. Did you obferve the plate that was there ! —
A, Yes.

9. Did you fee the plate afterwards, that was
found at Kidman’s /—A4.> Yes, fince it has been
found. |

&. Do you remember any particular thing you
found there, that you can {peak to, as having been

locked

e
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locked up in the buttery on the 13th of Offober —
A. Yes; two dozen and four tea f{poons, fome
marked with a pelican, and fome C G C.

2. A pint mug has been mentioned !—4, Yes;
but 1 don’t recollelt the mark of that.
D. You locked it upf—4. My malter locked

th?ﬁuttery door, and pufhed it with the key after

he locked it.
. Did you fee the buttery in the morning ! —
A, Yes, about 8 o’clock.
. Was you the firft perfon that went therer—
A, Yes.
Q. What ftate did you find it in?—4, The door

was ajar, the buttery door open, and a great quan-
tity of plate gone.

9. Do you recolleét the circumftance of a candle
being leftf—/4. Yes, in a filver candleftick.

. Did you leave it in the outer part of the
buttcrv r—A4, Yes.

2, ‘Was it in a filver candleftick, or a brafs can-
dleﬁlck when you left it 1—4, In a brafs candle-
ﬁlck in the outer part of the buttery.

Where did you find it in the morning ! —/4,
It lald clofe againft the bread binn in the buttery, and
there was no candle in it.

2. You left a candle 1n a brafs candleftick ?—
A Yes,

9. Was 1t a long candle, or a fhort bit ?—4,
About halt a candle.

2. Where did you find it in the morning ?—4, I
found no candle in the morning in the brafs candle-
flick; I found fome tallow in a filver candleftick.

. Where was thati{—_4. In the clofet.

Q Had there been any candle in the filver can-
dleitick the night before f—4. No.

2. The candle was fo entirely burnt out, there
was nothing found but the {nuff {4, Nothmg but

the {nuff,
K 3 R; Of
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9. Of courle you told what a difcovery you had
made, and people came ?—4. I made an alarm.
Crofs Examination.
Mr. Alley. 9. You have told us you found the
candle in the morning not as vou left 1t?—/4. Burnt
out.

2. It was about 8 o’clock when you went there?
—A. Yes.

- . This was the month of Offober ?Y— 4. Yes.

&. I underftand this buttery is {o dark you can-
not {ee in it without a candle —4. No.

Q. Thercfore, it would be neceflary to have a
candle in day time, as well as nighti—4. Yes, I
{uppofe it would.

Mr. Wilfon. . (To Myrs. Wilfan.) You was told
in the morning by Fabb, that the door was open ;
did you go to look atitf—_4, He {ent a perfon to
-us, and we went—he had {hut himfelf iny and would
not let any body in till we came ; we found a great
part of the plate was gone.

9. Were the mug and fpoons gone }=—4. Yes,
they were.

(The Rev. Dr, Belward called. )

Mr. Alley. My Lord, 1 remember it was proved
on the former trial, that ‘this plate was found in
-Kidman’s houfe ; and as I have no with to give the
court, or the Gentlemen of the Univerfity, any un-
neceflary trouble, [ will admit it,

Mr., Wilfen. 'Then we will now call Sarah Kid-
man.

Sarab Kidman, Sworn.

Mr. Alley. Although it is not perfeétly regular, I
wifh to put a queftion or two to the witnefs.

You are the wife of the unfortunate man
who has received fentence of death 2—4, Yes.

9. Were you not employed to perfuade him to

-confefs he was guilty f—4, Yes.
2. Was
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9. Was it not in confequence of your perfuafion,
and that alone, that he pleaded guilty—_4, Yes, it
was.

2. Was not that in confequence of your being
authorifed 7—4, Yes.

Mr. Wiifon. 1f you are going into a long hiftory,
as to what fhe faid to her hufband, I object to it.
(Here Mr. Alley made an objeciion to the competency of

Mrs. Kidman as on the former trial, which was

over-ruled. ) |

Mr. Wilfon. Q. (o Sarah Kidman.) Do you
know Cohen, the prifoner at the bar *— 4, Yes.

2, How long have you known him?—_4. I don’t
know. *

2. Have you known him many years !—/4. Not
many years. *

Q. Two or three years ?— 4. Yes.

2. Was he acquainted with your hufband ? — /.
He was acquainted with him.

2. Did he ever come to your houfe?— 4. Yes.

Q. Frequently?—4. Yes.

L. For two or three years paft !— /4. He fome-
times ufed to come.

2. They were very well acquainted together  —
A. 'T'hey were acquainted together.

2. He came to your houfe often i—A4, Yes.

2. Do you remember his coming ta your houfe
about the month of Olfsber laft le=—4, 1 don’t know
what particular month,

2. Did he come to your houfe in harveft laft ?—
You bhave been acquainted with himm for feveral
years.—1 afk you whether he came to your houfe in
~the courfe of the laft fummer, or the laft autumn ?—
A. He has come.

2. Do you recollect feeing him in the month of
Ociober laft?! — A. 1 cannot fay particularly the

mﬂnthl -
9. You
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9. You remember the time when the plate-was
taken from Caius collegei—4. 1 cannot fay the
time.

9. You heard it was donef—4, I heard it was
token away,

. Had Cohen been at your houfe with your
hu{band before that time 1—4. He might have been
with him, but 1 cannot fay.

2. 1 afk you, had he, or not 7—4. He had called

upon him,

Q. Do you recolle&t any converfation between
your hufband and Cohen, previous to the time the
plate was taken from Caius college 7—4, 1 cannot
fay. :
©. When you was prefent t—4., When he was

- .
prelent ; 1 cannot underftand one word in ten what

he faid.

O, Did you hear any converfation between
Cohen and your hufband about Caius college 7 — 4.
"‘T'heir converfations was all tc themfelves, and their
dealings were all to themfelves; 1 know no more
than what 1 have been told.

. You never heard any thing between them? —
A. othmg, but what I have been told 3 and I can-
not recollect the particular words that 1 have been
told. -

9. I only with to caution you, that you are upon
your oath?—/4, I know it; but I did not know it
the laft time,

I oniy caution you, that what you fay is taken
down, and that you are upon your oath, and are
bound to ipeak the truth, the whole truth without
any favor to any body, and to keep no part back ?—
A. 1 know 1 am upon my oath, the laft time 1 did
not know that I was; I was not fenfible, I know
my hufband was promifed the King’s pardon the
firit of all.

2. Is
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9, Is it true, that your hufband after he had
melted the plate, brought from Caius college, carried
it to Cohen’s houfe f— 4. I cannot fay.

.‘:"%: Did any body pay your hufband for it f—4,
I did not fee any money paid.

Mr. Baron Hotham. £, Did any body pay your
hufband for the plate ! — 4. I did not fee any body
pay it.

Mr. Wilfon. Q. There were fome bank notes
found in your hufband’s houle, at the time he was
apprehended /—/4, I delivered fome up.

5‘. What were the bank notes you delivered up?
— 4. I cannot tell you what they were now.

Q. As near as you can!—4, I believe there was

1004,. in the whole.

9. They were in your cuftody, were they ?—4.
‘They were when I delivered them up.

Q. Who did thofe notes come from—how did
{cur hufband come by them !— 4. I don’t know;

was not a witnefs to it, I cannot {fwear who he
took them of.

2. You did not fee them declivered by the pri-
foner f—/, 1 did not; though I was mifled to fay,
I did fee them.

2. Then you mean to fay, that you never faw
any body deliver this 1c0£. to your hufband !—A4.
1 was no witnefs to it; I know no more than I
have been told,

2. You did not fee them paid by any body to
your hufband ’—/. 1 did not.

Q. Have you ever had any converfation with
Mr. Cohen on that fubjeé&t?—4. No; I had no
com]'erfation with Mr., Cohen about that bufinefs
at all,

2. Were you ever examined before Mr., Forlow,
the mayor, about this bufinefs '—_/4, 1 don’t know

who I have been examined before, or what I have

faid, or done,
9, Then
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L. Then you don’t know who you was examined
before f—4, I don’t know; I know I was never an

eye witnefs to their dealings, and know nothing

about it.

L. Do you know whether that is your hand

wriung ! (fhewing a paper to the witnefs)—_, That
is my hand, I fuppole, but how I came to write it,
I don’t know.

L. Then you don’t know any thing about this
paper f—4. I don’t know how 1 came to fiun it.

2. Then you mean to perfift in faying, that you
never heard any converfation between your hufband
and Cohen refpecting Caius college at allF—4. Not
to my knowledge., -

L. And that you don’t know who paid your
hufband for the plate?— 4. I don’t know, I was not
an eye witnefs to it.

2. Then itis not true, that you faw 50/. paid
in gold by any body to your hufband P~—/4. I don’t
know; 1 never faw any money, only what my hul(-
band has faid. -

Q. Neither money or notes? — 4. Neither money
or notes,

2. Then it was not true, you faw go/f, paid in
gold P— 4. It is not true. o

Q. Or 50f. in notes I— 4. I never was witnefs
to any.

& Itis nottrue, that you faw 100/. paidin 10/,
notes, of 1c/. eachf—_/4, 1 never was prefent at
any part; 1 never faw any part neither firft or laft;
what | have {aid or done, I don’t know.

Q. Did Cohen, the prifoner, or any body elfe,
take away any of this plate, or the remainder of it?
—A. 1 never faw any taken away,

Q. Neither by Cchen, or any bedy elfe ?—4.
Neither by Colien, or any body elfe.

2. Of courfe it was\not carried away in a piece
of leather ?~—_4. 1 did not fee it carried away at all.

2. 1s
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9. Is it true, that you have {aid you did not fee
this payment of one 50/. in gold, and another pay-
ment of 100/,. in bank notes ;—did you fee a third
pavment madef—4. No.

2 Not by any body ?— .4, No,

Q. Then the whole is entirely falfe P —4. It is
as far as [ know.

Q. You are {peaking now on your cath?—/4, I
know what I am faying now, I did not know ba-
fore. |

2. You now fay, you did not fee any body pay
your hufband, neither Cohen, or any body?—4.
No, I was no eye witnefs,

2. And you never heard Cohen fay any thing on
the fubject at ali’—4. I never heard any coaverfa-
tion about it, '

Mr. #Wiifon. Then, myv Lord, I cannot trouble
you any further on this cafe; but there is another
part of juftice, that muft be fatisfied.—I will pur in
this examination, and confent to the prifoners ac-
quittal ; but as againft this woman, [ thall move,
that (he be committed for perjury.

Mr. Baron Hotham. Gentlemen of the jury.—I
am extremely concerned from the evidence that is
given, that the counlel Is under the necelfity of
giving up a profecution of this fort ; for unjueftion-
ably after what had pailed, he was well authorized
to fuppofe the fame would pafs now as before ; there-
fore there 1s no wonder the prolecution has been
inftituted.— At prefent, it is a lamentable thing to
{ay, that you are bound, in defiance of all juftice, to

acquit this man, from the conduct of that woman
but it 1s my duty to tell you, there is no evidence
againft him at prefent; and therefore, you muft

acquit him.—NOT GUILTY.

Mr. #ilfon., My Lord, I beg to put a queftion to
r. Forlow, on which I fhall ground my motion.
Mr.
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Mctr. Forlow, Sworn.
Mr. Wilfon. Q. Did you take that examination
of Mrs. Kidman? (fthewing a paper)— 4. [ did.
Q. She fwore that before you, did fhe?—/4. Yes.

2. 1 prefume it was read over to her before fhe
fwore and figned it ?—A4. Yes,

Sarah Kidman. Begging your pardon, I was {worn
before that was taken.

Mr. ilfon. Upon this examination it appears
perfeltly clear, that the has in one cafe or the other
committed perjury; my motion to yvour Lordfhip
1s, that {he be now committed for perjury, and we
undertake to profecute her.

Mr. Baron Hotham. Let her ftand committed for
perjury.

(Sarah Kidman was then taken into cuflody. )

Mr. Baron Hotham. (To Cshen.) 1 wifh to fay a
word or two to you, before you go.—We are, as
you know, only an earthly tribunal, and can only
be guided by the evidence which is brought before
us ; upon the evidence that has been now adduced,
the jury have, as they ought to do, thought fit to
acquit you,and you now {tand acquitted of this charge;
whether you are guilty of it or not, is between God
and your own confcience; and I have only to re-
mind you, that though you are acquitted here to
day, another day will come when you muft ftand
before another judge, and that judge cannot be im-
pofed upon by any art or concealment of your’s,—
1f you fhould be found guilty by him, you have
added to your guilty, by not only having been the
means of the execution of one fellow {fubjeét, the
conviction of a fecond, but probably of the tran{-
portation of a third; that is the fituation in which
you will ftand before him; therefore 1 moft earneftly
recommend it to you, to think well of your {ituation,_
and though we muft fuppofe you innocent, in point
of law, yet you will recollect, that you have a very
deep and folemn account to make up with him,

A
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SIHHORT NARRATIVE

OF THE

LIFE OF RICHARD KIDMAN, &ec.

Who were concerned in the Robberies, lately
committed in the feveral Colleges in Cam-
bridge.

ICHARD KIDMAN, the principal fubjet of

this fhort narrative, was one of the moft art-
ful and fuccefsful plunderers, for the time he flou-
rithed, that ever infefted fociety. He appears to be
about 45 years of age, and was born at Water=
beach, 2 village in this neighbourhood. At a
proper time his parents, who were labouring people,
bound him apprentice to a gardener, in Cambridge ;
where he foon diftinguithed himfelf by a number of
irregularities, and by his attachment to the bar-
barous fport of cock-fighting. Having robbed his
mafter’s garden, he was committed to bridewell;
but as it was his firlt publick offence, his mafter
generoufly forgave him, and received him again
into his fervice. This act of generofity he repzid
by robbing his mafter again, and feveral of the

neighbours, particularly of fome game fowls. For
L this
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this latter offence he was committed to the caltle,
tried at the feflions, and punifhed by being publickly
whipped in the market place. As foon as he was
at liberty, he bound himfelf to a fhoe-maker for
three years, and has worked in that capacity for
feveral of the trade in Cambridge. Having from
fome caufe taken a diflike to this pyofeffion, he ap-
plied him(elf to the bufinefs of a plumber and glazier;
Le had the good, or bad fortune to meet with a
mafter in this line, who was more celebrated for
mgenuity in his bufinefs, than integrity in his con-
duct; his mafter was not long in difcerning the
talents of his pupil, and frequently ufed to fay of
him, that there were but two clever fellows in Gam-
bridge, and bis man Dick Kidman was one of them. At
his death, he bequeathed to his favourite fcholar a
fet of tools, and various other mechanical inftru-
ments and contrivances.

With this ftock in trade Richard Kidman now
began to fer up for himfelf. « His talents and inge-
nuity led him at firft to make and clean wooden
clocks for the country people, in which employment
he acquired confiderable reputation j but his unfteady
difpofition fhll led him to other purfuits of a different
tendency ; he was very fond of bird catching, and
ufed to pafs whole nights in that employment in the
fields behind the colleges; and by his mechanical
ikill, in contriving lures and traps to entice the birds,
was very fuccefsful; 1t is not improbable, that the
ftillnefs and filence of thefe occafions, might infpire
him with the firft 1dea of robbing the colleges then
under his view, During this period, he fill con-
tinued to work at his profeflion, of plumber and
glazier, as employment prefented itfelf, and by this
means made himfelf perfetly acquainted with the
interior fituations of the butteries, and private apart-
ments of many colleges, where his bufinefs had
carried him, It happened, that as Kidman was

employed
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emploved in the courfe of his trade to clean the win«
dows of a private room, in King’s college, Grim-
fhaw at the fame time was occupied in {weeping the
chimnies; they foon fell into dilcourfe; and Kidman
obferved, bow eafy it would be to rob colleges in the fum-
mer, when the gentlemen are gone down 1nto the country.
Grimihaw, who has fince paid the forfeit of his
crimes, was 2 man who under the mafk of religion,
attempted to conceal ftrong paffions and profligate
manners; he was much addicted to the fociety of
women, which involved him in expences far above
what the honeft earnings of his trade could fatisfy,.
It will therefore eafily be fuppofed, that he felt the
full force of Kidman’s remarks; an intimacy grew
up between them from this incident; they ufed to
take frequent walks together, during which they
planned that unexampled feries of robberies, which
for near four years baffled all the vigilance of the
police, infufed diftruft into families, deftroyed the
confidence in fervants of unfhaken, and till then, of
unfufpelted fidelity ; and kept a populous town in a
continual ftate of amazement and alarm.

The hrit robbery that was committed by thefe
confederates, took place in the month of Augu/,
1796, at the treafury of King’s college. It had
been ufual with the Provoft, upon his quitting col-
lege for the fummer, to fend his plate to this place
for fecurity till his return. The two confederates
repaired to the door in the night, and by means of
a piece of wood, covered with tinfoil in the fhape of
a key, were enabled to take an impreffion of the
wards of the lock ; this ferved as a mode] to Kid-
man, who after fome trials, fucceeded in making a
key from it, to fit the lock, which put them in pof-
{eflion of their booty; after fecuring which, they
locked the door again, nor was the robberydifcovered
till the Provoft’s return to college, and of courfe
{ending to remove the plate. A reward of one hun-
L 2 dred
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dred guineas was offered by the fociety, for the dif-
covery of the robbers, but without effect.

The two plunderers remained for fome time
fatished with this booty.. At length, in the month
of September, 1798, the butteries of Catharine hall
were robbed, but this was done by Grimfhaw alone;
he entered by means of falfe keys, the number of
which, i1t may be ealily fuppofed, the two villains had
loft no opportunity of increafing fince their fuccefs
at King’s college, and efcaped with his booty with=
out noife or fufpicion. The fame fummer he fwept
off all the plate, belonging to the rooms of a fellow
of Trinity college, which was never mified till the
(Fentleman’s return., During this period, Kidman
did not remain 1dle; he was meditating the great
robbery of I rinity college, one of the moft daring
and fuccefsful of his exploits, After having, by re-
peated trials, adapted keys to the locks of the great
tron gates next to the walks, the wicket of the
cloifters, and the buttery door ; he admitted himf{elf
by thefe mess, on the night of the 2gth of Septer-
ber, 1798, a night remarkable alfo for a violent
ftorm of wind. He brought a five buthel fack with
him, into which he packed his booty ; and although

he muft have {taggered under the weight of it, yet
he was able to reach his houfe, in Bell Lane, un-
affifted, and without exciting any alarm. A rob-
bery of this magnitude, of courfe occafioned a
prodigicus noife 1o the town the next morning ; as
foon as it was difcovered, an exvrefs was fent off
to the magiitrates at Bow-f{treet, to acquaint them
with the particulars; the turnpikes near London
were befet that evening by a party of their runners,”
in order to ftop all carts of a fufpicious appearance;
another party was fent down to Cambridge, to aflift
in the fearch, and to inveftigate the manner in which
the robbery had been accomplithed. In the midit
of a very adtive inquiry, Kidman did not efcape
withous
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without fufpicion ; his fudden wealth, his late hours,
the lights that were feen in his houfe at unfeafonable
tiines, had unavoidably drawn the attention of his
neighbours; it was fuggefted, that his houfe ought
to be fearched ; in confequence of which, a conftable
attended by fome other perfons, went there, and were
admitted by Kidman himfelf, and even without the
authority of a warrant, to make whatever fearch
they thought proper on his premifes. Their fearch
was however fruitle®, fo artfully had he concealed
the plate, that it efcaped their obfervation; and the
number of tools of all forts, crucibles, and mechani-
cal contrivances, which they found in his houfe, {feem
rather to have raifed their curiofity, than fufpicion ;
for he was confidered as an ingenious man, who
lived by clock making, and under theidea that thefe
implements were ufeful to him in his profeflion,
feemed to be fatisfied. T'he booty was however
within their reach at the time of the fearch; andd
Kidman has fince declared, that it was with the
utmoft alarm he {faw the publifher of this narrative,
reft his hand upon the very wall in his cellar he had
lately bricked up, and behind which 1t was hid, in
a forfaken and dry well pit, of which there were no

appearances above grcund. |
All endeavours ufed by the malfter and fellows of
Trinity college, in which neither expence nor pains
were fpared, failed, and our heroes did not feem in
the leaft intimidated, but {till continued their {yftem
of depredations, In the courfe of that winter,
Grimfh:w went by himfelf to Emmanuel lodge, as
Kidman did not like to enter a private houfe, and
took from thence all the plate that he poflibly
could get at, without the leaft {ufpicion, and got it
fafe to his houfe. In the fucceeding fpring, they
robbed the combination roem at Caius college;
the butteries at Chriit college; and attempted the
butteries of Emmanuel, where fome fudden alarm
L 3 obliged
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obliged them to decamp without their booty; in
the other inftances, however, their ufual fuccefs
attended them, and they efcaped without deteclion.
‘The fummer of 1799, Grimfthaw plundered three
private rooms in Trinity college, the chimnies of
which he was employed to fweep, and carried off
his prizes in the foot bag. The plate of thefe
rooms was all locked up in one cafe, (fo far did
be carry his hypocrify,) at his own fuggeftion to
the bed-maker; but he had previoufly fecured keys
to the clofets, freom which he was fenfible he could
take it at his leifure, and with the lefs fufpicion.
In the midit of thefe petty pilferings (as they may
be called), in comparifon of their great exploits.—
Kidman and Grimthaw had engaged in an enterprize
which required all their courage, and all their fkill
to achieve; this was no lefs than the robbery of
King’s college chapel, and the feries of rocms in-
cluded 1p 1t; one of them contained a moft valuable
coiieclicn of mccals, both gold and filver. Grim-
{haw had, early in the fpring, fecured 2 key of the
outer door cf the chapel, by which the two confe-
derates admitted themfelves for feveral nights, awd
werked without intersuption, on the different locks
that ftood between them and their projeéled booty ;
many cf thefe locks being very antique, and of an
» ufual conftiuction, put Kidman's ingenuity feveral
times to the rack; in about a week’s time they
had maftered all the locks but one, and this laft
gave them fo much trouble, that Grimfhaw in
defpair, relinquifhed his part of the underraking,
alledging to his comrade ¢ that the place looked fo
aweful, that he trembled every time as if he bad the
ague ;”” the panic was communicated, Kidman and
Grimfhaw both defifted from their attempts, with
an intention to renew them no more; however,
Kidman did not give up the enterprize when fo

near its completion; but went without the afliftance
- of
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of Grimfhaw, whom he termed, a cow-hearted fel-
low.  With this encouragement Kidman went to
work again, and by great perfeverance, conquered
every lock; and faw himfelf at laft in pofleffion of
what he had {o long and fo anxioufly laboured for ;
but at this moment he was again feized with a fit of
religious awe, and felt the panic fo ftrong, that he
went away leaving his booty untouched. Somerime
after, his panic having fubfided, he returned to the
chapel, and brought away the medals, fome in the
box they were kept in, and fome in bhis pockets.
The fociety offered a reward of five hundred guineas,
to be paid on convition of the robbers; but it was
attended with no better fuccels than offers of the
fame kind 1n the preceding robberies. - But the rext
robbery which thefe villains engaged in, and which
was fortunately doomed to -be the laft they concerted
in common, far exceeded all the former ones, Loth

in refpect of the magnitude of the booty, and the
fkill and perfeverance which it required to its ac-

comphthment; it was indeed a mafter piece of
villany, in which our hero, Kidman, difplayed talents,
which if honeftly exerted, might have raifed him 1o
an honourable diftin¢lion in fociety.  Sirce the
former robberies at Caius college as related above,
the mafter and fellows of that fociety, as a fecurity
againft any future attempt, had caufed a clofet to be
conftruted within their butteries, furnithed with
an iron door, and further guarded by fuch other
precautions as were deemed meft adapted 10 1ender
it a place of {ufficient fecurity, for the depofit of
their plate in future, It formed as it were, one
chelt within another; for befides the iron, there was
ftill another door, by which it communicated with
the butteries ; the buttery door had alio’ a fpring-
bell attached to it notwithftanding all thefe obfta-
cles, our two confederates had the courage to attempt
to furmount them 2all,  One indeed failed in the

attempt,
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attempt, partlv owing to his own want of refolution,
and partly to the contrivance of his accomplices,
who did not think him worthy to be trufted, as
appears from the trial; the other by dint of long
perleverance, was attended with ufual good fortunc.
T'he means they ufed to ger accefs within the walls
of the collece were thefe: Grimthaw fecreted him-
felf one nmht 1n the college, and unfcrewed the lock
of one of the oates towards Trinity hall; Kidman,
who was waiting without, took it home with bim,
and in lefs than an hour made a key to fit it; after
which, they replaced the lock the fame night in its
original fituation : they could now admit themfelves
without ceremony, but there ftill remained three
doors to mafler before they could gain poffeffion of
their prize ; thefe three doors prefented difficulties,
which many times appeared infurmountable to them.
It will be ncedlels to mention all the particular
obitacles which occurred 1n the courfe of their
attempts, to mafter the locks of thefe doors, or the
experiments which Kidman’s genius fupplied him
with to overcome them; it will be fufficient to fay,
that fix wecks of pretty conftant labour in the mghL,
elapfed from the firft unfcrewing the lock of the gate,
to the time when Kidman feafted his eyes with the
contemplation of his booty; the night he removed
it, he went twice with his fack, and was going a
third time, but the morning which was breaking
faft, forced him to relinquith the remainder with
regcret.  Bur the career of thefe robbers was now
drawmg faft to a clofe. = Kidman’s increafing
wealth, difplayed in the purchafe of fome land, had
again excitcd, and confirmed the former fufpicions,
relative to his means of acquiring it; indeed, the
public opinion at laft kept no referve in pronouncing
him to be the plare flealer. It was ealily forefeen,
that the next robbery of the kind would produce an
explofion, that would clear up the myftery that had
hung
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hung fo long over thefe flagitious tranfactions, It
accorcingly happened, in a fhort time after, upon
the robbery of a private houfe, DBoth the parties,
Kidman and Grimfhaw, were apprehended, and
their houfes fearched; when partly from circum-
ftances, and parily from their own confeflion, the
plot was unravelled, and the particulars made known;
from which the publither has been able to compile

the foregoing nasrative,

Town of Cam-+y The voluntary Examination and Con-

bridge, in the( fefion of Richard Kidman, of the

County.of Cam- ( Parifh of St. Giles, in the faid Town

bridge, to wit.’ of Cambridge ; taken upon Oath, be-
fore John Forlow, Eiq; Mayor of
the faid Town, on Thurf{day the 1gth
Day of February, in the Year of our
Lord, 1801.

¢ WHO upon his faid oath, faith, That the firft
robbery this examinant was concerned in, was at
the treaflury belonging to King’s college, in the
Univerfity of Czambridge ; and which, to the belt of
his recollection, was about four or five years ago,
and was in company with William Grimfhaw, a
chimney {weeper ; irom which treafury, they took
two facks full of plate, one of them carrying each
to this examinant’s houfe, which was depofited 1n
his cellar, and remained there abour three weeks,
or 2 month; when this examinant and Grimthaw
cut with a pair of thears (which this examinant had
bought in Liondon), the thin pants of the {a1d plate,
which they converted into fhilliags and fixpences ;

and then he, and Grimfhaw divided the fame as fo
cut;
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cut; and the remainder being the rims, and thicker
parts, they replaced in the cellar, where it remained
near three quarters of a year. But this examinant
fays, they could not get rid of very few of fuch
fixpences and fhillings 3 therefore, on confulting
together, this examinant propofed to caft them in
{and, which he did; fome in half crown pieces,
fome in crowns, and fome in fhillings ; but not an-
{wering his wifhes, he never uttered the fame, but
laid them by in his houfe for about half a vyear.
‘T'hat about this time, Grimfhaw came to this ex-
aminant, and faid, he had got a chap for his ftuff,
meaning the filver; and if he, this examinant chofe
it, he would alfo take his (that this propofal was
made, after they had melted down the thick part of
the {aid plate, which had been placed in the cellar,
and divided between them).—This examinant faid,
he fhould be glad of a purchafer, and gave Grim-
{haw a piece of the faid plate, of about two pounds
and an half weight; faying, he would not take lefs
than §s. per ounce; and have the money down,
otherwife not to leave it. On the next evening,
Grim{lhaw came again with the faid piece, and in-
formed this examinant, the man would not have any
thing to do with it at that price ;=—that about a
week after, Grimfhaw came again to this examinant,
and faid, if you will come to my houfe about fix
o’clock this evening, the man who bought the ftuff
of my man, will buy your’s; whereupon this ex-
aminant went at the time, and in about half an
hour, a perfon came in (who Grimfhaw afterwards
told this examinent was Cohen), they then went
into a room, where Cohen afked this examinant,
¢ If he had any {ilver the fame as Grimfhaw ;’ he
faid, ¢ Yes;’ the faid Cohen afked this examinant,
¢ What he would have for it,” to which he anfwered,
¢ The fame as Grimfhaw ;> Cohen faid, he would
take 1t, and came the next evening to this exami-

| nant’s
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nant’s houfe, and took the fame away (having fir(t
each of them weighed it, and it amounting to about
14lb. at 16 ounces to the pound), and paid him at
the rate of 44s5. per pound.

“ T"his examinant further faith, That after the {aid
tranfaction, the faid Cohen frequently came to this
examinant’s houfe, toknow if he had any more plate
to fell ; and afked whether he fhould not foon get
fome more, and when ; that he was going to London,

and wifhed to take fome, and many obfervations to
the fame effelt.

““ T'hat Grimfhaw’s money being all gone, he came
to this examinant, and propofed to rob Trinity
college butteries ; and in order to accomplifh it, the
faid Grimfhaw obtained the impreffion, or model of
the works of the key, belonging to the door at the
bottom of the cloifters; and by which model, this
examinant made a key, which unlocked the fame.
That at this time, Cohen came repeatedly to this
examinant, and finding he had procured the means
of entry, advifed this examinant not to permit
Grimfhaw to go with him, to which he confented ;
but at the {ame time, was apprehenfive Grimfthaw
might difcover.—Cohen informed this examinant,
that he would prevent Grimfhaw’s going, as he
would diffuade him from it; which he according
did, and this examinant robbed the faid butteries by
himfelf.—That in order to get into the faid butteries,
this examinant went three times with a parcel of
old keys; and at laft, one of them unlocked the
buttery door ; but after entering and feeing the plate,
he retreated without taking any.

“’I'battwo or threedays after, the faid Cohen came
again to this examinant’s houfe, to know if he got
any thing for him, to which he anf{wered, no—that
he had been and feen the plate, but was fearful of
being difcovered by Grimfhaw; therefore, took
nothing ;—but faid Cohen, urging this examinant

two
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two or three times to go, and faying he would
take care that Grimfthaw fhould know nothing of
it ; he at laft weat again to the faid butteries, where
he took all the plate he could fee ; and wrapping it
up 10 fome tabﬁle cloths, which lay in the butteries,
he put :t into a fack, and brought the lame away,
through the cloifters, and the high walk into the
fields ; and depofited the fame in his houfe, in the
infide of his well, where the fame laid about a
month.—That during the time it laid in the well,
the houfe was fearched by Mr. Wheeler, the high
conftable, who did not difcover it; —that faid
Cchen called feveral times, and hearing from this
examinant, that fearch had been made, advifed him
to melt it immediately, and he would take it away
as faft as he could.—Whereupon this examinant
directly melted it, and Cohen came and fetched it
away, at about 20lb. weight at a time, and paid for
it 2s he took it ; firft weighing it by his own weights,
and giving 50s. per lb.; and that faid Cohen
came about four times. And this examinant faith,
that the faid Cohen obferved to him at {everal dif-
ferent times, he could find money enough to pay, if

it was a hundrea pounds a week.
¢¢ That after this robbery, the faid Grimfhaw

accufed this examinant of doing it ; which he denied,
and referred him to faid Cohen, who upon being
afked by Grimfhaw, confirmed what this examinant
had faid.

« This examinant further faith, That fome time

after faid robbery at Trinity, he and faid Grim-
fhaw, went one night and robBed Emmanuel

combination room ; where they took a filver tobacco
pot, and wine ftrainer, which they took to Grim-
fhaw’s houfe; that the fame night, they both went
to Caius college combination room ; where they took
fome candlefticks, and other articles, which they alio

took to Grimfhaw’s houfe; that they then, the
fame
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{ame evening, got into the butteries (by means of
a ladder and keys), at Chrift college ; where they
took fome filver pots, and other articles, which they
alfo carried to Grimfhaw’s houfe. And this ex-
aminant f{aith, that faid Cohen was privy to
their intentions of committing faid robberies, and
frequently inquiring when they' thould have any
thing for him. "That faid plate was melted by
faid Grimfhaw, and this examinant, at his houfe ;
and Cohen came and fetched the fame away, paying
this examinant for the whole, who paid Grlmihaw
his fhare thereof.

““’T'hat fome time after, this examinant and Grim=
fhaw, agreed to go and rob King’s college chapel;
the faid Grimfhaw having heard, and told this ex-
aminant there was a large quantity of {ilver therein.
T'hat they went into the f{aid chapel, upwards of a
dozen times, but could find no plate, and gave it
up, this examinant refufing to go any more.—
Grimfhaw came again, but this examinant would
not go ; till Cohen calling on this examinant, and
urging him to go by hlmfelf and get his favorites
(meaning the large candlefticks at the altar) ; this
examinant did at laft go, and got into the library,
where he faw a box, and {hakmg it, thought there
was fomething valuable in it; but did not take it
away, and returned without any thing.—T'hat a few
days after, Cohen came again, and afked if he had
got his favorites; be {aid, No, if he had he would
have known it ; ‘but informed him ({aid Cohen),
he had feen a box, but did not take i1t ; for which,
Cohen rebuked him ; and defired him to go, and
bring the box away as it was; that he accordingly
went alone, and unlocked a box, from which he
took a great many pieces of coins, which he thought
were filver and brought them away in his pockets ;

the other box he brought away locked as it was,
M with
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with its contents.~That on the next day, the faid
Cohen called on this examinant, to fee what the box
contained ; 1n which were feveral pieces of gold and
filver, and defired this examinant to melt the filver
direttly, and he would take the gold as it was; that
he accordingly melted the filver, and on the next
day (to the beft of this examinant’s recolleétion),
the faid Cohen came, and took about 12lb. weight
of filver away, and paid for the fame. That the
cold coins weighed about 21 ounces, which faid
Cohen took away at the fame time, and paid this
examinant for it, and defired him to burn the box.
¢ "I'his examinant further faith, T hat about the
beginning of the laft winter, he, at the defire of the
faid Cohen, went alone to Caius college butteries,
and robded them of a fack and a bag full of filver;
which he brought away at two different times, and
carried to his own houfe, where he depofited it in
the cellar; that about a fortnight after, the faid
Cohen came to this examinant, to know if he had
melted that plate down; to which he anfwered, No.
Whereupon Cohen faid, he was going to lend
Grimthaw a guinea, that he might go and fee his
fon, who was in the Cambridge militia; that if
(rimfhaw went, he (faid Cohen), would not
call on this examinant again, otherwife he would
call ;j—and 1n cafe he did not call, defired this ex-
aminant to melt it direétly, and was then to inform
Cohen of 1t, which he did; and a night or two
after, Cohen called, and defired this examinant to
carry the fame to his houfe, and he would go and
clear the fame, fo that nobody fhould be there.—
‘T'bat he carried 40lb. weight of the faid plate to
Cohen’s houle, where he left it with him, his wife
being ‘prefent.  That about a week after, faid
Cohen called at this examinant’s, and defired him
to take about 5¢lb. more of the faid plate, which he
/ did,
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did, and delivered it to his wife, by whofe diretion
he put it in a cupboard (this being on a Sunday).
"That on the Sunday following he called again, and
ordered this examinant to carry solb. more the next
morning, which he did, and delivered to him.
That in the courfe of the fame week faid Cohen
called on this examinant again, faying, he was going
to London, to hire a houfe; that he might deliver
the remainder of the plate to his wife, who would
{fend it to town after him; upon which this exami-
nant {aid, fhould any body be at your houfe, what
excufe am I to make? whereupon he, the faid
Cohen faid, you muft afk to look at the oven, which
1s to be fold. That in the beginning of the follow-
ing week, he took 24lb. more of the faid filver (re-
ferving about 12lb., becaufe he had not received the
whole of his money). That on his opening the
door of Cohen’s houfe, he faw a man and woman in
his houfe, which man he knew by fight, having
worked with him at Mr. Painter’s the glazier g
whereupon this examinant enquired if the oven was
gone ; fhe faid, No; took a candle and went with
this examinant into the wath-houfe, where he deli-
vered the 241b, of plate ; and told her the muft give
bim fomething to take back, or he dare not leave
1t, as the man in the houfe knew him; upon which
Mrs. Cohen took up a fpit-pan, and wrapping it
firlt in a paper, and then in a piece of dirty leathern
apron (or fome fuch thing); this examinant put the
fame under his arm, and went away.

““ T'hat on Cohen’sreturn from London, he called
on this examinant for the remaining 12lb. which he
took away in his pocket with the leather apron,
brought from his houfe; and paid this examinant
all the money for the faid plate, at the rate agreed
upon as aforefaid.—This examinant faith, that his

M 2 wife
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wife was prefent at moft of the payments that Cohen

made’’,
‘The mark of

+
Ricuarp KipMAN,

This examination and Confeffion was
made, and taken the day and year
firft above written, on oath,

Before me,

Jou~n Forvrow, AMayor.

FINTIS.



